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@ Xiushuihe Processing Plant Near the Xiushuihe Mine Low-grade vanadium-bearing iron concentrates: 800.0 Ktpa®; titanium concentrates: 100.0 Ktpa®
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@ Baicao Processing Plant Near the Baicao Mine Low-grade vanadium-bearing iron concentrates: 700.0 Ktpa®; titanium concentrates: 60.0 Ktpa®
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@ Hallong Processing Plant Near the Cizhuging Mine Low-grade vanadium-bearing iron concentrates: 300.0 Ktpa®
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@ Heigutian Processing Plant Near the Yangqueging Mine Low-grade vanadium-bearing iron concentrates: 800.0 Ktpa®; titanium concentrates: 120.0 Ktpa®
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@ Iron Pelletising Plant Huili County, Sichuan 1,000.0 Ktpa®
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' Under the JORC Code (2012 Edition) 1R i # & Bl R 2 £ B &4 8 (20124 k)

@ Under the JORC Code (2004 Edition) 18 it & FI 4R (% 8 Z B & 1 A (2004412 )

®  Under the Classification for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities (GB/T 17766-1999) #f 1 [ f& i 7= & 7/ & 5 48 (GB/T 17766-1999)

@ Under the wet basis 15 iR E & %

© Under the dry basis 1R i %z & £ %

@ The disposal of the Discontinued Operations was completed on 30 July 2019, and since then the ownership of the relevant mines and plants have been transferred to the purchaser of the Disposal Group
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e We deliver with integrity

* We explore opportunities

e We uphold the essence of
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potential in mining
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Corporate Profile
RATEN

The Company has been listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange since 8 October 2009. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group was principally engaged in mining and ore
processing, sale of self-produced products, trading of coals and steels,
management of strategic investments and providing specialised mining
services. As at 31 December 2019, the Group owned one ordinary iron
ore mine (namely the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine), one gypsum mine
(namely the Shigou Gypsum Mine) and one processing plant (namely
the Maoling Processing Plant). All mines and processing plant are
located in Sichuan, China.

As at 31 December 2019, the total number of Shares of the Company
in issue was 2,249,015,410 Shares and the percentage holding of the
Company'’s subsidiaries was as follows:

G\N China VTM Mining
H E78

RAFEH2009F 10 8 A AR —ER BB FT
FIRET - REE2019F12A31HIEFE - A&
ENETZEHARBERBEALR HEBEE
o BEMR MM BRI EIE - AR
BEMERS -R2019F12A318  ALE#E
—EEBEEE (MEE-FELERE)  —FEAE
B(ANEEBERER) M —EEAER (BB LR
R) o 2 EP iR KRR AR B E)IE -

M2019F12 8318 AR EINEBEITRNOEE A
2,249,015,4100% - AR RIFEFARINETH
DA

100% I 81% l 100% l

100% l 100% l

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd. Mancala Holdings Suré Prima Litvitted Powerside Holdings Limited First China Limited
g EAMERABRA T LRSS BAERAERAT =ZRARDE
100% l 100% l
MHPL Simply Rise Holdings Limited
SFAER SRZRERDA
100% I 100% l 100% l 100% l 100% l
Mancala Pty Mancala Mining Mancala Services Spectrum Resources Mancala Asia
8RR SRR B -FRTRIRES EFHUER BREFA
49% l
MCL Vietnam*
MR E
- Offshore B/ -
- Onshore 75 -
Sichuan Lingyu 130%
7134
51% I WOO%l 100% l
Sichuan Haoyuan Aba Mining Sichuan Xinglian
m)IEE [ £ )| Rt
100% l 100% l
Xinjin Mining Akuang Trading
ok £ P52 5

As Mancala Asia is contractually entitled to appoint a majority of
members in the members’ council of MCL Vietnam and to control the
operations of MCL Vietnam, MCL Vietnam is accounted as a subsidiary of
Mancala Asia.

# HREBE RURRANARZIUEE R
EREGAZUNE AT HEE RunE
B HEEERNARIMEEESRUNT A
Ao
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

Teh Wing Kwan ¥§ Xk &
Chairman £ /&

Dear Shareholders, HRMUREK:
A ROUGH PATCH AR R 2 ERZ B

In 2019, many industries were caught up in a raft of macro uncertainty 20195 EHFESGRIRMATE HHRKE B
and geopolitical challenges, given the risks of re-escalating and relief ¥MZREBTARARZ R EBURE E B HE -
of de-escalating US-China trade tensions. Then in early 2020, we faced BA2020F ¥ EHEHEMRFESZIEELENEE

widespread fears of coronavirus epidemic in China where factories shut, T IMREEE ELTE TRER BETEHR
output drops and demand falls causing a major disruption in supply B - ERBEAREE 2K P BUEIFH £ A
chains. Now, at the time of writing this letter, China has shown a TERBBE TARRNESSRMEN  THRE
remarkable trend of improvement on this epidemic containment given FET HoHEBEITEHS-

its coordinated efforts — workers are now slowly returning to work,
factories progressively resume, and several lockdown areas have since
been lifted.
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While many sectors in China are re-adjusting their production
momentum, preparing to cope with learning curve and working on
logistics backlog once factories re-start, very sadly, the coronavirus
is now spreading globally. In the midst of these global fears (now, a
pandemic), an oil-price war was launched that when most of us are
still having hard time to latch on, this pair of ‘black swans’ converged.
So, global stock markets suffered bruising rout, industrial commodities
price swung wildly, market sentiments weakened, and business
confidence fades out.

OVERVIEW AND BUSINESS RESTRUCTURING
Last year, we guided that there was a major shift in demand which
had drastically fragmented the iron ore industry given the stringent
emission control in China. This had thus weakened demand for the low-
grade iron ore but boosted that for the higher grade. With this in view,
we sold our Low Fe Mines and Inactive Mines (including those under-
utilised assets) for a consideration of RMB550.0 million and offloaded
a total corporate guarantee liability of up to RMB730.0 million with a
view to re-allocating our resources as we restructured our operations
for a hopeful turnaround.

In July 2019, we completed the business disposal that we received
RMB85.0 million in cash and recorded an accounting gain on disposal
of close to RMB153.0 million, but reduced by net operating loss of
RMB77.1 million from our Discontinued Operations. Correspondingly,
our net asset improved following the disposal of these loss-making
subsidiaries. The decision to sell off the Low Fe Mines and Inactive
Mines was timely and saved us from incurring additional operating
losses which could continue to be significant in the midst of such
unfavorable market conditions. On the contrary, our operations for the
High Fe Mines and trading business were profitable for FY2019.

In August 2019, we announced that our mining operations in Aba
Prefecture (Sichuan Province) had temporarily ceased operations for
safety reasons as a result of a series of mudslides and torrential rainfall
in Wenchuan County where the provincial emergency management
bureau initiated several rounds of evacuation. Whilst the rain-triggered
disasters did not result in any material damage to our assets, the
temporary shutdown had disrupted our operations there for about two
months. Hence, in the second half of FY2019, our production output
fell and our profitability lowered. On a positive note, despite this
incident, our High Fe Mines operations remained profitable for FY2019.
Notably, our profit margins for high Fe iron concentrates improved
sharply by more than 5.0 percentage points to approximately 36.5%
and price for high Fe iron concentrates rose by more than 10% on
average for FY2019.

Chairman’s Statement
FTEREE
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

In fourth quarter of 2019, while we planned to ramp up our production
capacity for the profitable high Fe mines and have put in efforts to
evaluate several mining services projects jointly with those larger scale
PRC-based industry players, these ongoing activities were erratically
stalled in early 2020. Many businesses came under unprecedented
pressure to extend shut down as the Chinese government deployed
massive resources to quell the coronavirus epidemic — these coordinated
efforts are understandably crucial even the lockdown in those affected
areas had affected social, commercial and industrial activities. In
response to the negatively affected market sentiment and a significant
short-term uncertainty, we have deferred our major capital expenditure
decisions and postponed evaluation of certain major mining services
jobs.

Given that some of these business plans are delayed and equipment
prices could be falling, it means lower estimated value-in-use and fair
value in accounting terms which thus required management to re-
assess and record assets impairment, having considered the existing
circumstances, unless otherwise justified. We believe we have to be
extremely prudent in accepting what we would accept as fair values
for our assets under these circumstances — i.e. if there are indicators
pointing to possible recovery in asset values, we may have to take
a considerably more reserved view in recognising revaluation gains
whereas if there are specific circumstances reflecting a more subdued
market sentiments, we will take a firm position to record lower book
values. This asset impairment loss offset part of our operating profits
derived from our High Fe Mines and trading business in FY2019.

Given the above, our Group reported a Net Profit of RMB69.2 million
for FY2019, reversing a Net Loss of RMB444.0 million in FY2018. Net
asset rose by RMB47.9 million to RMB941.6 million as at 31 December
2019.

R2019F FMWEE - R EEAFBEIENS
BRI SMER WA DT EEE AR AR
FHFETHZEAREREEER  HUHERET
FR2020F U B ER B IR 12 o fp B BRAT 38 R BBE
RERBLEBRBESEIE FRNZEREHBAL
B EEFEMS BERIEIDABAER
HEAZ Y EME HEEHCEYIMABNG
¥R N - BEHERTEREANEHTHABE
= BRPCHBREHEREARBIARTE EE
FHEETARMERSEE -

BN D XBTEHREREERAETEK B
KERSFEEMS HAERBERAFES
WL BEEEEEBRNREFFHRLEAER
ERE R BREAMERWR - RIBE EZF
BEATRMEENATER ELERNEEH
EWRE -BREEERTEEBEANEDTT
A MR AARRRTHBEEERE GRS R
ERARBRRRTEER BRI RE T
ABREHREE - R20190 BFE - BERMEE
BEAHETSEMUES R EEXBRSH

DI ERE

R ECPTH  AEER20198 B F E 2 ®mAY
WHRAAREI2HEE L HE2018H B FE
MARMBA44.08 & LB FE - MR2019F128
3R BEESFEENMARKEITIBEETEARE
941.6B&ETT°
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CONTINUOUS UPDATES

Amidst the unpredictability of those events (which occurred shortly
after FY2019), we had released several important announcements
to update our shareholders. In early February 2020, we informed
shareholders that our Maoling Mines would remain suspended after
the holidays season given the travel restrictions in the affected areas
for outbreak containment. In early March 2020, we updated that
most of our contractor’s workers were unable to return as scheduled
under the latest guidelines of the regulatory authorities but we have
acted proactively so that we could possibly forestall the prolong effects
of the epidemic on our operations — we have submitted production
resumption plans for relevant approval, implemented several control
measures and are working closely with our supply chain partners. As
of now, we have made necessary arrangements on logistics for delivery
of raw materials and gradual returns of workers. A task force has also
been formed to supervise preparatory works and relevant processes for
our operations resumption.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

| have absolutely no exceptional skill except for a rough guess in this
madly unpredictable environment and we are facing acute uncertainty
at this moment when things will vary in acceleration if amplified by
fears and falling confidence.

We had previously highlighted that the epidemic has adversely affected
the overall market sentiment, caused short-term uncertainty and posed
significant downside risks on the pace of demand recovery given the
travel bans, delayed workforces return, production suspension and
supply chain disruptions. These are bad news and so, things do not
seem to bode well for first quarter of 2020 or potentially, could even
bear upon us beyond this period. Like many other businesses, we are
monitoring the current situations very closely.

Many factories expect to see their overall capacity far from optimal
upon operational over the next few quarters and some could even
be struggling to get their production up to speed. In this context, it
is expedient for us not to think of overzealous plans but to simply
mitigate learning curve effects and stabilise our output once production
resumes — productivity recovery remains our key priority. In doing so,
we have made certain key underlying assumptions, empirically and
theoretically, that this epidemic will only cause a short-term market
slowdown which will not significantly alter the fundamental of the
economic growth in China over a longer term. If this guided framework
works, we hope to recoup a significant part of our production capacity
loss in second half of 2020 but if this theory fails, our financial results
for the financial year ending 31 December 2020 will be adversely
affected.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

That said, the pace of such estimated recovery will depend largely
on the scenarios for and situations of the coronavirus outbreak
containments on which the outcomes are still uncertain. If factories
could resume as planned and scheduled, we will have to monitor
factory productivity very closely and manage potential supply chain
issues from time to time which are expected to arise from raw
materials shortage, manpower re-organisation and logistical hurdles.
Against this backdrop, we are definitely not in the mood of seeking
acquisitional growth as the mining sector gains little traction in meeting
returns expectation which comes with a big valuation gap. From our
perspective, we have limited resources to pursue such opportunistic
swoops for mining assets as well.

At the macro level, we have seen a growing number of downward
adjustments to the global economic forecasts (definitely not those
crude vital statistics) making clear calls for an imminent recession with
renewed jitters. Sure enough, our team has been watchful on the
heightening fears of such risk. As reiterated, we need to strengthen
our execution capabilities, be it in managing our existing operations or
seeking transformational growth initiatives — more so, under the current
stressful state while the global economy is facing headwinds structurally
and cyclically.

Having said that, | have full confidence in our operational team
members, and | believe our pragmatic approach in handling such a
situation would gain us confidence in fixing and bringing things back
on track in preparation for the recovery kicks.

THANK YOU

| must thank our stakeholders, partners, bankers, management, and
staffs. | look forward to speaking with you at the upcoming 2020 AGM.

Teh Wing Kwan

Chairman

Email: wkteh.cvt@gmail.com or
wkteh@chinavtmmining.com

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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MARKET REVIEW
During the Reporting Period, the Group observed the following
industrial development and market statistics:

o According to the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC,
China’s gross domestic product (“GDP"”) recorded a growth
rate of 6.1% in 2019, compared with 6.6% in 2018, as the
economic slowdown continued. The growth rate has decelerated
to the slowest on record of 6% in both the third and fourth
quarters of 2019;

° Steel production in China continued to grow in 2019, by 9.1%
to 1,200 Mt, in spite of the implementation of excessive steel
capacity elimination protocol. Monthly steel output volume
exceeded an unprecedented level of 100 Mt for each of the
months from April to December in 2019. High steel production
capacity drove down the price of steel;

° In response to the persistent rise in output, in November
2019, China’s National Development and Reform Commission
(“NDRC"), Ministry of Industry and Information Technology,
and National Bureau of Statistics issued a joint notice to local
authorities across the country to launch an investigation into
the actual steel production and capacity of each individual steel
mills between 2016 and 2019, in order to provide better and
more accurate understanding of the industry for the central
government to design appropriate development strategies;

° Following up on the “Blues Skies” initiative launched in 2018
and the notice for ultra-low emissions in the steel industry
issued jointly by China’s Ministry of Ecology and Environment
("MEE") and NDRC in April 2019, the MEE released a set of
guidelines in December 2019 for the assessment and monitoring
of ultra-low emissions in the steel industry;

45 [ B
RBERRN AEBIBIU TITERRRTS
Gt B

BHEPREBEXGTRER 20198+
NEEBBELREEA6.1%  M20184F
A 56.6% BN EERENAFE - ER
KHIEE2019F E = NEMNFE%H AL
B DA R KR

BEHT BB RERNET P
Bl i 2 EE 2R 2019F #F B R E1,2008
BN 12108 89.1% ° 1R2019F48 £12A
M SAMMEES B L1008 B0 &
A FT 2R B 7K o 3 880 22 A e 1 T {3 88
EA%

BRERUTH FANEL PEERER
MRBEZEE ([#XE]) ITEMEE
L2 R B R G BH2019F11 B |2
B H I HBESBA FHE20162
20194 fE &) £ 9 1 B2 5 R ) 2 B 8 M
EER ATRBAFIEUNEEER
BRI F T EAEREN T

#2018F [EX] 5r8lH & KR EARER
B ([AEREIRIEE ) B3 ER20195F
AR ABRMETEREIRRNE
HREIRIFEPA20196 12 A 84 — R 545
5|+ BT R BE 52 8 8 B FE 0 RB AR BE R
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China’s Purchasing Managers’ Index (“PMI") fell below 50.0
in eight of the months in 2019, with the lowest in February
at 49.2 and the highest in March at 50.5, due mainly to the
manufacturing break and subsequent resumption before and
after Chinese New Year, respectively. However, the steel sector
has contracted towards the end of the year, with the overall PMI
in the steel industry averaging 47.2, marking a drop of 3.5 basis
points year-on-year;

Affected by the international supply disruption in iron ore as a
result of the Brazil Vale mine disaster in January 2019, as well
as the continued increase in steel production within China, iron
ore prices in 2019 in China went through a sharp uptrend. The
China Iron Ore Price Index compiled by the China Iron and Steel
Association surged to the historic peak of 419.51 at the end of
July 2019, but was adjusted downward when supply swelled
in August 2019. Nevertheless, the 333.04 point recorded at
year's end marked a 31.4% year-on-year increase of 253.39 in
December 2018;

Due to increasing compliance with the environmental policies
by Chinese steelmakers, the demand for the less polluting
high-grade iron ore spiked, with the China 62% TFe Iron Ore
Price Index increased from 72.35 at the start of January 2019,
reaching the record high of 126.35 in July 2019. High-grade
iron ore price index was regulated when supply caught up with
demand after August 2019, fluctuating between just below 80
and above 90; and

Impact of the China-US trade war became more apparent as
the year went on, with global trade contracting as a result of
tariff pressures. Despite rebounding during the first half of the
year, China’s steel export for the FY2019 amounted to 64.29 Mt
with a year-on-year drop of 7.3%, according to the General
Administration of Customs of the PRC.

2019 G5 | B KR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R koA

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW

Operation and Financial Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Group reported lower revenue, which
fell by 19.1% to approximately RMB923.6 million for FY2019, mainly
caused by non consolidation of Disposal Group's revenue subsequent to
30 July 2019.

Specifically,

14

average selling price for low-grade iron concentrates (within
the southern region of Sichuan and Panxi Region in particular)
increased by approximately 9.8% on average for 7 months in
2019 up to the date of Completion due to global supply decline
in the aftermath of the Brazil mining accident in spite of falling
demand under the stringent anti-smog policies in China;

average selling price for high-grade iron concentrates rose by
approximately 11.1% — given the Group's focused strategies in
improving efficiencies for its High Fe Mines, the mine operations
located mainly in the northern region of Sichuan had been
able to constantly produce high-grade iron concentrates with
an average range of 65% TFe (with an encouraging but small
volume of 72% TFe since FY2018); and

smaller proportion of trading activities given the Group's
shift in business direction to progressively reduce its exposure
in this segment which requires higher working capital
requirements and discretionary change in its trading product
mix for improving margins in response to market demand -
total purchase and sales volumes of trading activities were
approximately 127.0 Kt and 127.0 Kt, respectively, representing
a fall of 58.7% and 60.3%, respectively, as compared to
FY2018.

EBREEOHE

EERMBEHME

RIMEIAR AEEW AR 19.1%ZE20198F K
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The production and sales volumes were as follows:

o high-grade iron concentrates were approximately 99.2 Kt and
91.6 Kt for FY2019, respectively;

o low-grade iron concentrates were approximately 658.5 Kt and
645.0 Kt for the period ended 30 July 2019, respectively; and

° titanium concentrates were approximately 109.5 Kt and 106.4
Kt for the period ended 30 July 2019, respectively.

The Group recorded slightly lower gross profit of approximately of
RMB118.5 million for FY2019 as compared to FY2018 despite higher
gross profit margin of approximately 12.8% for FY2019 which was
mainly attributable to higher average unit selling price of high-grade
iron concentrates. Administrative expenses fell by 38.8% to RMB72.4
million as the Group has ceased to recognise the financial results of the
Discontinued Operations from the date of Completion onwards. A one-
off gain on disposal of the Disposal Group amounting to RMB153.0
million was recorded upon the Completion.

Given the above, the Group recorded Net Profit of RMB69.2 million for
FY2019 reversing a Net Loss of RMB444.0 million for FY2018.

Overview of Mines

Please refer to below tables for the status of the Group’s mine
operations for (i) the High Fe Mines and Shigou Gypsum Mine which are
owned and operated by the Remaining Group and (ii) the Low Fe Mines
and Inactive Mines which are owned and operated by the Disposal
Group.

Continuing Operations — High Fe Mines and Shigou Gypsum Mine
HASERXE - BHRNESRABEARE

Mine

&5

Processing Plant

HEE

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Maoling Processing Plant

Management Discussion and Analysis
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BEAREBATES: \MREEEEALLE
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BREENEE RIS R ERES N EBE
B BEE TR

Status as at 31 December 2019
A2019F12A31H MR

Producing iron concentrates of high Fe contents (within the

range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe)

SESNEEE (TR E)F65%272%)

Optimising development and mining plans according to trial

production results

EE-FEILERE EEEER HEFe
Shigou Gypsum Mine N/A
hBREE A iE A

RIEAERS

T & % R R
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Management Discussion and Analysis

A EREN S

Discontinued Operations — Low Fe Mines and Inactive Mines (Disposal completed on 30 July 2019)

ERIKEEZ - BEBNESRTEEBES (K2019F7530H ZHK H E)

Mine
®i5

Baicao Mine

Xiushuihe Mine (including
expansion)

FAomEE (BiEkERDR)

Yangqueging Mine

Cizhuging Mine

R E B R

I

Haibaodang Mine

TR PN 5

Processing Plant

Baicao Processing Plant
BB E R

Heigutian Processing Plant
BEARKER

Xiushuihe Processing Plant
75 KA 588 R

Hailong Processing Plant
SRR

Iron Pelletising Plant

TR 5 R

N/A

Status as at 30 July 2019
R201957A308 KRR

Producing vanadium-bearing iron concentrates of low
contents (within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe)
HEFEERNSNEIBE (T2 EN F53%E55% )

Suspended since 2015
H2015F (Y= EE

Producing vanadium-bearing iron concentrates of low
contents (within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe)
HEFeEEBRNSNEBE (Tre2 EN F53%E55% )

Producing vanadium-bearing iron concentrates of low
contents (within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe)
HEFeREBEMNSNERE (TFed BN F53%E55% )

Suspended since 2013
B2013F R E=E

Inactive; vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite of low
contents (average grade of 25.06% TFe)

Fe

Fe

Fe

Fe

TER: Fes S EMNIKLETE (F19051525.06% Tre)

Inactive; vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite of low
contents (average grade of 21.40% TFe)

Fe

TER: Fes 2EMINANIEE (FIH4m1LA521.40% TFe)

Inactive; vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite of low
contents (average grade of 16.54% TFe)

Fe

TER: FeS SRMNIKLIETE (FHB 1 51654% TFe)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE & oA

The following table summarises the transacted volumes for (i) trading TERBMAEBONEEHE: RVHEEEBEEER
sales and (ii) sale of self-produced products of the Group: 8= -
Purchase from Sale to
independent third parties an independent third party
HBEIE=FRE HEIE=FHE
FY2019 FY2018 Change FY2019 FY2018 Change
2019 2018 2019 2018
BREE UBEE 2% HEBFEE UREE #
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (Kt) %
(Fmg) (Fma) % () (Fma) %
(i) Trading Sales (i) EEHE
Steels i) 120.5 59.6 102.2 120.5 66.0 82.6
Coals 14874 6.5 248.1 (97.4) 6.5 254.1 (97.4)
127.0 307.7 (58.7) 127.0 320.1 (60.3)
Production volume (Dry basis) Sales volume (Dry basis)
EE(%E) HEe (ZE)
FY2019 FY2018 Change FY2019 FY2018 Change
2019 2018 2019 2018
MREE HBRFE 28y HBFE HHEE B
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (Kt) %
(T1) (Fu8) % (1) (Fu8) %

(ii) Sale of Self-produced Products (i) SHEBEER

(a) Continuing Operations (a) BELKEER
High-grade iron concentrates =i B EE
Maoling Processing Plant EERER 99.2 105.2 (5.7) 91.6 105.2 (12.9)
(b) Discontinued Operations (b) BRIEREER
Low-grade iron concentrates Kl # 5
Xiushuihe Processing Plant K R 257.3 528.6 (51.3) 259.2 482.7 (46.3)
Hailong Processing Plant BEAER 144.6 290.6 (50.2) - -
Baicao Processing Plant HERER 256.6 292.2 (12.2) 385.8 637.0 (39.4)
401.2 582.8 (31.2) 385.8 637.0 (39.4)
Total volume BES 6585  1,111.4 (40.8) 645.0  1,119.7 (42.4)
Titanium concentrates KR
Baicao Processing Plant HERER 76.9 68.8 11.8 69.0 75.4 (8.5)
Xiushuihe Processing Plant AN TE R 326 19.4 68.0 37.4 18.3 104.5
Total volume BE 109.5 88.2 24.1 106.4 93.7 13.6

2019 G5 | B KR
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Risks and Uncertainties

The Chairman shared his views in his Chairman’s statement under
“Outlook and Strategies” in which he discussed certain risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group and many other industries in
the current business environment. The Chairman mentioned the
unpredictability of the current business environment, raised concerns
on the impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak on operations
(as a result of the travel bans, delayed return of workforces, production
suspension and supply chain disruptions), gave certain assumptions on
which production capacity could recover and highlighted the risk of
recession ahead. (Please refer to pages 6 to 10 for details).

The management concurs with the Chairman’s views and specifically
highlighted the following risks and uncertainties in this market
conditions, which require close observation:

o learning curve arising from resumption of the Maoling Mine
operations;
o short-term working capital strain given the prolonged effects of

the unprecedented production suspension;

o additional time and efforts may be taken in negotiating with
financial institutions, including refinancing structure and/or
commercially acceptable terms;

° changes in laws, regulations and policies arising amid
containment of the outbreak of the coronavirus (COVID-19) may
adversely affect our business operations;

. deviation from business and operational plans, including
resources allocation;

° delay in implementation of transformational strategies; and

o fears and negative market sentiment could result in in lower
value-in-use, lower future economic benefits to be derived
by the cash-generating-units and thus potentially higher
impairment.

In addition to the abovementioned, the Group’s financial condition,
results of operations, businesses and prospects would be affected by a
number of risks and uncertainties including market risk, credit risk, and
liquidity risk. Please refer to details as set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

BB R FAHBEE
FERNEBRESNEFEREEN [F15 LB F
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EREERBETEHENEBR L THARE-
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(COVID-19)EEHEBHMTE CEHRS - TA
EEEREEAN  EEYEREEETRE) - RHE
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B (FFIBFBLHEEEFI108) ©
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BXIFEOERE WEREETIESH
R B R R N EAREE
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L EESE

RN E KA 0 B TS AR R
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& X
R
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Note:

The disposal of Low Fe Mines and Inactive Mines (Disposal Group) was

completed on 30 July 2019. As such, the results of Disposal Group for

FY2019 comprised net operating loss of Low Fe Mines and Inactive Mines

of RMB83.4 million and the Group realised a gain on Disposal which

amounted to RMB153.0 million. The Group has ceased to recognise the

financial results of the Low Fe Mines and Inactive Mines from the date of

Completion onwards.

REMAINING GROUP
Revenue?
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Reversal of/(provision for) impairment
losses, net

Finance costs

Operating profit/(loss) before tax
from the Remaining Group
Income tax credit/(expense)

Operating profit/(loss) after tax
from the Remaining Group

DISPOSAL GROUP
Loss for the year from the Disposal

Group?*
Net gain on Disposal

Profit/(loss) for the year

# Presented at gross of intra-group

Management Discussion and Analysis
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B % [0 8

EEdp (V1845 R T 5 BB (L EEE) /1 &
FIEE R2019F7H30H 55 /% » AUt 201981
BFE R R S IR SR T
JEBBIE B EEE 1R F A RIE83.48 &t
MAEED EH G EFEN W A RE153.0
B & T o A5 [B] B ST AL H HEAE B AR F iR R
am (7 A5 R T R A5 1 B T 4

FY2019 FY2018 Variance
2019 2018
HHREE PHEE k)
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
ARET T ARETIT %
REEHE
I A # 619,403 692,863 (10.6)
SHE AR (561,195) (634,210) (11.5)
EF 58,208 58,653 (0.8)
i PN 5,922 602 883.7
HE R HAXZ (9,194) (11,284) (18.5)
THAX (47,437) (34,746) 36.5
Hifx (843) (2,256) (62.6)
VERIEY 3=E:AC1p
(BH) F5 (5,725) 7,335 (178.1)
B 75 A AR (4,039) (8,343) (51.6)
REEEBAEE
@ (EFR) (3,108) 9,961 (131.2)
Frigfile,/ (M%) (6,091) 2,808 (316.9)
REEEHBEE
@ (EBR) (9,199) 12,769 (172.0)
HEER
HEEEFREE
(83,411) (462,020) (81.9)
HESEWRSFE 152,997 - 100.0
69,586 (462,020) (115.1)
ERFE(BE) 60,387 (449,251) (113.4)

transactions as if the Disposal had

taken place on 1 January 2018 and 2019, respectively.

#

BREBAAREIZHEHEEY BobEs
HE D BIR2018F K2019F1A1HEE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R koA

FY2019 FY2018 Variance
2019 2018

B EE BEBRFE 2H)
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AR¥FT T AREEFTT %

ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BER:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE ZE DN 69,199 (443,969) (115.6)
Non-controlling interests FEVE R R = (8,812) (5,282) 66.8
60,387 (449,251) (113.4)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BERN:
Owners of the Remaining Group REEEHEB A (1,889) 16,527 (111.4)
Non-controlling interests FEVE R (7,310) (3,758) 94.5
(9,199) 12,769 (172.0)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BER:
Owners of the Disposal Group LESBEESBSA 71,088 (460,496) (115.4)
Non-controlling interests JEIERR (1,502) (1,524) (1.4)
69,586 (462,020) (115.1)

Revenue A

Revenue fell to RMB619.4 million for FY2019 (FY2018: RMB692.9
million), which was mainly attributable to lower trading volume as a
result of discretionary change in trading product mix for better margins
in response to market demand.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily comprised of contracting fees for mining and
stripping as well as materials, labour, power and other utilities, repair
and maintenance, depreciation and amortisation, and trading purchase.
Cost of sales fell to RMB561.2 million for FY2019 (FY2018: RMB634.2
million), due primarily to lower sales activities in general.

Gross Profit and Margin

Gross profit sustained at approximately RMB58.2 million for FY2019
(FY2018: RMB58.7 million) despite recorded slightly better gross margin
at approximately 9.4% for FY2019 (FY2018: 8.5%) due mainly to surge
in price of iron ore after global supply shortages which resulted from
extreme climate condition and dam collapse incident in Brazil.

R2019BLFE - A THREARK61948 8
T QOIS HFEE: ARB629HE L)  £2
EHRAEMGHEKNENE EEERAS IR
BAEX - FEEHER LT

& KA

HEXATZOERBERABEABSSE M- A
T eRREMARARE @S REE TE R
AR BB R RIER A - )R20190 BUF &
HEKRATEE ARBS61.2H 87T (20185 K
FE:ARKEE42EEL) T ERRENHEEE
FEERD -

EFNREFN=E

BB 1R R JARR I B 0 BRI B HUE B 2 Bk
WAMERRMERZA  F20190 BFE EF
RENEE#9.4% (2018 HFE :8.5% )
HE201 98/ R FE EFERFNHARKESS2EHE
7T (2018 HFE : ARS8 7TEHEL) ©
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Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains increased to approximately RMB5.9 million
for FY2019 (FY2018: RMBO0.6 million) due mainly to the waiver in
respect of overdue interest previously accrued for the specialised mining
services and gain on disposal of machinery.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased to RMB9.2 million
for FY2019 (FY2018: RMB11.3 million) as a result of lower sales
activities. The selling and distribution expenses primarily comprised
of transportation fees, logistic costs, storage and other related
administrative fees.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased to RMB47.4 million for FY2019
(FY2018: RMB34.7 million) due mainly to higher environmental
compliance cost, staff cost and directors’ fee.

Other Expenses
Other expenses decreased to RMBO0.8 million for FY2019 (FY2018:
RMB2.3 million) due mainly to the absence of one-off expenses during
the Reporting Period.

Reversal of/(Provision for) Impairment Losses, Net
There was a provision of impairment losses of RMB5.7 million for
FY2019 (FY2018: reversal of impairment losses RMB7.3 million) due
mainly to recognition of impairment losses on non-current assets
as a result of weak market sentiment given increase in risks and
uncertainties.

Finance Costs
Finance costs decreased to RMB4.0 million for FY2019 (FY2018:
RMB8.3 million) as a result of lower interest rate on refinancing.

Income Tax Credit/(Expense)

Income tax expense increased to RMB6.1 million for FY2019 (FY2018:
income tax credit of RMB2.8 million), as a result of higher taxable
profit.

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Owners

Given that the Group recorded a one-off gain on Disposal amounting
to RMB153.0 million, the Group recorded Net Profit of RMB69.2 million
for FY2019, reversing a Net Loss of RMB444.0 million for FY2018.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Final Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2019 (FY2018: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The following table sets out certain information regarding the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December
2019 and 2018:

EEHHHS%E
EEETEBRMN2019 B EEH RERE
(20188 L& E  487) -

/JILEJJ |¢&§$§/ﬁ
TREHNEBFEAREEEHZE20199F K2018%F12A
BMMALFENGARERERNA TER:

FY2019 FY2018
20198 L B 20188 L &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®BTR ARBTT ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FHRGEABEERER
in the consolidated statement PR H IR & &
of cash flows at beginning REEEY
of the year 33,771 13,286
Net cash flows from/(used in) CEEEEL, (EH)
operating activities Wi e nE FHE (14,056) 208,217
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEBEE (ERH)
investing activities MIREREFEE 27,204 (138,594)
Net cash flows used in financing BB BB A
activities REeEREFE (16,235) (52,770)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BekReEEY
cash equivalents wn Crd)FsE (3.087) 16,853
Effect of foreign exchange rate ERSE TR
changes, net (3,995) 3,632
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FARARGABERER
in the consolidated statement YR E IR & &
of cash flows at end ReFEY
of the year 26,689 33,771

Net Cash Flows From/(Used In) Operating
Activities

Net cash flows used in operating activities was RMB14.1 million during
FY2019 (FY2018: generated from operating activities was RMB208.2
million) after accounting for operating profit before working capital
changes of RMB18.2 million incurred largely by the Discontinued
Operations (FY2018: RMB73.2 million), negative net working capital
changes of RMB31.3 million (FY2018: positive working capital changes
of RMB135.8 million), interest received of RMB68,000 (FY2018:
RMB50,000) and income tax paid of RMB1.0 million (FY2018: RMB0.8
million).

RETHELE (FA)NBELSRE
/?%E
R2019 B FE Kt R EZRADKRIELEE
BHEEESFHILENBARKIS2AET
QOIS FE : ARKTI2EEL) BZEE
TR FEAREINIEET Q0180 KEE
FREESEHARKIZ8HEET) DhAA
AR ¥68,0007T (20188 B F [E : A R#¥50,000
) REHFEHRARBEI.0EE T (20188 B4
E:AREISEE L) & LEATHFERANES
MEFEAABAREI4NEET Q018 KERE:
wEEBEEARK208.2HET) °
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Net Cash Flows From/(Used In) Investing Activities

The Group’s net cash flows from investing activities was RMB27.2
million for FY2019 (FY2018: used in investing activities was RMB138.6
million), due primarily to sales proceeds from Disposal amounting to
RMB85.0 million which has been further offset by investment in and
upgrade of plant and equipment of approximately RMB47.1 million
(FY2018: RMB137.3 million) for production.

Net Cash Flows Used In Financing Activities

The Group's net cash flows used in financing activities was RMB16.2
million for FY2019 (FY2018: RMB52.8 million), due primarily to the
repayment of bank and other loans, including interest paid during the
Reporting Period.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Note: Assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group were classified as held
for sale as at 31 December 2018 where the Disposal was completed on
30 July 2019. Details of the Discontinued Operations are set out in note
10 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Analysis of Inventories

The Remaining Group’s inventories increased to RMB29.4 million as at
31 December 2019 (FY2018: RMB23.6 million) due mainly to buffer
stocks, which were delivered and/or consumed after the Reporting
Period.

Analysis of Trade Receivables

The Remaining Group's trade and bills receivables increased to
RMB202.5 million as at 31 December 2019 (FY2018: RMB105.2
million), as a result of longer credit term following a significant change
in trading product mix. Approximately 15% of these receivables had
been collected before the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak.

Please refer to note 20 to the financial statements for further details.

Assets Classified as Held for Sale

The assets classified as held for sale mainly relate to equipment for
specialised mining services which are held for sale, decreased to
RMB35.8 million as at 31 December 2019 (FY2018: RMB41.2 million),
as a result of lower fair value.
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Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Group Classified
as Held For Sale

This related to classification of the assets and liabilities of the Disposal
Group. Given the Disposal of 100% stake in Huili Caitong, the
Group has deconsolidated Huili Caitong and its subsidiaries upon the
Completion.

Analysis of Trade and Bills Payables

The Remaining Group's trade and bills payables increased to RMB68.5
million as at 31 December 2019 (FY2018: RMB54.2 million) due mainly
to favourable credit terms granted by long-term suppliers.

Analysis of Net Current Assets/(Liabilities) Position
Subsequent to the Completion, the Group recorded net current assets
of RMB11.9 million as at 31 December 2019 (FY2018: net current
liabilities of RMB10.2 million). The current ratio improved to 1.04 as at
31 December 2019 (FY2018: close to 1.0) following the Completion.

Bank and Other Loans

Total bank and other loans of the Remaining Group were approximately
RMB99.2 million as at 31 December 2019 (FY2018: RMB100.8 million).
As at 31 December 2019, except for other loans and an unsecured
bank loan which were denominated in AUD, all bank loans were
denominated in RMB. Details of bank and other loans of the Group are
set out in note 27 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Lease Liabilities

The Group started to adopt new IFRS 16 Leases effective from 1
January 2019, which introduces a single lessee accounting model and
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with
a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low
value. As at 31 December 2019, the lease liabilities mainly comprised of
office leases.
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the maximum amount of contingent liabilities
of the Company was RMB730.0 million (i.e. the maximum amount
of guarantee under the CVT Guarantees). The CVT Guarantees were
provided by the Company prior to the Disposal to guarantee the
indebtedness of the Disposal Group owed to certain banks and an
asset management and financial services institution in the PRC. Those
indebtedness have not been repaid and the CVT Guarantees continued
after the Completion. As previously disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 30 July 2019, the Group's obligations under the
CVT Guarantees have been counter-indemnified by Chengyu Vanadium
Titano. Save for the above, as at 31 December 2019, the Group did
not have any other contingent liabilities. For further details about the
CVT Guarantees and the counter-indemnity, please refer to the section
headed “Very Substantial Disposal and Connected Transaction/Non-
Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Directors’ Report,
and note 37 to the financial statements.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2019, the mining right of Maoling Mine was
pledged to secure the one-year interest-bearing bank loan of RMB83.8
million granted by Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Chengdu
Branch to Aba Mining.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures arose primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely Hong Kong
dollars, US dollars, Australian dollars, Singapore dollars and Vietnamese
dong, against the Renminbi. Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Australian
dollars, Singapore dollars and Vietnamese dong are the functional
currencies of respective entities within the Group.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have
a material adverse effect on the Group's net assets, earnings and any
dividends it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted
into foreign currencies. The Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
The management monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the
needs arise.
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0% change
in RMB against HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively. The
5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in the foreign currency rate. The
sensitivity analyses of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk
at the end of each reporting period have been determined based on
the adjustment of translation of the monetary assets and liabilities at
the end of each reporting period for a 5.0% change in RMB against
HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax for the year ended 31
December 2019 (due to changes in the fair value of cash and cash
equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
denominated in HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND):

Increase/(decrease) in loss before tax:

If RMB strengthens against HKD, USD,
AUD, SGD and VND

If RMB weakens against HKD, USD,
AUD, SGD and VND

MR EE R
WA

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are not substantially
affected by the changes in market interest rates. The Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets, except for cash and cash equivalents.
The Group manages its interest rate exposure arising from all of its
interest-bearing loans through the use of fixed rates. In addition, the
Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge against interest
rate risk.

Contractual Obligations
The Group had no contractual obligations as at 31 December 2019 and
2018.

Capital Expenditures

The Group's total capital expenditures increased by RMB7.8 million
to RMB110.4 million for FY2019 (FY2018: RMB102.6 million) which
comprised mainly (i) mining infrastructure; and (ii) land reclamation, in
preparation for upgrading production efficiency in the long run.

Capital commitments of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are set out
in note 36 to the financial statements.
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Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is a measure of financial leverage, which is calculated by
net debt divided by “total equity plus net debt”. Net debt is defined as
interest-bearing bank and other loans and lease liabilities, net of cash
and cash equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working
capital purposes. Equity includes equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests. As at 31 December 2019,
gearing ratio was approximately 7.4% (FY2018: 7.0%) following
deconsolidation of liabilities of the Disposal Group.

RESOURCE AND RESERVE OF MINES UNDER
THE JORC CODE (2012 EDITION) AS AT 1
JANUARY 2020

Resource Summary of the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine
JORC Mineral Resource

Property Category
&5 Pzl

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Measured (M)
EH-FRELEE AR
Indicated (1)
1l
M+l
A+ 24
Inferred
e
Total
Bt

Notes:

1. The material assumptions and technical parameters set out in the
Company’s supplemental announcement dated 13 February 2015 with
respect to the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine continue to apply.

2. The mineral resources of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine as at 1 January
2020 were estimated by BAW Mineral Partners Limited by depleting
the mineral resources consumed throughout 2019 for the Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine.
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RESOURCE OF MINES UNDER THE
CLASSIFICATION FOR RESOURCES/RESERVES
OF SOLID FUELS AND MINERAL COMMODITIES
(GB/T 17766-1999) AS AT 1 JANUARY 2020

Resource Summary of the Shigou Gypsum Mine
The mineral resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine under the
Classification for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral
Commodities (GB/T 17766-1999) have not been changed since the
disclosure in our 2014 annual report. The assumption of the resources
of the Shigou Gypsum Mine is 82.51% “gypsum + anhydrite” cut-off
grade and 1 metre minimum in width.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 184 dedicated full
time employees (31 December 2018: 998 employees inclusive of 174
employees from the Remaining Group), including 13 management
staff members, 16 technical staff members, 38 administrative and sales
& marketing staff members, and 117 operational staff members. For
the year ended 31 December 2019, the employee benefit expenses
(including Directors’ remuneration in the form of fees, salaries and
other allowances) were approximately RMB69.6 million, inclusive
of RMB35.7 million pertaining to the Remaining Group (FY2018:
RMB103.2 million, inclusive of RMB27.0 million pertaining to the
Remaining Group).

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group. The Group has also adopted share option schemes
for its employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants with reference to their contributions. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Directors’ Report” in this annual report.
Proper training programmes were implemented in order to promote
employees’ career development and progression within the Group.
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

The Disposal

On 29 January 2019, Sichuan Lingyu entered into the SPA in respect
of the Disposal with Chengyu Vanadium Titano for a consideration
of RMB550.0 million and the independent Shareholders approved the
Disposal at the 2019 EGM. Upon the Completion, the Disposal Group (i)
ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company and (ii) has since become
the subsidiaries of Chengyu Vanadium Titano.

As the Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more than
30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which in turn
becomes the holding company of the Disposal Group immediately upon
the Completion, each of the Disposal Group Companies becomes a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, after the Completion,
certain existing ongoing transactions between the Group and the
Disposal Group have become continuing connected transactions of
the Company and the Company will comply with the annual review
and disclosure requirements in respect of the continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 29 January 2019
and 30 July 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 10 June 2019
for details.

The Disruption of Operations of the Maoling Mine
in Wenchuan County Due to Natural Disasters

On 20 August 2019, a series of multiple mudslides (the “Mudslides”)
following heavy rainfall struck the Wenchuan County which caused
road closures and major disruptions to telecommunication, water,
electricity and material supply in the affected regions.

The Mudslides and the torrential rainfall caused major disruptions to
the Group's operations at the Maoling Mine, which is located in the
Wenchuan County. The Department of Emergency Management of
Sichuan Province initiated several rounds of evacuation. The Group also
evacuated its employees working at or near the Maoling Mine for safety
reasons and temporarily suspended the operations of the Maoling
Mine.

On 11 October 2019, the Group progressively resumed its operations at
the Maoling Mine after close to 2 months of suspension.
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Based on the technical assessment conducted by the Group, the rain-
triggered disasters had not resulted in any material damage to the
Group's assets at the Maoling Mine.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 23 August 2019,
18 September 2019 and 11 October 2019 for details.

Outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19)
Epidemic (the “Epidemic”) Subsequent to the
Reporting Period

Due to the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak in the PRC subsequent to
the Reporting Period, a number of provinces and municipalities in the
PRC have taken various emergency public health measures and actions
to contain the spread of the Epidemic, including, among other things,
travel restrictions on numerous cities in Hubei Province and Zhejiang
Province, which are severely infected areas. As a significant portion of
the site workers who carry out underground operations at the Maoling
Mine (who are employees of the Group's contractor) were unable to
return to work after the Chinese New Year holidays as scheduled due to
travel restrictions, resumption of production in Maoling Mine has been
delayed.

The Group will continue to perform its risk assessment and monitor
the situation closely until the Epidemic is gradually contained. It
will progressively prepare for the resumption of the operations at
the Maoling Mine (the “Resumption”). The Group has submitted a
resumption plan to the regulatory authorities for review and assessment
seeking its approval for the Resumption.

While the circumstances of the Epidemic are evolving rapidly, an
estimate of its financial impact to the Group at the current stage may
not be appropriate as it may be subject to material changes in the time
to come. However, it is reasonably expected that the Epidemic will
likely to have adverse effects on the Group’s operations and financial
performance in the event that the Group's production at the Maoling
Mine is not resumed as planned and scheduled.

Please refer to the Company's announcements dated 7 February 2020
and 9 March 2020 for details.
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CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan
Mr. Teh, aged 47, was appointed as the non-executive Director on 26
July 2017 and subsequently appointed as the chairman of the Board
on 12 October 2017. Mr. Teh is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Teh, a sophisticated investor, specialises in corporate restructuring,
corporate finance, and merger & acquisition. Mr. Teh is currently a
substantial shareholder, the executive chairman and chief executive
officer ("CEQ") of Citicode Ltd. (listed on the main board of the
SGX-ST) and an advisor to the board of Koda Ltd (listed on the main
board of the SGX-ST). Mr. Teh was the group CEO and managing
director of Sapphire Corporation Limited (“Sapphire”) (listed on the
main board of the SGX-ST) from October 2013 to December 2017.
Under his leadership, Sapphire has undergone a major corporate
restructuring exercise and he has transformed Sapphire by acquiring
one of the largest privately-owned urban rail transit engineering groups
in China. He has also led Sapphire to be the first company listed outside
Hong Kong to receive The Listed Enterprise Excellence Awards 2016
from the Hong Kong-based Capital Weekly.

Mr. Teh served as a non-executive director of Singapore eDevelopment
Limited (listed on the Catalist of the SGX-ST and formerly known
as CCM Group Limited) from June 2013 to August 2016; a non-
executive director of Asian American Medical Group Limited (listed on
the Australian Securities Exchange (the “ASX") and formerly known
as Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited) from
January 2011 to January 2016 and a non-executive director of Heng
Fai Enterprises Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
currently known as ZH International Holdings Limited) from October
2013 to September 2014.
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Some of Mr. Teh's other investment and corporate portfolios included
but are not limited to — In 2002, he advised and completed the
restructuring and initial public offering (the “IPO") exercise of Koda
Ltd (which was subsequently named one of the best 200 companies
under a billion by Forbes Asia in 2006) on the SGX-ST. In 2006, he
evaluated and advised a spinoff plan for the proposed IPO application
of a foreign-controlled enterprise on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange.
In 2009, he advised and completed the restructuring and listing exercise
of one of Asia’s foremost liver centres, the Singapore-incorporated
Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited via a reverse
takeover of an ASX-listed fashion design house. Mr. Teh has also
previously involved in and advised on other corporate actions including
business reorganisation, corporate restructuring, proposed divestments,
corporate debts restructuring and cash exit offer for other publicly listed
companies, family-owned enterprises and regional asset owners.

Mr. Teh was nominated for the 2015 and 2016 Asia Pacific
Entrepreneurship Awards (Singapore) under the Industrial and
Commercial Products Industry as well as the 2017 and 2018
Outstanding Leaders in Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
Awards under the Leadership Category. Mr. Teh is a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (United Kingdom), a
fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants, an international affiliate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a chartered accountant of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants, a full member of the Singapore Institute of
Directors and an ordinary member of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Jiang, aged 54, has been an executive Director since 28 April
2008 and re-designated as the chief executive officer of the Company
since 12 October 2017. Mr. Jiang is also a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Jiang joined the Group in March 2008 as a director of Huili Caitong
when it was part of the Group. Mr. Jiang is a director and the general
manager of Sichuan Lingyu and a director of First China Limited, Simply
Rise Holdings Limited and Sure Prime Limited, all being wholly-owned
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subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Jiang has over 20 years of experience
in production and quality control in the steel industry. Mr. Jiang was a
technician, head of quality control department and the chief manager
of the audit department of Chuanwei from August 1989 to April
2008. Mr. Jiang graduated from Chongging Steel and Iron College* in
Chongging in July 1989 with a college degree in iron and steel rolling.

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Hao, aged 38, has been an executive Director and the financial
controller of the Company since 1 January 2018. Mr. Hao has been the
financial manager of the Company since January 2012. Mr. Hao is also
a director/supervisor/financial manager of certain key subsidiaries of the
Company and is responsible for the financial reporting and management
of these subsidiaries. He was the financial controller of Huili Caitong from
January 2012 to February 2016. He has 15 years of experience in financial
management and has also previously participated in the IPO exercise of
the Company, including pre-IPO reorganisation, merger and acquisition,
corporate finance matters and operational reorganisation. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Hao was the financial supervisor of the Panxi Region
of the mining branch of Chuanwei from March 2010 to January 2012, a
financial supervisor in each of the financial management department of
Chuanwei from May 2006 to March 2010 and Sichuan Longwei Metal
Products Co., Ltd.* from July 2004 to April 2006, respectively. Mr. Hao
has professional qualification as an International Certified Management
Accountant. Mr. Hao obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in June 2004.

Mr. Wang Hu

Mr. Wang, aged 40, has been an executive Director since 1 January
2018. Mr. Wang has been the assistant to the then chairman, Mr. Jiang
Zhong Ping and is the manager of legal and compliance department
of the Company. Mr. Wang is also a director of certain key subsidiaries
of the Company and is responsible for legal and compliance matters
of these subsidiaries. Mr. Wang has 16 years of experience in legal
and compliance matters. Mr. Wang has previously participated in the
pre-IPO reorganisation and IPO exercise of the Company, including
merger and acquisition. He is responsible for the legal and compliance
matters of the Group after the listing of the Company. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Wang was the supervisor of legal department of
Chuanwei from September 2003 to August 2008 and worked as a
client relationship manager in Agricultural Bank of China, Chongging
Changshou branch* from August 2002 to September 2003. Mr. Wang
obtained a bachelor's degree in law from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law in July 2002.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Yu, aged 55, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu was a chartered public accountant
in Sichuan Tongde Certified Accountants Firm* (formerly known as
Chengdu Xinda Certified Accountants Firm*) from 1994 to 2000, a
member of the expert panels of Land and Resources Department of
Sichuan Province and Science and Technology Department of Sichuan*.
Mr. Yu is a chartered public accountant (non-practicing) in the PRC,
a member of the Chartered Public Accountant Further Education
Committee of Sichuan Association of Chartered Public Accountants*, and
a professor, master and doctoral supervisor of the Accounting Faculty of
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan.
Mr. Yu is also the dean of the Auditing Department at Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan. Mr. Yu worked
in the finance department of Weiyuan Steel Factory* from July 1988 to
August 1990. Mr. Yu served as an independent non-executive director
of Xinan Huaji Company Limited*, a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange from 1998 to 2000 and he served as an independent
non-executive director of Jinyu Checheng Company Limited* (“Jinyu
Checheng”), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and was
also a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of
Jinyu Checheng from May 2004 to June 2010. As a member of the audit
committee of Jinyu Checheng, Mr. Yu's duties included reviewing the
internal control system and reviewing and analysing financial statements
of the company. Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive director and
a member of audit committee of Chengdu Tianxing Instruments (Group)
Co., Limited*, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
from June 2012 to June 2015. Mr. Yu was an independent non-
executive director and a chairman of the audit committee of Royal China
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to September 2018. Mr. Yu was
also an independent non-executive director and a chairman of the audit
committee of Sichuan Expressway Company Limited, a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, from
March 2013 to November 2019. Currently, Mr. Yu is an independent
non-executive director of Sichuan lJiuzhou Electric Group Co., Ltd, a
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company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and an independent
non-executive director of Chengdu Haoneng Technology Co., Ltd.*,
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Yu received
a bachelor's degree from Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan in economics (accounting) in July 1988,
a master’s degree in economics (accounting) in December 1992 and a
doctoral degree in management (accounting) in March 2002. Through his
professional qualification as a chartered public accountant, his education
background in accounting and his previous experience as an independent
non-executive director of public companies, he meets the criteria for
accounting and related financial management expertise as required by
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view that Mr.
Yu's experience in internal controls and reviewing and analysing audited
financial statements of a public company that he gained when he was
serving as a member or chairman of the audit committees of various
public companies enables him to meet the requirements under Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Liu, aged 57, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Liu is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Liu has been working at Sichuan
Metallurgical Design and Research Institute since July 1987, engaging in
project consulting, beneficiation process and mining design, feasibility
study and relevant engineering design work and specialising in mineral
processing engineering. His past experiences in mining design projects
include constructing iron concentrate production lines of various
capacities and mining operations planning for vanadium-bearing titano-
magnetite mines. He is the deputy chief engineer and the chief project
designer of the mining engineering institute of Sichuan Metallurgical
Design and Research Institute. He is also a Work Safety Expert in
Sichuan* appointed by Department of Emergency Management of
Sichuan Province. Mr. Liu graduated from the faculty of mining resource
engineering of Xi'an Metallurgy and Architecture College*, now known
as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology, in Shaanxi and
received a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1987.
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Mr. Wu Wen

Mr. Wu, aged 51, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 1 November 2014. Mr. Wu is also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is
a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. Wu graduated from Peking University
School of Law in 1990. Mr. Wu obtained a Juris Doctor degree from
Northwestern School of Law of Lewis and Clark College in 1998. Mr.
Wu worked as an associate of Sichuan Canway Law Firm from August
1998 to May 2002 and later became a partner from February 2003 to
December 2008. Mr. Wu also worked as legal counsel in Kodak (China)
Company Limited from May 2002 to December 2002. Mr. Wu practised
law as a partner of Tahota Law Firm from February 2009 to February
2014. Since March 2014, Mr. Wu has been a partner of Zhonglun Law
Firm. Mr. Wu is a member of the Chinese Bar Association.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
Mr. Jiang is the chief executive officer of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.

Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Hao is the financial controller of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.
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The Directors hereby present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are mining and ore processing, sale of
self-produced products, trading of coals and steels, management of
strategic investments and rendering of specialised mining services.
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 are set
out in note 1 to the financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, "Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report — Risk Management and
Internal Control” of this annual report. These discussions form part of
this Directors’ report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

A directors and officers liability insurance is in place to protect the
Directors and officers against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors and officers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 101 and 102 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

On 27 December 2018, the Board adopted a dividend policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company will maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its Shareholder value. When considering
the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will consider a
number of factors, including but not limited to the Group’s financial
results and cash flow position, the Group’s future operations and
earnings, the Group’s expected capital requirements and expansion
plans, the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level, any
restrictions on payment of dividends under any financial covenant
undertaken by the Group, the retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group, the
Shareholders’ expectation and industry’s norm, and the general market
conditions.

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
11 June 2020 to Tuesday, 16 June 2020 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to determine the
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM, all share transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 10 June 2020.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Additions to property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately RMB42.1 million
(2018: RMB102.1 million). Details of the movements during the year in
the Group's property, plant and equipment are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2019. Details of the
movements during the year in the issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 29 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Directors’ Report
EFEgHRESE

/L:\ 5( &;E X/L,\
R2018F12H27H - EE 2B MR B IR
REZHERBER ARAHRECHIREFH
B UENEEEESFTE N ARRIEE  UEW
ERREE - REEERMENKRER EF2
BEEZBREZ BEEBTERASEBENIGE
BERBETRR NEBARREEREF K
SENEHEFERERAE AEENER
SR REBKTE A& B A ER E R B
RAOTHEMEERS RATRAEEETNF

RERARMBHEARF R Sk RREEER
ITHZAE AR BRI -
BEEe W AEZRMNEE2019F12A318 L4

EHAREAAL B (20184F 1 &) o

TERERRELFE
AR 2020F6 A11H (2810 ) 2202056
A168 (EH=) (BEEEMB) BEHIERE
BRFE RZHARBI 2R TEMNKRMDERE-
Bﬁiﬁﬁmwi%%ﬁiﬁ@&“miT—
HEWR FTAERMNBP XHERBEKRENET
BER2020F6 108 (EH =) TH4E300 R [M
RAARINBBROELIEBEETRBLELE
AR (i BEBEFTEF KNBEI1835E F
FL7E1712-17165%88) - AR B F & -

ME-BERSZE

ANEBEEZ2019F12A831BIEFERENDE
BEREEODRBARBEA2 1HEE T (20185 : A
RE102188T) AEEYE BEERER
FRANBEDFBHRANFRAHEIREMF13 -

fig 2
REZE2019F 12 A3 B IEFE - AR FREE K
BBITRAMELS D  KARAAEBITRARER
K Z BT IE SN A F R B W KM 529 -

2019 4R | HERAKEABREFRAF 39

N



Directors’ Report
EERHREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 December 2019 in
the reserves of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 105 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles were
RMB1,877.5 million.

Under the Companies Law, subject to the provision of its Articles, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company in paying
distributions or dividends to its members or in paying up unissued
shares to be issued to its members as fully paid bonus shares provided
that no distribution or dividend may be paid to members out of the
share premium account unless, immediately following the date on
which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The reserves of the Company available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by reference
to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the PRC. These distributable profits differ
from those that are reflected in the Group's consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with the IFRSs.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 250 to
252 of this annual report.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS
Details of the bank and other loans of the Group are set out in note 27
to the financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, sales to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for 91.3% and 97.9% of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively, and sales to the largest customer
accounted for 70.8% and 46.8%, respectively.
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During the year, the Group’s customers were highly concentrated
primarily because (i) the steels, coals and iron products are bulk
raw materials and the customers required stable supply and (ii) the
production volumes of self-produced products were low and our pool
of target customers was small. The Group was aware of the risk of
a concentrated customer base and has entered into non-exclusive
sales agreements with several potential customers. Pursuant to the
agreements, the Group is able to sell any of our products to the
potential customers without any restrictions.

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 92.1% and 81.0% of
the total purchases of the Group, respectively, and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for 68.6% and 24.2%, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
are as follows:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Wang Hu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 31 to
36 of this annual report.

In accordance with articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles, Messrs. Jiang
Zhong Ping, Hao Xiemin and Wang Hu will retire at the 2020 AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2020 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a new service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 12 December 2019. Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu,
an executive Director, entered into a new service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2020.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2020 AGM has
entered into any service agreement with the Company which is not
terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the
Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICIES

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group.

When compared to other employees of the Group, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management put a heavier
weight on their contributions to the performance of the Group. This is
achieved by way of share option schemes. The emolument policies of
the Directors and senior management are overseen by the remuneration
committee of the Company.

Details of the schemes are set out under the section headed “Share
Options” of this report and note 30 to the financial statements of this
annual report.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, are as follows:

Long positions in share options granted by the
Company

Number of share options held by the Directors and chief executives of
the Company as at 31 December 2019:
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Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping Beneficial owner 14,000,000 14,000,000 0.62%
BHR¥EE EmfEA A

Mr. Wang Hu Beneficial owner 1,800,000 1,800,000 0.08%
FREE ERER A

Mr. Hao Xiemin Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%
7O i % 5t A ERBEA

Mr. Yu Haizong Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%
REREE EmfEA A

Mr. Liu Yi Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%
2%k E ERER A
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The details of share options held by the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are disclosed under the section headed “Share
Options” of this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, so far as is known
to all the Directors and chief executives of the Company, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Option
Scheme”) on 4 September 2009. At the 2010 AGM, the Shareholders
approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “New
Option Scheme”) and the termination of the operation of the Old
Option Scheme (such that no further options shall thereafter be offered
under the Old Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions of
the Old Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect).

SUMMARY OF THE OLD OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of adopting the Old Option Scheme was to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contributions to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Company and
enabling our Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The
eligible persons include any Director or employee (whether full time or
part time) of any member of the Group.
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The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted and yet to be
exercised under the Old Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to any eligible person
under the Old Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
shall not in any 12-month period up to the date of grant exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of grant. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to the
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The vesting period and the
period within which an option may be exercised under the Old Option
Scheme will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion.
There is no general requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is empowered
to impose at its absolute discretion any such minimum period at the
time of grant of any particular option. The exercise price in relation to
each option shall be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of such option; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of such option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant of such option. The amount payable on
acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option was HKD1.
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The Company had 1,400,000 Shares available for issue under the Old
Option Scheme, which represented approximately 0.06% of the Shares

the Old Option Scheme are as follows:

Exercise price

per share
Name or category of participant Date of grant Exercise period" option
sHRH
SEANTHERER RHAH s HETEE
(HKD)
(B7m)
1. Directors/chief executives
E3/BRTHAR
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 29.12.2009 29.06.2012 t0 28.12.2019 5.05
Bk 29.06.2012%28.12.2019
29.12.2014 t0 28.12.2019 5.05
29.12.2014%28.12.2019
01.04.2010 01.10.2012 to 31.03.2020 4.99
01.10.2012%31.03.2020
01.04.2015 to 31.03.2020 4.99
01.04.2015%31.03.2020
Mr. Wang Hu 29.12.2009 29.06.2012 t0 28.12.2019 5.05
TRE4E 29.06.2012%28.12.2019
29.12.2014 t0 28.12.2019 5.05
29.12.2014%28.12.2019
2. Employees (in aggregate) 29.12.2009 29.06.2012 to 28.12.2019 5.05
ER(55) 29.06.2012%28.12.2019
29.12.2014 t0 28.12.2019 5.05
29.12.2014%28.12.2019
01.04.2010 01.10.2012 to0 31.03.2020 4.99
01.10.2012%31.03.2020
01.04.2015 to 31.03.2020 4.99
01.04.2015%31.03.2020
Total
Eh
Notes:
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until
the commencement of the exercise period.
2. During the year ended 31 December 2019, 6,400,000 shares options
granted under the Old Option Scheme were lapsed.
3. There were no share options exercised or cancelled during the year.

AR RRIEE BT 8545 1,400,000 A
BITRD GRAFREPHEBHTROEL
in issue as at the date of this annual report. Details of the share options 0.06% ° ERBEE B SR BER2019F12 A
outstanding as at 31 December 2019 which have been granted under 31EMARITEMRM BHESFEFET

Number of share options

RGBELE
Held as at Lapsed during Held as at
01.01.2019 the year® 31.12.2019
#201951518 #2019%12A318
55 EREHY 2]
1,500,000 (1,500,000) -
1,500,000 (1,500,000) -
250,000 - 250,000
250,000 - 250,000
200,000 (200,000) -
200,000 (200,000) -
1,500,000 (1,500,000) -
1,500,000 (1,500,000) -
450,000 - 450,000
450,000 - 450,000
7,800,000 (6,400,000) 1,400,000
B3t
1. R BRI AR B R =170 AR
BRIE-
2. REBZE2019912A31 0 LFE - RIFE L
£19% [T 896,400,000 A% 17 BA#E B 2K 2 -
3. RE R AR 1D BT (R AT 88 -
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SUMMARY OF THE NEW OPTION SCHEME

The purposes of adopting the New Option Scheme are: (i) to broaden
the scope of eligible persons to include all substantial shareholders
of the Company and any person whom the Board considers to have
contributed to the development and growth of the Company; (ii) to
provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contributions
to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Company;
and (iii) to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees. The eligible persons include Directors, chief executives,
substantial shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group and any person who the Board considers,
at its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the New Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under all schemes
adopted by the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 207,500,000
Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares then in issue as
at the date of adoption of the New Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed under the New Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The maximum number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible person under the New Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
Company had 207,500,000 Shares available for issue under the New
Option Scheme, which represented 9.23% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report.
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Any grant of options to a Director, chief executives or to a substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (ii) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options are
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.
Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the New Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing to
the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the number
of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years
from the date of grant. The New Option Scheme is valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from the date of approval of the
New Option Scheme. The New Option Scheme will expire on 14 April
2020 and no option may be granted thereafter.
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The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option. In the event of a grantee ceasing
to be an eligible person for any reason other than (i) by reason of
summary dismissal for misconduct or other breach of the terms of his
employment or other contract constituting him an eligible person, or
appears either to be unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect
of being able to pay his debts or has become insolvent or has made any
arrangement or composition with his creditors generally or on which
he has been convicted of any criminal offence involving his integrity
or honesty; or (ii) by death, the option may be exercised within one
month after the date of such cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is
an employee of any member of the Group, his last actual working day
with such member of the Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice
or not; or (ii) if he is not an employee of any member of the Group, the
date on which the relationship constituting him as an eligible person
ceases.
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Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2019 which E IR AT 2 A R2019F12 4318 &

have been granted under the New Option Scheme are as follows: RITEHIAR D B IBE T ¢
Number of
Exercise share options
price held as at
Name or category of per share 01.01.2019 and
participant Date of grant  Exercise period™ option 31.12.2019@

A2019F1818 R
2yl Rl 2019F12H31H

SHEALTHBZHER RHBH TEHO HETHEE FEROCHEZRB?
(HKD)
(&)
1. Directors/chief executives
EE BeTRAER
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 to 22.05.2021 3.60 5,000,000
[ s 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 4,250,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Wang Hu 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 to 22.05.2021 3.60 1,000,000
FREE 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 400,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Hao Xiemin 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
T GRS 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000

15.10.2015%14.04.2024
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Number of
Exercise share options
price held as at
Name or category of per share 01.01.2019 and
participant Date of grant  Exercise period® option 31.12.2019®@
A2019F1818 &
BHRHG 2019128318
S AT EHEA B®HBH TEEHEO HETHEE MEROCHEHE?
(HKD)
(#T)
Mr. Yu Haizong 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
REREE 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Liu Yi 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
2R E 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
2. Employees (in aggregate) 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 to 22.05.2021 3.60 4,500,000
‘& (A& 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 3,500,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 1,750,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 1,750,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Total 27,100,000
#Et
Notes: B 5
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until 1. Bty HARE eV 55 B B /R R 1R H B BARE = 17 R HARA
the commencement of the exercise period. a1k e
2. There were no share options exercised or cancelled during the year. 2. RF AR () B AT (B Sk e 88 o
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, bR EXFr#EREE N REANEMEMR - RAQ8 -
its parent companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a HEERARIHEMFARISRRFARBES L

party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits R HE - ABUE 5 7] #5 R 2R 2 B S fE (] Bty
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the SEN B B IR 1 S B R T AR % o
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES
To the best knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2019, persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Long positions in Shares:

Directly Through
beneficially parties acting
Name Notes owned in concert
BB-H
/MR Mt = HEEEEES TBALESE
Trisonic International 1,5&6 1,006,754,000 -
ARIBR 1-5K6
Kingston Grand 1,2&5 - 1,006,754,000
Kingston Grand 1-2K5
Mr. Wang Jin 1,5&6 - 1,006,754,000
ITYrE 1-5K%6
Mr. Yang Xianlu 5 - 1,006,754,000
HEBEE 5
Mr. Wu Wendong 5 - 1,006,754,000
RNRFE 5
Mr. Li Hesheng 1&5 - 1,006,754,000
FHB R E 1%5
Mr. Shi Yinjun 1&5 - 1,006,754,000
ARERE 1%5
Mr. Zhang Yuangui 1&5 - 1,006,754,000
REELE 1]45
Long Sino International Limited 2,3 &5 - 1,006,754,000
Long Sino International Limited 2 ~ 35

FERREHEMATRRKRG K EE

IR AT Y #E 22

HRARABEERRSITHABARM  R2019%
12A318 R RABR D B RARIERE>
KB RPIEXVAL 2R B30 B IR X AA R
AIEBERNARAREES LB G FE3361F
AFENECMLENESIRBENAL (AR

BAEERESHTHRABRMOT

REGHWEFR:

Held in the
capacity of
person

having a
security
interest

in Shares
NEERG
BEREZALH
S0ER
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Total

B

1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

Percentage
of the
Company's
issued
share
capital
EERDTE
ERITRE
Bl
44.76%
44.76%
44.76%
44.76%
44.76%
44.76%
44.76%

44.76%

44.76%
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Directly Through
beneficially parties acting
Name Notes owned in concert
BB—B
B/ HE M HERERES TBHALES
Mr. Zou Hua 3,485 - 1,006,754,000
Pt 3-4K%5
Ms. Jiang Hua 4&5 - 1,006,754,000
FERL 4%5
m)IMEREBRA A -
mIEEBR AR
Erie Investments Limited 202,892,000

Erie Investments Limited

Notes:

The issued share capital of Trisonic International was owned as to 3% by
Mr. Li Hesheng, 42.6% by Mr. Wang Jin, 7.2% by Mr. Shi Yinjun, 7.2%
by Mr. Zhang Yuangui and 40% by Kingston Grand.

The issued share capital of Kingston Grand was owned as to 100% by
Long Sino International Limited.

The issued share capital of Long Sino International Limited was owned as
to 100% by Mr. Zou Hua.

Ms. Jiang Hua was the spouse of Mr. Zou Hua.

As at 31 December 2019, 1,006,754,000 Shares were held by Trisonic
International. Since Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang lJin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua were parties acting in concert, each of Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang lJin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua was deemed to be interested in 1,006,754,000 Shares held by
Trisonic International.

Mr. Wang Jin was a director of Trisonic International.

EERBEE
Held in the

capacity of Percentage

person of the

having a Company'’s

security issued

interest share

in Shares Total capital

VR R 6 EARDH

BEHREZALH ERTRA

E0EE mE Bk

- 1,006,754,000 44.76%

- 1,006,754,000 44.76%

614,080,000 614,080,000 27.30%

- 202,892,000 9.02%

B &E -

1. SEIEBNE BITRABFNBELEHEET3I% -
TYHREHBI26% ARBEEHRET 2%
REBE L LEBHAT.2%KKingston Grand A
40% -

2. Kingston Grand#) 2 # {7k A~ fiLong Sino
International Limited## 5 100% °

3. Long Sino International Limited#) 2 277 A% 4
B BB EEH100% ©

4. EELTREELRLENRER-

5. 720194 12A31H * 1,006,754,0000% A% {7
SEIBEEREFE -BREEIBIE - Kingston
Grand TShE 4 - BEBILE RXREE-
FTRBLE - AREBELE RERESE Long
Sino International Limited 0% %t 4 R £ 2
7+ A& — {78 A+ #Kingston Grand:
THhE - BEBRLE RXRLE -FTNE
SHE-BIREBLE REELE Long Sino
International Limited * S £ REZE LT &
B iR R A BIBEIFR 5 A #91,006,754,0008% A%
DB ER -

6. IHRERRABERNES-
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to restrict competition activities between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company, the Controlling Shareholders entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated 23
September 2009 (the “Non-Competition Deed”).

The undertakings and covenants stipulated under the Non-Competition
Deed cover any business which involves ore processing and sale of
iron concentrates, iron pellets, titanium concentrates and titanium
related downstream products or any other business from time to time
conducted by any member of the Group (the “Competing Business”) in
Hong Kong, the PRC or such other part of the world where any member
of the Group carries on its business from time to time other than the
mines owned or operated by Weixi Guangfa and Yanyuan Xiwei.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Controlling Shareholders
having an opportunity to invest in, participate in, engage in, operate
or manage any Competing Business (the “Business Opportunity”) shall
notify the Company about such Business Opportunity in writing. The
Company shall have the first right of refusal under the same investment
terms to such Controlling Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders
shall implement the project only if the Company has confirmed that
it has no intention to invest, participate in, engage in or operate such
Business Opportunity as approved by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has not
entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business
of the Company during the year.

B XETHEE SN 72019512 A318  AQF]
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for the service contracts and share option schemes as disclosed
in this annual report, there were no transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group, to
which the Company, its parent companies, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Company.

VERY SUBSTANTIAL DISPOSAL AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTION/NON-EXEMPT
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 29 January 2019, Sichuan Lingyu entered into the SPA in
respect of the Disposal at a consideration of RMB550.0 million with
Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which was approved by the independent
Shareholders at the 2019 EGM. Upon the Completion on 30 July 2019,
the Disposal Group (i) ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company
and (ii) has since become the subsidiaries of Chengyu Vanadium Titano.
As the Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more than
30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, Chengyu Vanadium
Titano is a connected person of the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules, and the Disposal constituted a connected transaction and very
substantial disposal for the Company under the Listing Rules. Please
refer to the announcements dated 29 January 2019 and 30 July 2019
and the circular dated 10 June 2019 for details of the Disposal.
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Immediately upon the Completion, Chengyu Vanadium Titano becomes
the holding company of the Disposal Group and each of the Disposal
Group Companies becomes a connected person (as defined under the

Listing Rules) of the Company. Accordingly, after Completion, certain

existing ongoing transactions between the Group and the Disposal

Group have become continuing connected transactions of the Company

and the Company will comply with the annual review and disclosure

requirements in respect of the continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules, details of which are set out below.

56

Provision of the CVT Guarantees by the
Company

Prior to Completion, the Company had provided the
CVT Guarantees in favour of certain banks and an asset
management and financial services institution in the PRC (the
“Financial Institutions”) in 2014, 2017 and 2018 respectively
guaranteeing, inter alia, the indebtedness owing by certain
Disposal Group Companies to these Financial Institutions
(including but not limited to the principal, interests, liquidated
damages, compensation and other costs and expenses payable
by these Disposal Group Companies) under the facilities
granted by these Financial Institutions to these Disposal Group
Companies with the aggregate maximum guaranteed amount of
RMB730.0 million. Details of the CVT Guarantees are as follows:
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Maximum
Lender and beneficiary of guaranteed
Date of agreement Borrower the guarantee Guarantor amount
EAE: ERA ERARERZHEA ERA BRERE
1. 11 September 2014 Huili Caitong? China Cinda Asset Management the Company RMB200 million
Co., Ltd., Sichuan Branch®
2014597118 SEAA? FEEEEEERROERDA N/NG] ARE2008E T
ml a3 REo
20 June 2017 Huili Caitong®@ Industrial and Commercial Bank of the Company RMB100 million
China Limited, Liangshan Branch
201746 H420H SEAAE FREIFRTRHARRAFRUSTT AAF AREI100BE T
27 July 2018 Xiushuihe Mining®  Industrial and Commercial Bank of the Company RMB30 million
China Limited, Liangshan Branch
2018%7/27H B EES FRTIHRTROERATDRLAT AAF ARB30BET
25 August 2017 Huili Caitong®? China Construction Bank Corporation, the Company RMB400 million
Liangshan Branch
201748 H25H SEER FERZRRITROBRATRLAT KAT ARBA0EET



Notes:

1. The guarantee provided by the Company in favour of China
Merchant Bank Co., Ltd, Chengdu Branch (“CMB") was created
on 11 September 2014. Pursuant to the guarantee dated 11
September 2014 and entered into between the Company and
CMB, the Company granted the guarantee in favour of CMB for
the indebtedness of Huili Caitong under the credit agreement,
which was executed between Huili Caitong and CMB on even
date. By a notice of assignment of loan on 6 July 2017, the
Company was informed of the assignment by CMB of all its
rights in the credit agreement and the guarantee in favour of
China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd, Sichuan Branch.

2. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more
than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which
in turn holds 100% of the entire issued share capital of Huili
Caitong. Huili Caitong is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

3. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more
than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which
in turn holds 100% of the entire issued share capital of Huili
Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is in turn owned as to 95% by Huili
Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is therefore a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Company entered into the CVT Guarantees before
Completion as guarantee, so as to facilitate the Disposal
Group in obtaining credit facilities to meet its working capital
requirements. Since these Financial Institutions will only review
and process applications for the proposed release of the CVT
Guarantees after Completion, under the SPA, each of Huili
Caitong and Chengyu Vanadium Titano has undertaken to
Sichuan Lingyu that it will procure the release of the CVT
Guarantees within one year after the Registration Completion
Date (or such other date that may be agreed by the parties
in writing). In order to minimize the risk of the Group under
the CVT Guarantees pending the completion of the release
procedures, Chengyu Vanadium Titano and the Company
had on 30 July 2019, entered into the counter indemnity (the
"Counter Indemnity”) for the provision of counter-indemnity by
Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in respect
of the Group's liabilities and claims under the CVT Guarantees.
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According to the Counter Indemnity, Chengyu Vanadium
Titano’s inventories (including but not limited to structural
steels, coals etc.) of approximately RMB767.0 million will be
pledged as security for such counter-indemnity. The Counter
Indemnity will be effective from the Registration Completion
Date to the date of the release of the CVT Guarantees. Upon
completion of the release of the CVT Guarantees, the Counter
Indemnity will be released contemporaneously.

Provision of technical consultancy services by
the Group to the Disposal Group

On 28 September 2018, Sichuan Lingyu entered into a technical
consultancy service agreement (“Technical Consultancy Service
Agreement”) with Huili Caitong, pursuant to which Sichuan
Lingyu shall provide technical consultancy services in relation
to mine development, mine core engineering design and
project management, mine geological engineering, safety,
environmental management, and other training and advisory
services to Huili Caitong from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2020 (or such earlier date as the parties may agree). Huili
Caitong shall pay to Sichuan Lingyu an annual service fee of
RMB8.6 million during the term of the Technical Consultancy
Service Agreement. The agreement decision was based on upon
assessment of a quotation provided by a third party with similar
scope of services and negotiated on an arm’s length basis.

RERBERE BOANKNETE (21
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The Group currently owns 81% equity interest in a mining
specialist firm, Mancala Holdings, which allows the Group to tap
into foreign mining expertise, as well as gaining access to the
technical fields of such expertise in internationally recognised
standards in terms of efficiency, safety, environmental
management and innovative training methods for mining
operations. Given such capabilities, the Group started to provide
technical consultancy services to the Disposal Group in 2018.
Leveraged on the Group’s expertise in mining operations, the
continual provision of the technical consultancy services to the
Disposal Group after Completion has become an additional
revenue stream for the Group. Among others, the Technical
Consultancy Service Agreement has also facilitated the smooth
transition of operations for Chengyu Vanadium Titano.

Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract
of significance has been entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the substantial shareholders during the year ended
31 December 2019.

Annual review conducted by the independent
non-executive Directors on the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions
were entered into:

o in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
° on normal commercial terms; and
o in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the

relevant transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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Annual review conducted by the auditor of

the Company on the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
Company’s auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this annual report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The auditor of the Company has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above and confirmed to the Board that:

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;

o for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group;

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the amount of each of the transactions has exceeded its
specific amount mentioned above.
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The Company confirms that the execution and performance of
the specific agreements in respect of above continuing connected
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2019 were in
compliance with the pricing principles of such continuing connected
transactions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the "CG Code”).

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures.

The audit committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and
Mr. Wu Wen.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the audit committee has
reviewed: (i) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
and annual results announcement for the year ended 31 December
2018 and (ii) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
interim results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the audit committee has
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. Details of the risk management and internal control of the
Group are set out on pages 83 to 88 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee currently comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman), one executive
Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu
Wen.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions relating to pre-emptive rights over Shares under
the Articles.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the CG Code. Throughout the year ended
31 December 2019, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code except for code provisions A1.3,
A.4.1 and A.6.7 as described in the Corporate Governance Report.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to pages
68 to 92 of this annual report.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INFORMATION

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a new service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 12 December 2019. Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu,
an executive Director, entered into a new service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2020.

On 13 November 2019, Mr. Yu Haizong, an independent non-executive
Director, ceased to be the independent non-executive director and
chairman of the audit committee of Sichuan Expressway Company
Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no change in Directors’ and chief
executives’ information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements of this annual report. The Company has complied with
the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules for those related
party transactions which constituted connected transaction/continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules, as disclosed in the
section headed “Very Substantial Disposal and Connected Transaction/
Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions” on pages 55 to 61
of this annual report. Save for the abovementioned, other related
party transactions as set out in note 37 to the financial statement
either did not constitute connected transactions/continuing connected
transactions or constituted connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions but were exempted from all disclosure and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief and as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

(V)

(ii)

64

Employees

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 184
dedicated full time employees, increased by approximately 5.7 %
as compared to previous year under comparable basis. The
employee turnover rate for the year was approximately 5.4%.
The total full time employees included 52 female employees
and 132 male employees, of which 33 employees were aged
30 or below, 51 employees were aged between 31 and 40, 70
employees were aged between 41 and 50, and 30 employees
were aged 51 or above. Management maintained good
communications with the employees and encouraged feedback
from them. The proper training programmes were implemented
in order to promote employees’ career development and
progression within the Group. The Group evaluated the
employees regularly, promotions and further training were
provided when necessary.

Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s suppliers mainly consisted of
mining contractors, transportation contractors, suppliers of
production-related materials and trading companies. The Group
selected the suppliers based on various criteria, including but
are not limited to qualifications and reputations. The Group
has established long-term relationship with the major mining
contractor for more than 7 years, the transportation contractors
for more than 5 years, and both the suppliers of production
related materials and trading companies for more than 5
years. The Group has continued to maintain sound business
relationships with major suppliers, and no incidents that will
adversely affect the Group’s product supply have occurred.
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(iii) Customers

During the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 91.3% of the total revenue. The Group
maintained good relationships with the customers who required
stable supply for these bulk raw materials, these customers are
distributors and trading companies. The Group has established
long-term relationship with the customers for 4 to 6 years.
The trading of steels and coals contributed 70.8% of the total
revenue of the Group.

Please refer to the financial statements of this annual report for
more details of the Group’s trading terms with its customers as
set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
The Company has always been closely communicating with its
stakeholders, actively responding to their needs, and taking those into
consideration during the corporate strategy formulation and decision
making process. The Company sees sustainable development as the
key for a corporation to succeed and therefore, it aims to seek a win-
win situation for the Group, society and the environment by balancing
between the creation of economic value and the impact on the
environment.

The Group strictly complies with various national environmental
protection laws and regulations. It has implemented a series of
measures to alleviate environmental impacts of ore mining, processing
and transporting. The Group has established rules for pollutant control
and waste disposal, including the proper way of handling airborne
dust, waste oil, noise, mine rocks and tailings generated during ore
mining and the promotion of waste recycling; the Group has also
brought in new equipment to improve resource use efficiency and built
tailings pond to control ecological impact and improve water resources
recycling; electricity consumption has been reduced by improving
the Group's facilities and technologies and increasing the proportion
of new energy purchases such as hydropower, thereby controlling
greenhouse gas emission; the Group supports green operations and
encourages its employees to adopt environmentally friendly working
habits. For further information about the Company’'s environmental
performance during the year, please refer to the Company’s separate
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be issued by the
Company. The report will be available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’'s website
after its publication.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under various
laws. In addition, the Listing Rules also apply to the Company.

The relevant PRC laws which had a material implication or impact
on the operation of the Group during the year include, among other
things, the Work Safety Law of the PRC*, Labour Law of the PRC*,
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC*, Land Administration Law of
the PRC*, Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the PRC*, Mineral
Resources Law of the PRC*, Law of the PRC on Safety in Mines*, Law
of the PRC on Water and Soil Conservation*, Law of the PRC on Wholly
Foreign-Owned Enterprises* and Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax* and the applicable regulations, guidelines and policies issued or
promulgated under or in connection with these laws.

The relevant Australian laws which had a material implication or
impact on the operation of the Group include, among other things,
Corporations Act (2001) and Environmental Protection and Biodiversity
Act (1999) at the national level of Australia, Work Health and Safety
Act (2012) and Mineral Resources Development Act (1995) in Tasmania,
Occupational Health and Safety Act (2004) and Mineral Resources
(Sustainable Development) Act (1990) in Victoria, Work Health and
Safety Act (2011) and Mining Act (1992) in New South Wales, Work
Health and Safety Act (2011) and Mineral Resources Development Act
(1989) in Queensland, and Occupational Health and Safety Act (1984)
and WA Mining Act (1978) in Western Australia.

The Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements
through various measures such as internal controls, trainings and
oversight of various business units at different levels of the Group.
The Group highly values the importance of ensuring compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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AUDITOR BB

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company for RRARERLZXEFMEHAEERQRBE
the year ended 31 December 2019. A resolution will be proposed for 2019 12 AT HILFENZEM - FHENZE
approval by the Shareholders at the 2020 AGM to re-appoint Ernst & ZX AN E ST AR A B Z AN R R RGN

Young as auditor of the Company. 20205 R RBFRE LR 2 NS IR R AL
On behalf of the Board REE=EZS

Teh Wing Kwan FE

Chairman ROk FE

26 March 2020 202093 H26H
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The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. The Directors consider that during the year ended 31
December 2019, the Company has complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code except for code provisions A.1.3, A.4.1 and A.6.7.

Code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code stipulates that notice of at least
14 days should be given of a regular Board meeting to give all Directors
an opportunity to attend. During the Reporting Period, a regular Board
meeting was convened with less than 14 days’ notice to enable the
Directors to react timely and make expeditious decisions in respect
of the operations and internal affairs of the Group. As a result, the
relevant Board meeting was held with a shorter notice period than
required with the consent of all the Directors. The Board meeting was
nevertheless duly convened and held in accordance with the Articles.
The Board will use its best endeavours to comply with code provision
A.1.3 of the CG Code in the future.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the non-executive Director, is not appointed for
a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1.
However, as Mr. Teh Wing Kwan's appointment is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election by the Shareholders at the annual general
meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles, in the
opinion of the Directors, this meets the objective of the CG Code.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code stipulates that independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should generally
attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the Shareholders. Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu Wen did not
attend the annual general meeting held on 19 June 2019 due to other
business commitments.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
information that reasonably reveals that there is any non-compliance
with or deviation from applicable code provisions on corporate
governance practices set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules by the
Company anytime during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive Directors,
a non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules.
This provides a healthy professional relationship between the Board
and senior management in the process of formulating business
strategies for the Group. The Board is also supported by other key
committees to provide independent oversight of management. These
key committees are the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee and are made up of the majority of independent
non-executive Directors. As of the date of this annual report, the
composition and committees of the Board are as follows:

Board member

ExEgmE

Non-executive Director
HTES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman)
B AESE (FE)

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping (Chief executive officer)
BRYERE (HEHNTE)

Mr. Hao Xiemin (Financial controller)

TR B (A A )

Mr. Wang Hu

FREE

Independent non-executive Directors
BIYXHTES

Mr. Yu Haizong

REBREE

Mr. Liu Yi

2R EE

Mr. Wu Wen

RXFEE

Notes:

C: Chairman
M: Member

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 31 to
36 of this annual report.
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Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a new service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 12 December 2019. Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu,
an executive Director, entered into a new service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2020.
The appointment of each of the executive Directors may be terminated
in accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective service
contracts and/or by either party to the service contract giving to the
other party not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, each an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2017, respectively.
Mr. Wu Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2017. The appointment of each of
the independent non-executive Directors are subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of
appointment.

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the chairman and non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 26 July
2017 and pursuant to which, his appointment is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the Articles. The appointment of Mr. Teh
is terminable by either party to the letter of appointment by giving the
other party not less than two months' prior notice in writing.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The key roles of the Board are:

o to guide the overall development, corporate strategies and
directions of the Group, approve the Board policies, strategies
and financial objectives of the Group and monitor the
performance of management;

o to ensure effective management leadership of the highest
quality and integrity;

o to approve major funding proposals and investments; and
o to provide overall insight in the proper conduct of the Group's
business.
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The Board has delegated certain functions to the relevant Board
committees, details of which are disclosed below. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management
of the Company under the supervision of the executive Directors. The
functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held four regular Board
meetings for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, considering the overall strategies and policies of the
Group and the Disposal. Save for one regular Board meeting which
was convened with less than 14 days’ notice as disclosed above in this
Corporate Governance Report, sufficient notice convening the Board
meeting was dispatched to the Directors setting out the matters to
be discussed. All the Directors were given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for the Board meetings and had access to the
company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) and joint company
secretaries of the Company (the “Joint Company Secretaries” and each,
the “Joint Company Secretary”) (during the period from 30 December
2019 and up to 31 March 2020) to ensure that all board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations were followed. The Board also
enabled the Directors to seek independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense in appropriate circumstances. At the meetings, the
Directors were provided with the relevant documents to be discussed
and approved. The Company Secretary/Joint Company Secretaries were
responsible for keeping minutes for the Board meetings.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held two general meetings.
The following is the attendance record of the meetings held by
the Board, audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination
committee and the Shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2019:

EEgCERMOBETHERESTZE S F15
RTIXEE - AEEEBNAETERCERTA
RREEE UYX¥HTEFEE -HHERNE
BEMENSEIEHRNABRERBEES
o

RWEAR AR BRTORNTESES
FOUBRF RIEV B REERE UREER
SEEERBERBRARLESE - RIONADE
ERAMELXFIEE BHEP—KEZSTH
CHEEHNBMNLRARIIN RARIERNESH
BOARNESTSCRNADEN JIBES LR
MEH SEFYARHEBENAZEEE S SR
2 WATEARRMAEWE ([RalwE]) K
FARWE ([BEARMWE]) (B2019F124
308 #£ £2020F3A318 (F HAR ) B 4% - LA RE(R
PHEESRFREBEAREHEIIEET-
EEQNEREENEHEEBRATSRBLEES
B BRAMHARARAE - EERgE LEER
BilmRILEN BBt - RFWE HE AR
NMEBEREFETRHETERLE

RBEMA ARBBRITHABRAG -EEE
ERLZEE FHEZEE REZESMRERRR

HZE2019F 12A3MBIEFERETNESENLTFE
WLEIE

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

HEEEREETEERY

Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Board committee committee committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
ERZES FMZEES REZEE
EEpE Exges g2 g2 =E BRERAE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan 4/4 - - 11 2/2
kiR
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 4/4 - 2/2 11 2/2
Bh¥is
Mr. Hao Xiemin 4/4 - - - 212
ik e
Mr. Wang Hu 4/4 - - - 2/2
TRRAE
Mr. Yu Haizong 4/4 2/2 2/2 11 172
RERGAE
Mr. Liu Yi 4/4 2/2 2/2 171 2/2
2R EE
Mr. Wu Wen 4/4 212 - 11 12
RNk
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contributions
to the board remain informed and relevant.

All the Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates the
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All the Directors had provided the Company with their respective
training records pursuant to the CG Code. During the year, all the
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development by way of reading materials relevant to the Group's
business or to Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

The individual training record of each Director during the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out below:

Non-executive Director
FHITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman)
B RERE (FE)

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping (Chief executive officer)
BhYEE(BEEHTE)

Mr. Hao Xiemin (Financial controller)

MWL E (HHAAE

Mr. Wang Hu
TREE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIYFHTES

Mr. Yu Haizong

REREE

Mr. Liu Yi
BBk L

Mr. Wu Wen
R4
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(1)X2(2)

(1) and (2)
(MXk(2)
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Notes:

(1) Reading relevant materials and updates relating to the Listing Rules and

other applicable regulatory requirements and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

(2) Reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Company’s chairman and the chief executive are
segregated. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan is the chairman of the Board who
is chiefly responsible for managing the Board and acting in the best
interest of the Group and the Shareholders, while Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
is the chief executive officer of the Company who takes charge of the
supervision of the execution of the policies determined by the Board.

The chairman chairs the Board meetings and briefs the Board members
on the issues discussed at the Board meetings. The chairman also
ensures that the Board members work together with the management
with the capability and authority to engage management in
constructive views on various matters, including strategic issues and
business planning processes.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or, if the number
is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third shall retire from the office and shall be eligible for re-
election. The Directors to be retired by rotation shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last appointment or re-election. Every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years. Any other appointment, resignation,
removal or re-designation of Director will be timely disclosed
to the Shareholders by announcement and shall include in such
announcement, the reasons given by the Director for his resignation.

The Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship with
regard to the balance of skills and experience appropriate to the
Group's business.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The audit committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yu
Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen. The audit committee’s
main functions are:

o to be responsible for the relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, including making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal,

o to review and monitor the external auditor’'s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and to develop and
implement policy on the engaging of an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

o to monitor the integrity of the financial statements and annual/
interim reports and quarterly reports (if prepared for publication)
and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them; and

o to oversee the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems.

During the year, the audit committee held two meetings and performed
the following major tasks:

o reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group and annual results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2018, and reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and interim results announcement for
the six months ended 30 June 2019;

o reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impacts on the financial statements;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’'s qualifications,
independence and performance;
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o reviewed the Company's external auditor’s statutory audit plan,

audit scope and engagement letters; and

o assisted the Board to evaluate on the adequacy and
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and financial reporting procedures.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
directly reporting to the audit committee. The internal audit personnel
will attend the audit committee meetings and report on internal audit
matters annually. If there is any material internal control defect, the
internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit committee without
limitation. The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the
risk exposures, design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk
management and internal control systems. The audit committee will
report to the Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the audit committee has
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems and the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function. Details of the
risk management and internal control of the Group are set out on
pages 83 to 88 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with CG Code. The remuneration
committee currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping.

The remuneration committee’s main functions are:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

o to review and approve performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;
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o to determine, with delegated responsibilities, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors or senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

o to consider the granting of share options to Directors, chief
executives, substantial Shareholders or employees of any
member of the Group and any person who has contributed or
will contribute to the development and growth of the Group
pursuant to the share option schemes adopted by the Company;

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

o to review and approve the interim reports, annual reports,
announcements and circulars or any publication of the Company
regarding information on the remuneration and service contracts
of the Directors prior to approval by the Board.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two meetings, at
which the members of the remuneration committee:

o reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors;

° assessed the performance of the Directors; and

o considered and approved the terms of the Directors' service
agreements.
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The remuneration paid/payable to senior management (comprising
Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2019 by band is set out

below:

Remuneration Director’s
Name of Director band fee
EEfg yHEE Eshe

%

Chairman and non-executive Director
IRRFUTES
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan® HKD1,000,000 - 1,500,000 100
BojES 1,000,000 - 1,500,000/ 7
Executive Directors
BTES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping RMB200,000 - 500,000 585
BTt AR 200,000 - 500,0007
Mr. Hao Xiemin RMB200,000 - 500,000 32.2
f il AK#200,000 - 500,000
Mr. Wang Hu RMB200,000 - 500,000 32.2
TREE A #200,000 - 500,0007T
Independent non-executive Directors
BIFHTES
Mr. Yu Haizong RMB100,000 - 200,000 100
REREE AR 100,000 - 200,0007C
Mr. Liu i RMB100,000 - 200,000 100
Bl AR 100,000 - 200,0007
Mr. Wu Wen RMB100,000 - 200,000 100
RRE AR 100,000 - 200,000
# Mr. Teh Wing Kwan has voluntarily received HKD1 during the Reporting

Period and deferred the remaining outstanding balances payable by the

Company and/or its subsidiary.

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind

¥4 2UR
ENEN

%

35.7
64.6

64.6

Share
options

hRuiE
%

Pension
scheme
contributions
Bike

HE J:3:

%

58
3.2

32

REZE2019F12A31BILEE B/ EMAEH
EBRAB (BEES)NFHHESHINOT

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

LK SR AN RS BN B BRI B T - IIERE
ARE R/ FEFRAENOBT RS-

78 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2019 ANNUAL REPORT



NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The nomination
committee currently comprises the non-executive Director, Mr. Teh Wing
Kwan (Chairman), one executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong,
Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen.

The nomination committee’s main functions are:

o to review the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nomination for directorships
with due regard to the nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”)
and the board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”) of the
Company and other factors which are relevant to the Company;

o to develop and formulate the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy for the Board’s consideration and approval;

J to discuss any revisions to the Nomination Policy and the
Board Diversity Policy that may be required, and recommend
such revisions to the Board for the Board's consideration and
approval;

o to review, implement and monitor, as appropriate, the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

o to review measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing any of the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, and monitor the progress on achieving such
objectives;
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o to assess the independence of independent non-executive

Directors with reference to, inter alia, the factors set out in the
Listing Rules and any other factors deemed appropriate by the
nomination committee or the Board and assess their ability to
devote sufficient time to the Board and Board committees;

o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive;

° to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship; and

. to keep under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in
the market place.

The Board Diversity Policy is concerned with a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development and increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. The Board Diversity
Policy has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
the Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

During the year, the nomination committee held one meeting, at which
the members of the nomination committee:

. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Directors;
° evaluated the performance and contribution of the retiring

Directors; and

. assessed the independence of the retiring independent non-
executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance function as set out below:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance and legal and regulatory requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

o to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board held four meetings, at which the Board
considered and discussed, among other things, the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors, as well as the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration paid/payable
(excluding out-of-pocket expenses and value added tax) by the Group
to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, is set out below:
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND GOING
CONCERN STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for each financial period, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare audited accounts. Senior management
is required to present and explain the financial reporting and matters
that materially affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Group to the audit committee
and the Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the
audit committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Subsequent to the Completion and as at 31 December 2019, the
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going-concern
basis.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The
audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the risk exposures,
design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The audit committee will report to the
Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group established an independent internal audit function directly
reporting to the audit committee. The internal audit personnel will
attend the audit committee meetings and report on internal audit
matters annually. If there is any material internal control defect, the
internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit committee without
limitation. Meanwhile, the Group appointed an international advisory
firm as an external advisor in November 2018 to provide internal
control services under a three-year rotation plan based on a risk-based
methodology.

Under the supervision of the Board, the management of the Group
is responsible for designing and implementing the Group's risk
management and internal control systems. The Group has set up three
lines of defense for risk management. As the first line of defense, the
business units (e.g., sales department and production department) are
responsible for identifying and assessing business risks and developing
risk mitigation measures. As the second line of defense, the functional
departments (e.g., compliance department and finance department)
are responsible for assisting the business units to improve the risk
management and monitoring the effectiveness of risk management. As
the third line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Board
and the audit committee to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

As and when required during the year, the management convened
meetings which were chaired by the senior management with
attendants including managers from subsidiaries and department
heads from the headquarters. The Group’s decisions on operations,
implementation of investment projects, financial issues, and the
updates on risk management and internal control were considered and
determined in these meetings. The management convened annual and
interim work meetings in order to assign and review works on a yearly
basis and half yearly basis, respectively. The meetings have facilitated
the organisation, co-ordination, communication and supervision on the
commencement and implementation of the Group's various operations,
as well as the risk management and internal control systems.
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The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information include:

o the Company has established a sensitive information disclosure
policy, which specified the information disclosure process,
the confidentiality requirements of the undisclosed sensitive
information, the confidentiality obligations of the employees of
the Group, etc;

o the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

° confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations;

. the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors;

° the service contracts of the Directors, senior management and
the employees of the Group specify the confidentiality clauses;
and

° the legal advisors of the Company regularly provide relevant

training to the Board and senior management.

Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk management mechanism
according to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework. The
Board has established risk management policies and measures on the
procedures of risk identification, evaluation, reporting and mitigation.
The risk management mechanism covers the whole Group’s various
risks in the business operations and management. The functional
department of risk management is the compliance department of the
Group, which reports to the audit committee and is responsible for
the establishment and operations of the risk management system and
coordination of risk management, supervision and evaluation of the risk
management, as well as providing advice for material risk decisions.
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The compliance department of the Group periodically collected risk
information and conducted risk evaluation through questionnaires,
workshops, management meetings, etc., which were reported to
senior management in a timely manner. In 2019, based on the Group's
production and business conditions, the compliance department
of the Group summarised a total of 75 risk factors, categorised as
strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk and financial risk. The
management scored the risk factors based on their understanding,
production and operation experiences and determined the risk
mitigation and internal control measures to address the risks. The
identified top five risks and the related risk response measures were as
below:

o market conditions of iron ore industry are highly related to
the macroeconomic condition, which will affect the Group's
revenue. Various economic data of the PRC has never been
ideal. First was the impact from the escalating US-China trade
tension under which the two countries have slapped tariffs
on each other's goods. Then there was the slower pace of
China GDP growth which weighed down the shift in iron ore
demand. Many anticipate that the overall demand for iron ore
in China may continue in a downtrend as investment sags and
manufacturing performance slips, and the effects of the stimulus
measures to support infrastructure projects may subside. In
face of the unfavourable operating environment, the Group
has streamlined its operations amidst challenging and highly
volatile business conditions. These focused strategies led the
Group to specifically reorganize its segmental assets and during
the Reporting Period, it announced that it would dispose of
the entire stake in those business units which own, operate
and manage the Low Fe Mines and Inactive Mines (as part of
the Group’s major restructuring exercise). On 30 July 2019, the
Group announced the Completion of these restructuring and
disposal plans. The Group recorded a one-off gain on disposal
of subsidiaries amounting to RMB153.0 million in relation to the
Disposal;

o timely collection of trade receivables is important to the Group's
cash flow. Lack of proper credit management may lead to
high risk sales, while excessive trade receivables’ balance will
affect the Group's financial performance. Since 2018, the
management has strengthened the review and approval on
the sales contracts and sales orders; meanwhile, the sales and
finance departments have conducted periodical evaluation on
the collection of trade receivables and contractual performance
of major customers, and followed up on the overdue trade
receivables;
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raising funds to ensure the virtuous cycle of working capital
is vital. Given the moderating economic growth in China and
soaring debts at the macro level, many banks and financial
institutions in China, to a larger extent, have tightened their
lending policies and adopted more prudent measures in
approving and renewing loans. As the Group's business falls
under the categories which have been extensively affected by
the conservative banking approaches, the Group is well aware
of the difficulties and uncertainties in obtaining long-term
banking facilities and potentially, at higher funding costs. For
the best interests of the Group, the management discussed
and negotiated with the banks for the interest rates and the
expiry dates upon the renewal of the bank loans. Meanwhile,
to actively implement the budget management, the Group held
regular monthly meetings to analyse the budget implementation
and the following month’s budget plan to ensure efficient and
rational use of funds; and

to further promote low carbon development and environmental
protection, the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
PRC (the “MEE") and the NDRC in April 2019 jointly issued
the “Opinions on Advancing the Implementation of the Ultra-
low Emissions in the Steel Industry” to set the objectives of
completing 60% of conversion to ultra-low emission production
in steel enterprises in focused areas before the end of 2020,
and over 80% of conversion in areas other than the focused
areas before the end of 2025. In order to alleviate the pressure
on the environment, in 2019, the Group disposed its business
operations producing and selling low-grade iron concentrates
which comparably proved to be more polluted; and

mine management is of great importance to ore producers.
The Group has adopted various ways to improve the safety and
orderliness of mine production, such as strengthened overhaul
towards the equipment, more frequent staff training, etc.
According to the risk evaluation, the management considered
the possibility of mine management failure to be low due to
the Group's continuous focus on mine management. However,
considering its huge implication if occurred, the management
took it as a major risk for the Group to pay continuous close
attention.
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Internal Control

The audit committee supervises and inspects the comprehensiveness
and implementation of the internal control system of the Group,
and regularly discusses with the management on the system in order
to ensure that the management performs its duties to establish an
effective internal control framework.

The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the assets
of the Group and maintain proper accounting records, execution
with appropriate authority and compliance of the relevant laws and
regulations. The Board has established and evaluated the relevant
internal control system across three spectrums covering the corporate
governance and system, business and accounting procedures and
information system control. The Group has developed the management
policy and procedures and exerted strict evaluation on personnel
performance. The Board has established internal control and risk
management mechanism according to the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission’s Internal Control
Integrated Framework. The main features of the framework are as
follows:

o control environment:
practices regarding acceptable business practice or expected
standards of ethical and moral behaviours, management of
conflict of interest, authority and responsibility, legal and
regulatory compliance, etc;

including code of conduct and other

. risk assessment:
assessment and management, compliance management, etg;

including objective management, risk

. control activities: including sales, trade receivables and
trade payables and payment,

production and costing, human resources and payroll,

collection, procurement,
assets
management,

technology general controls, etc;

treasury, financial reporting, information

o information and communication: including forecasting and
budgeting, internal and external communication, confidentiality

and data protection; and

o monitoring activities: including internal audit function, reporting
of internal control defects, etc.
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In 2019, the internal audit function of the Group, with the assistance
of an international advisory firm, performed an annual review and self-
assessment on the above internal control system in order to monitor
its operations in a timely manner. The main work procedures included
policy review, interview with key process owners, sample testing, etc.
As a result of the self-assessment, the Group updated some policies
and procedures in accordance with the actual business operations and
practice of the Group. For the identified 14 issues, the Group requested
the relevant departments to take remediation action in a timely manner.
The internal audit function together with an international advisory firm
reported the self-assessment result to the audit committee. The Board,
through the audit committee, reviewed the work of the internal audit
function as well. After a follow-up review on the remediation status
of the identified issues, the Group believed that a proper internal
control system was established and executed, and no significant area of
concern which might affect the Shareholders was found.

The Board conducts review of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems at least once a year. The Group's risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. For the year ended 31 December
2019, the Board, through the audit committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal control
(including financial, operational and compliance controls), and was
of the view that the Group complied with the relevant CG Code of
risk management and internal control and concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and adequate,
and such controls effectively mitigated the risks that might have impact
on the Group in achieving its strategic objectives.
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COMPANY SECRETARY/JOINT COMPANY
SECRETARY

Mr. Kong Chi Mo had been the Company Secretary from 4 September
2009 to 29 December 2019 and one of the Joint Company Secretaries
since 30 December 2019 to 31 March 2020. On 30 December 2019,
Mr. Chong Eng Wee has been appointed as the other Joint Company
Secretary. Mr. Kong Chi Mo resigned as a Joint Company Secretary
with effect from 1 April 2020, and since then, Mr. Chong Eng Wee
has become the sole Company Secretary. Mr. Chong Eng Wee is a
partner and the head of corporate at Kennedys Legal Solutions Pte
Ltd. and his primary contact person of the Company is Mr. Wang Hu,
an executive Director. According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, an
issuer's company secretary must take no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in each financial year. During the year, Mr. Kong
Chi Mo has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training. As Mr. Chong Eng Wee was appointed as the Joint Company
Secretary one day before the end of the Reporting Period, he will
comply with the professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules for the year ending 31 December 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, Shareholder(s) holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (the "Requisitionist(s)”) may, by written requisition
(the “Requisition”) to the Board or the Company Secretary, require an
extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in the Requisition. The
Requisition shall be deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The EGM shall be held within two months
after the deposit of the Requisition. In the event that the Board fails to
proceed to convene the EGM within twenty-one days of the deposit of
the Requisition, the Requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by
the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In respect of other
enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong which will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

In 2019, the Company continued to communicate with Shareholders,
investors and analysts in an honest manner through various channels.
Timely disclosure of corporate information and necessary data for
valuation purpose has been fully provided so as to help the capital
market understand the investment value of the Company. The main
communication channels with the Shareholders include:

Annual general meetings

The annual general meeting is an important discussion platform for
the Shareholders to participate in, facilitating the communications
between the management of the Company and the Shareholders. The
annual general meeting is held once a year, being accessible to all the
Shareholders. The Directors answer any questions the Shareholders have
at the annual general meeting, being attended by the external auditor
and the Company Secretary. All matters proposed to the Shareholders
for approval shall be submitted in separate resolutions and resolved
by way of poll at the annual general meeting. The procedures of
conducting a poll will be explained in details to the Shareholders and
the voting results will be set out on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's
website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website.
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Annual reports, interim reports, announcements
and circulars

The Company issues its annual reports and interim reports after
publishing the annual results and the interim results in March and
August every year, respectively, so as to periodically review the
development of the Group as well as to update its Shareholders
with its latest business information and market trends.
the Company will inform the Shareholders through announcements
regarding any major event or inside information in a timely manner. For

In addition,

any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders, the Company
will hold an EGM according to the requirements of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and issue a circular prior to the specific date of the
meeting, allowing the Shareholders to have sufficient time to learn
more about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars will be uploaded to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company's website.

The chairman of the Board also encourages Shareholders and investors
to write to him directly if they wish so. He has included his email
address in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 10 of
this annual report.

The Company’s website

The Company’s website offers timely access to the Group’s press
releases and other business information. Through its website, the
Company provides the Shareholders with electronic versions of the
financial reports, the latest slide presentations, as well as up-to-date
news about the Group's business, announcements, general information,
etc. To make contributions to environmental protection and maintain
effective communication with the Shareholders, the Group encourages
all Shareholders to browse the Company’s corporate communication
files on the Company’s website.
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Corporate Governance Report

CEERARE

Investor contacts and enquiries

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle Shareholders’ enquiries. Should investors have any enquiries,
please contact the Company’s external Investor Relations Consultant via
email at ir@chinavtmmining.com.

The Company will ensure that the information of the work on investor
relations is disclosed in a timely and accurate manner, and will react to
the capital market effectively and smoothly. This can help the capital
market to better understand its development strategies and operating
conditions.

REEHBREN

REBMBEPI BB G SREEE OB
RERBRREA-REEMAEMEN &
MEAAANIMREEBEER T8 5

ir@chinavtmmining.com °
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Independent Auditor’s Report

]
EY:

To the shareholders of
China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Central, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 101 to 249, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Ernst & Young ZXKEETEIE R
22/F, CITIC Tower ERPIRAEEIR
1 Tim Mei Avenue hiEARE2218

B % B

Tel ERE: +852 2846 9888
Fax 8 E: +852 2868 4432
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Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 S Az BEm R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

FREFTEE
MREAZTEISREBERMANEZHE  RAEX
PRaMBRERNEBEARA/EENFR -BLS
HREHGEVBHRREBETEFTLIRER
VES TETREN RATHELEREHRE
BOBR -BHMAY T E - FREEFFEWM
RS MR b IAM BE R -

BIPERET T ARE [ZBEIE 767
BERAENET] oA E T BEREE
SHEMAMNEE-BED RMOBFIESRE
MIT R AERA BRI EAHERR AR
BMRHEF - RARTEARFNER &
HREHTREHEMATORET  REENNERS
MEHBREREFTERRETER-
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Key audit matter

HREITEE

Impairment of non-current assets

HnBEERE

In accordance with IFRSs, the Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there are any indications of
impairment for its non-current assets. If such indications
of impairment exist, a formal estimate of the recoverable
amount is performed. The Group has material non-
current assets, including property, plant and equipment,
mining infrastructure, mining rights, and exploration
rights and assets. Based on the existing market conditions,
impairment indicators were identified for the Group’s main
cash-generating units (“CGUs"), other pre-development
stage mining rights, and exploration rights and assets.
RRERMEREEN . BRERZREHRFEEIER
PEEECAMBAERS - MRERREFE  Bg#ETER
WA EI G e BEXBEBEAFRDEE  BEDY
¥ MEREE REER REEARDREREE - -BRE
BRINmHER BEXRENTERCELEMC HEMEK
FENREEARDREREEFEREDTR -

Accordingly, management performed the impairment
assessment based on the discounted cash flow model on
these non-current assets and the related cash-generating
units. A total impairment loss on non-current assets of
RMB77,379,000 was recognised during the year. The
assessment of recoverable amounts involved significant
estimation uncertainty, subjective assumptions and
application of significant judgement, in relation to
recoverable reserves, commodity prices, the discount rate,
budgeted gross margin and production volumes.

At EREERNURRE RSB W ELIERDEERE
B3R G E A EAOETRER M  RFEEERHIEREDEER
EREE AR77,379,0007T ° AT Y Bl & BTl S R &
A EET AT L ER T B REMEBARHE - M Al &R E#
E AmER BERX BEEMNXNES-

The Group’s disclosures about impairment assessment for
these non-current assets are included in notes 10 and 15 to
financial statements.

ER BN ZEIERE)E BEIRE 1) 5 EE & 51 7 B 75 R B
10K 15°

Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 3z A R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHRENEEHEREMNES P RENAESEH

Our audit procedures included the following:
BN EARFEEATEE:

We tested the impairment model selected for each
CGU and class of assets based on our understanding
of the methodology and checked its mathematical
accuracy;

BPERE T ENER A SRAReELELLE
BEEENPGENREED WS EEHE FrER
M

We compared key market-derived estimates, including
commodity prices and interest rates, against external
data. We reviewed the sensitivity analysis of key
assumptions and estimates underlying the calculations
prepared by management;

Y ETSABNBRES (BEERERREAEX)
AP BN AR BIRETE L - R EBRERE R
HERN AR EBRRANEGRIED T

We compared key operational estimates in the models
to source data and publicly available information,
including the forward market price of iron ore and
gypsum and the growth rate of the gross domestic
product during last ten years in Australia;

FAP b BUIR B o BR A A B O B 4R ik AT ER BIUB 2IOIR
AARESHNER BREBEANATESATSERR
BMBETFNBEANEEREEERE:

We involved our valuation specialist to assist us in
evaluating the key valuation parameters such as the
discount rate calculation, the terminal growth rate
applied and the valuation model used; and
BMEBNLTEER B RMTEZEAREESR
g PInARIR RMEHE PR A K AR RAEA
B EER &

We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

BMTEF GV BmMRMT EWEAERERES R

o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 S Az BEm R

Key audit matter

HRETEE

Recoverability of trade receivables

JE IR 71 A9 AT B 1

The Group has material credit exposures in its portfolio
of trade receivables. As at 31 December 2019, the gross
balance of trade receivables was RMB215,357,000, of
which RMB7,204,000 was past due. As at 31 December
2019, a total provision for impairment of trade receivables
of RMB12,813,000 was recorded. The volatility of iron
ore and steel markets in 2019 increased the required
judgement in making the impairment assessment. The
assessment of impairment provision for trade receivables
involves significant management judgement including the
assessment of customers’ financial position, and expected
future cash flows from customers.
EEBEURERESFEERNEERMR - -7X2019F12H31
B EMER &% A AR EE215,357,0007T £ A i Hi fE U
R /R ARYE7,204,0007T © FA20195F 12 A31H - HEM
RGO RE BB AR R AR 1512,813,0007T © 20194F 8
EAMEET SN T REER BT HAERERHE -&
BEFEEREEFAEREREANSKABTLEIESR
PR MR RIEA RREEFPEDNR SR -

The Group’s disclosures about impairment assessment for
trade receivables and the related credit risk are included in
notes 3, 20 and 39 to financial statements.

& £ B R AR FORE AT 4 B R (E & A R e B FE &5
PSRRI L3 - 20%39 ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHEENEEEEMNES P RNMES R

Our audit procedures included the following:
BB EFERATSE:

We assessed and tested the controls over the loss
allowance estimation process;

AR LAABREEATEENER:

We checked the ageing analysis of trade receivables by
customer;

BB EPE oMW EEIRF R 21T

We assessed management’s assumptions used in the
calculation of the expected credit losses (“ECLs")
by checking the overdue balances, the customers’
historical payment patterns and bank receipts for
the payments received subsequent to the year end.
We also checked evidence for the latest progress in
collecting the outstanding amounts and the credit
status of these significant debtors by reviewing
correspondence with the debtors and by performing
company search; and

BB BREBIMER TRELNTBER L FLER
FHRITHIE  SFHEEEEEAERBERBLARER
BRE -BATE RS BREEZER ARAKEERE
BRMERNERBMGRRSEEAARNEER  TETA
AIE: &

We assessed the adequacy of disclosures regarding the
ECLs of trade receivables and the Group’s exposure to
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.
BRI hEe I HRRPERNEREFREBERESX
M EEEMEYHEERRNEERSESREA-
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the audit committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BEN SRS

FHRANEMER
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Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 S Az BEm R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRBMRET RS Y B WMRARE
HEE

BAPMER RYUGEAMBHRRBEEROIFE
R FF R M E RN B AHEREARG A 12
RE THABERMEROZEERSE - H M
EHEBRRELRE BRI RREAE
Hip k- BT SR EEN RS AR AER
Hi AL B FAEEMEE-

BERBRBKFHRE BETERILRR(E
BT EITHES ERX -ERERRA
TR AR 48 BE 35 3R o SERRIRUM AT DA R FF S 3 AR 5
B mREERHCMEBKRELLERTEZE
RAEMBRREMERESEPBHRERMELD
FORTE - BB B SE AR PR AT R ARVEE K ©

ERE (FEAFER) ETEANBES K
PEER T BXRAE  RiF T EXIEREE KM
DI

. BRIMFHERRFHBRMERSEA
MR FAEERHERRAN AR 5RF
RBITE BT AREELRE A KLE
RARMEENENBRE FRARMELR
RER - MRRFFA RS RBR BE-
ERER ERBL - RZBRAREE
ZE FEpAREEEHBRRAMFMEHNHEXN
R ERER AR EIREERM
BHMERERRANER -

. WA ERET R A RRES IR - AREHEE
MEFEF BEEMLIFY BEXEAM
ERNBEMMERER -

. HFEEEMRASABERNIRE ML RIE
HEsHAFT AR RENSE M-
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 3z A R
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Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 S Az BEm R

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2020

tHEZZESEANEE T  RAREWPLS
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeRaRkHEtEERER

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment

Impairment losses on other
intangible asset

Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables, net

Impairment losses on financial assets

included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets

Impairment losses on assets held for sale

Finance costs

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income tax credit/(expense)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Profit/(loss) for the year from
Discontinued Operations

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

A
& R A

E7

H WA e s
HERDHEAX
TTHRAX

H oA s2

W WE RRERERE
Hi &8 ERERE

& U5 R R 18 S 1R B B )% 3R

AR FRIR - E s YRR
REMEENEREERE
(g

FIFHWEEERERR

FA AR

FECEXBBARNE
(BE)

PrisBiE R,/ (FX)

FECEXBFRRNE,/
(B#])

SRIEREER

ERIEEEEBFRNE/
(EBH)

FRAFE (BE)

Year Ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A318IEFE

2019 2018

20194 20184

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M sE AR¥ET T ARET T
4,5 614,670 684,750
(561,195) (634,210)

53,475 50,540

5 5,922 602
(9,194) (11,284)

(47,437) (34,746)

(843) (2,256)

7 = (1,071)
7 (6,545) -
7 8,844 9,898
7 (2,083) (23)
7 (5,941) (1,469)
6 (4,039) (8,343)
7 (7.841) 1,848
9 (6,091) 2,808
(13,932) 4,656

10 74,319 (453,907)
60,387 (449,251)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBRakEMEmRaE R

Year Ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AREBT R AREBTTT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME : Hit 2 E W
Other comprehensive income that may  AITREREHEETHEZ=1E
be reclassified to profit or loss in A H M2 U
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of B GINEEE LN
foreign operations N ZH 743 989
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FrR2EEE (BR)EHE
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 61,130 (448,262)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FE (BER)EBR:
Owners of the Company FiN/NETEZ F N 69,199 (443,969)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR 42 = (8,812) (5,282)
60,387 (449,251)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EME, (EE)#B%E
attributable to: BN
Owners of the Company KRARHEEB A 69,800 (443,161)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R R (8,670) (5,101)
61,130 (448,262)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BERADNREERRERS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EANBRROER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY: (&) :
Basic and diluted EARKREE
— For profit/(loss) for the year —FERFE(EE) 12 RMBA R #0.0317 RMBA R #(0.197)7T
— For profit/(loss) from Continuing —REREEBIES
Operations (EB#E) 12 RMBA E #(0.003)7 RMBA X #0.0047C
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Other intangible asset

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Due from related parties

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale
Assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and bills payables
Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other loans

Due to related parties
Tax payable
Lease liabilities

Liabilities directly associated with

the assets classified as held for sale

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

FRBEE

M- BEMERE
ERERE

BVEE

HMELEE
FEFOR - A EWRRIE R
HtpEE
EXEHBEE

FRBEERE

REBEE

A

& U5 AR K
FERFRIR - E Al R WK IR )2
HiEE

& Y5 A Bt 73 3K R
ReMREFEY

DERBELENEE

DERFFELEN D EAR

MEE
REBEEME

REBRE

P BR AR N B4R
BHEE

H At & 5 3R0R K ST R
HRRITREMER

F& 1< BA B 73 3K R
&~ B 3K

HE&E

EOBRFIEHENEE
HERARNEE

REBREAR

RBEE(AE)FH

2019 2018

20195 20184

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
b AR¥T R ARET T
13 190,849 159,203
16 3,178 -
14 736,666 737,526
15 137 7,525
17 1,125 1,172
18 12,783 17,601
944,738 923,027

19 29,418 23,627
20 202,544 105,229
17 8,615 21,222
21 22,096 -
22 26,689 33,696
289,362 183,774

23 35,832 41,169
10 = 1,297,877
325,194 1,522,820

24 68,463 54,235
25 5,820 5,811
26 88,390 77,878
27 99,247 84,645
21 40,638 9,805
9,435 9,154

16 1,254 -
313,247 241,528

10 = 1,291,490
313,247 1,533,018

11,947 (10,198)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R
As at 31 December 2019
201912 A318

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank and other loans

Provision for rehabilitation
Other payables
Lease liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Jiang Zhong Ping &+ ¥
Director %
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EERERRDEE

FRBEE
FHEIRITREAMER
BIREE

H & 1+ 3R
HERE

FRBEERAE

BEEZRE

R

EERRATERANES

BBITIRA
ffEH

FERER

EaAE

Hao Xiemin i &
Director &%

Notes

B

27
28
26
16

29
31

2019
20195
RMB’000
AR¥T T

956,685

12,847
849
1,375

15,071

941,614

197,889
446,851

644,740
296,874

941,614

2018
20184
RMB’000
ARETT

912,829

16,149
1,833
1,151

19,133

893,696

197,889
376,848

574,737
318,959

893,696



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERESEX

Year ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019F12A31AILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
FEREDTREA

Difference

arising from

Safety acquisition

Share fund Share of non- Exchange Non-

Issued premium Statutory surplus ~ Contributed option controlling Capital fluctuation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserves reserve surplus reserve interests reserve reserves losses Total interests equity

BEEER

R2E¢ Rtk REEE 34

BEARR  ROERE  EEORE EELi #ARH i ] i | RELR #f gitEa A FERER Li:E2

RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RVB000 RVB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARKTR  ARMTR  ARMTR ARETR  ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR ARRTR ARRTR ARMTR AR%TR

note 30/
note 29 note 31(a) note 31(b) note 31(d) note 31(¢) note 31(e) note 31f)
/
EL] Hi316) HiE31(b) LiE=][0] Lix]I(] Bl LiEEi]
At 1 January 2018 201851518 197,889 1877488 0,176 160,643 87,238 40,144 (852,820) 186,200 (113) (895,938) 1,020907 324198 1,345,105
Effect of adopton o FRS 9 AR RSNz NYE - - - - - - - - - 3,009) (3,009 (138) 314)
At 1 January 2018 (restated) R018F171A (HE5)) 197,889 1877488 220,176 160,643 871,238 40,144 (852,820) 186,200 (113) (898,947) 1,017,898 324,060 1,341,958
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - - - (443,969) (443,969) (5,282) (449,251)
Other comprehensive income ERE2ENE
for the year :
Exchange differences on tranglation of BEMRRRELNENZE
financial tatements - - - - - - - - 808 - 808 181 989
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) FheEdE/ (58)58
for the year - - - - - - - - 808 443,969) (443,161) (5,101) (448,262)
Utiisation for safety fund surplus reserve BET2EL5ARE - - - (5,649) - - - - - 5649 - - -
Provision of safety fund surplus reserve: REZ2ECEERE - - - 2183 - - - - - (21,833) - - -
At31 December 2018 20185128318 197,889 1877,488* 20,176 176,827 87,038* 40,144* (852,820)* 186,200 695% (1,359,100) 574731 318,959 893,69
At 1 January 2019 R01951518 197,889 1,877,488 20,176 176,821 87,38 40,144 (852,820) 186,200 695 (1,359,100) 574,131 318,959 893,696

Effec of adoption of IFS 16 (note 2. HESERHZ 60T E

- - - - - - - - - 203 203 4 251
At 1 January 2019 (restated) 01951718 (HE5)) 197,889 1877488 20,176 176,821 87,38 40,144 (852,820) 186,200 695 (1,358,897) 574,940 319,007 893,947
Profit(loss) for the year FhilE/ (B8) - - - - - - - - - 69,199 69,199 (8812) 60,387
Other comprehensive income EREM2ENE
for the year :
Exchange differences on tranglation of BEMRRRELNENZE
finandial statements = = = = = = = = 601 = 601 0 L]
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) FheEdE/ (58)58
for the year - - - - - - - - 601 69,199 69,800 (8,670) 61,130
Utisation for safety fund surplus reserve: BET2ELEAGE - - - (5,79) - - - - - 5790 = = =
Provision of safety fund surplus reserve: REZ2ELEES - - - 20,937 - - - - - (20937) - - -
Disposal of the Discontinued Operations R
(note 33) - - - = - - - - - - - (13.483) (13.463)
Transfer of share option reserve R ERERFEARG BERE
upon the expiry of share options - - - - - (15,575) - - - 15,575 - - -
4231 Decerbe 2019 HIOEDA3NR LT N 1 SO 1 TS 7 SO V1 S 7Y KR/ 96 (2820 M0 DR BAGM
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERERPERAVBMRARFOES
RMB446,851,000 (2018: RMB376,848,000) in the consolidated B AR %446,851,0007T (201845 : AR

statement of financial position. 376,848,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A318IEFE

106

Notes
P E
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHHNEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax: BAIFE (&) -
From Continuing Operations HEREXEK 7
From Discontinued Operations BRIEKSEEK 10
Adjustments for: I SEEL AR
Finance costs B 75 AR 6, 10
Bank interest income BITHFEMA
Gain on debt restructuring (EPER R
Remission of general interest charge — A EZHRR 5
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME BWME R
and equipment FE M
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFRARME 33
Reversal of impairment losses on trade & U2 BR 3R (B &5 18 8 [T
receivables, net ikl 7,10
Impairment losses on financial assets ST ATER FRIA - B fE UK
included in prepayments, FRIE & HAth & E A
other receivables and other assets CREEREERE 7,10
Write-down of inventories to MR FEZAER)FE
net realisable value 10
Impairment losses on property, Y- BEMEE
plant and equipment HEEE 7,10
Impairment losses on intangible assets BILEERERR 10
Impairment on other intangible asset HAth | & ERE 7
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets {8 FA#E & E R EE 1B 10
Impairment losses on prepaid land B i EEFOREEE
lease payments 10
Impairment losses on assets held HIERENEEREEE
for sale 7
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERZEINE
equipment 13
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEAENE 16(b)
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEMH 14
Amortisation of other intangible asset Hib & EH 15
Amortisation of prepaid land T & b 70 & R 5
lease payments 16(a)

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2019 ANNUAL REPORT

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETIT
(7,841) 1,848
75,870 (437,791)
33,595 61,177
(68) (50)
(18,521) (4,093)
(2,908) -
(2,087) (972)
(152,997) -
(5,636) (13,350)
2,083 12,221

= 2,680

62,095 113,309
5,151 266,630
6,545 -
3,588 -

= 8,841

5,941 1,469
10,421 53,591
1,240 -
860 5,618

843 915

= 1,110
18,174 73,153



Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables

Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due
from related parties
Increase/(decrease) in trade
and bill payables
Decrease in lease liabilities

Decrease in other payables and accruals

Increase in contract liabilities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from/(used in)
operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries,

net of cash disposed of
Acquisition of an associate

Net cash flows from/(used in)
investing activities

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
/\/\ fﬁﬂium%%

Year ended 31 December 2019

Notes

B Rk

W BRFOR A (32 h0)

Ti‘fﬁﬂ/ %)

AN R - B RRA R
HiEEmL (Em)

FE W BR B 5 SRR A
(3B hn)

e BR
OB )

HE&GERD

H A A SR S B AT
R

BHAEEM

X R,

ReEEEY/ (FRINRE
B KA 8
BB

wEEBEES (FER)H
Eﬁi //|L§/?§a

REFHNRERE

BEWE BERERHE

BEEWEE

HEME BERRE

Fris 518

HEFRAMEHAE
(BEBRMEERS) 33
U g — R B & R A

KRERDES (A
ReREFER

HZE2019F12A831HILEE
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
(44,065) 231,118
(15,838) 102,736
6,659 (93,102)
(4,940) 610
32,910 (2,075)
(1,717) -
(4,323) (109,305)
9 5,811
(13,131) 208,946
68 50
(993) (779)
(14,056) 208,217
(47,053) (137,273)
(13,095) (82)
2,540 321
84,945 -
(133) (1,560)
27,204 (138,594)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

/\/\ Eﬁi;ﬁ%%

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bank loans and other loans

Repayment of bank loans and other loans

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Increase/(decrease) in an amount
due to a related party

Net cash flows used in
financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

Cash and cash equivalent as stated in the

consolidated statement of
financial position

Cash and bank balances attributable to

Discontinued Operations

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in

the statement of cash flows
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METHNRERE

RITER R HEMER
%%ﬁ
Eﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ1§ﬁ
HERAEAE
HERFE

Hﬂm
JE < — & BREE 5 SR OE I 0,
()

BERBEANR R
MEFE
ReERBRSEEYEM
(BD)ZE
FUNMERERRAEEEY

ExenyeFn

FRINRERREEEY

RERBRESENEHRIN

ﬁ@&ﬁﬁ*
ﬁé%%#ﬁ%ﬂﬁm
ReMhBHeHEEY

BENDRLEEEXEHD
R LIRTTER

REZRERIENRE R
ReEEY

Notes

B R

22

2019
20194

RMB’000
AR®T

84,026
(91,477)
(1,585)
(132)
(13,272)

6,205

(16,235)

(3,087)

33,771

(3,995)

26,689

26,689

26,689

26,689

2018
20184
RMB’000
ARETT

153,479
(173,011)

(32,272)

(966)

(52,770)

16,853

13,286

3,632

33,771

33,696

33,696

75

33,771



Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008
under the Companies Law. The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at Unit A,
4th Floor, E168, Nos. 166-168 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong
Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group were
principally engaged in the following principal activities:

o mining and ore processing

o sale of self-produced products

o trading of coals and steels

o management of strategic investments

o rendering of specialised mining services

In the opinion of the Directors, Trisonic International, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong, is the parent and the ultimate
holding company of the Company.

B IS RaR M R
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F 128318 IEFE

AEIREEER

RATF2008F4H28BEHEFHEIRIE
NEVEEMA L A —HEREBERE T
AaE] o AR A FE T S R Ak 4 Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ° ZNA BRI BB £ & E B R
BB = ER166-1685RE168 K H4IEA

=
E-

REE2019F12831BIEFER K&
BTrEREUTIBER:

BRUE N s AR

. HEBEEM

. RES MR EE IR

. RHEFXFARRSE

EERR AABK (—RRNEBEMEK

YHRR) RARBNE AR R&KEER

NCIR
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
BHE2019F12A31HIEFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

1. RAEAREBEERE @)

Company name

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

FHMEL
YNCIRCE S R B
Directly held:
BERA
Powerside Holdings Limited BVI
BT I IR A R KERXES
First China Limited Hong Kong
=REBRRA B8
Sure Prime Limited BVI
Sure Prime Limited REEBREAHES
Mancala Holdings® BVI
=4 Al KERXES
Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd. BamIiEs
Indirectly held:
EERF -
Simply Rise Holdings Limited Hong Kong
SEZERARRE B8
Sichuan Lingyu® The People’s

110 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2019 ANNUAL REPORT

Republic of China
("PRC")/ Mainland

China
hEEARKEME
(r&El),/
B A

ERTFRARINER
RABEFRARMFBOT:

Percentage

Issued ordinary/ of equity
registered attributable to Principal
share capital the Company activities

BT

EBRE BERARAT
BTN MEZEAEILL FTEEK

%
UsD1 100 Investment
holding
IEP AR
HKD2 100 Investment
holding
28T REER
usD1 100 Investment
holding
e REER
HKD1 81 Investment
holding
1787 RE R
SGD10,000 100 Investment
holding
10,000%7 hn ¥ 7T REER
HKD1 100 Investment
holding
18T REER
HKD770,000,000 100 Product trading

770,000,0007% 7T

and investment
holding

EmEEK

RA R



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

DNEEE

Aba Mining®

P S5 1 22 ©)

Akuang Trading®

fiE= 5©

Sichuan Xinglian®

uplipE:

Sichuan Haoyuan®

I E®

Xinjin Mining®

BELREO

MHPLO

£ RAERO

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

33
e E 3L

PRC/
Mainland China

RE RE A

PRC/
Mainland China

B B
PRC/
Mainland China

RE BN

PRC/
Mainland China

RE RE A

PRC/
Mainland China

Bl B A i

Australia

Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE

1. RAER&EEER @)

BETFLANER (&)

Issued ordinary/
registered

share capital
=% £
ZEBRA

o 8 AR A<

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB 1,000,000

AR #1,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB1,150,000

AR #1,150,0007C

AUD298,817

298,81727T

Percentage

of equity
attributable to
the Company
BERARQT
WEZEDL
%

100

100

100

51

51

81

Principal
activities

ETEXEH

I[ron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
BREARRK-
BEAEE R
$HE B EEM

I[ron ore
beneficiation
and sale of

iron concentrates
HEAKER
S HAEE

Mining and
construction
consulting
Bk IRER

Gypsum ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
BEERAKER
HEBEEM

Gypsum ore
mining,

gypsum ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AERAREK
ABBALER
HEBEEM

Contract
mining and
specialised

mining services
B HERE R
BERRERS
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. Aak&EEEXR @)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EHEFLATINER (&)
@ Sichuan Lingyu is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned @ 7911 G AR 35 v BLA 2 7 0 R 51 i 8

112

enterprise under PRC law.

© These subsidiaries are registered as domestic enterprises under ®©
PRC law.
@ Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or other member firm @

of the Ernst & Young global network.

@ As mentioned in the Company's annual financial statements @

for the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company entered
into a sales and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with Chengyu
Vanadium Titano on 29 January 2019 in respect of the
disposal of Huili County Caitong Iron and Titanium Co., Ltd.
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
"Disposal Group”) (the “Disposal”) with the consideration of
RMB550,000,000. Upon the Completion, the Disposal Group
(i) ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company and (ii) has
become subsidiaries of Chengyu Vanadium Titano.

Bz

IEFRAREFBEEAREMAEAR
B

WIHEMBEBR KL LK BRBHENE
bk & N A% -

BN R A E E2018%128318 1t
FEMNEFEHBEREME - AQAR
201991 A298 BEAH A AET L — 15
BEEWmZ ([BEEWHZ]) RAEHTE
EeRGVARKAREAAAIRAE
FRA(TXHBIEHEEE]) ([H
EF£E])  R{EAARMS50,000,000
TeRTEAE  BEEBOTHAEAR
B8 F R A R (i) BB SLRR F A
ale

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FERIEHAATFATNIEERAT
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for EYBENEERNERANEBFTEEDN
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the AL E BEERARMBEMBTATN
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion HEEEEIEBRTTE -

of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRSs"),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair
value. Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale and
assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 10 and note 23. These financial statements
are presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2019. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.1

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

R EE

AP HmR TR RERY B HREER (
EER S EAEFT S ERN LR T
ARkBRE ARBEREFENZESHE
MAERTEEREFEAREEREZR
RE)REE (RAERD) WERERE
R -BEATEAEMEEZH A AER
NERMEEZ D FEAEIN APEHRE
TIRIBE L KA B DI RS - DI AFED
ENHEANNEERDBRFELE
WEEREESBREQNFERHEXK
MENREEDR E—FPBERMEI0
KHfsE23 - B BB EAEIN AP BREK
NARBZ27) BB HCHEEREK
HiR:OR R IVE &

@

i

+

mEANREE
RAEMBEHRERBEARAREFRAE
E2019F N2A3MBIEFENTBHBIRE -
FRRAARFEELMEEFINER-
EAEEELHERETRNERmMA =
B ERESAERR  WHENERY
REBROEN (AR TFTAEEBAET
RETRABTHMNENNEERF) ¥
B2 EORE  NEBBEHIEHE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

2.1

114

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investments retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.1

MEEE @)
GAEANREE (@
EANTHERMEEERERBOR
= S SRR R A B AEER
TR THRARREEE NS EEE
FENEEERER 6

(a) HEBEBHOEHSEANAG

(b) EHMEORHEEENEN: &
(0 AEENEEENEERERE-

FRBINMBHRERTIHERQFHRED
BERRA BN ETERRER - TRA
MEEHARBRGEGEZ BELESR
AR U BERA NREEARIZEHIE
BilEZzH-

eSSBS EEBM &R B
s R AR E WSS EARE D e R
ZANCIE YW E S 2T S ) o) PSRN
SEXBARMEXZMELENMAEEE
NARIMEERGRE #:E KA FAX
RREREBHREA ARG B -

WEEERBEABT EXHe = @EE
T EPE —ER A EHRES - B
SEEENTAREEGRERR T
REWFAEREEREIREE (WARKEE
HHE) - AR ER P AR e

HAEBREEF ARSI BIERK
LHHEROZFARANEE (BREBE) R
BE ~ (i) R P42 A48 o 1 i T < 88 I (i)
MERANCERN RETIREZE WA
EWREORFE (i) AT RE T ARE
DB R (i) B a8 ) Bt E A 0 B &
B AL o SERTR B b 2 RS FERB A SR
BREE D SREAEEER L SR
BEXBERENEREEES HEN
DEEBEEABEFMNE-

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2019 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

IFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Annual Improvements to  Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11,
IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle IAS 12 and IAS 23

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of IFRS
16 and IFRIC 23, the adoption of the above new and revised
standards has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements.

Further information about IFRS 16 and IFRIC 23 applied by the
Group is described below:

(a) IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15
Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form
of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases
under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting
under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17.
Lessors continue to classify leases as either operating or
finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17.
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

116

(a)

(Continued)

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application
of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard has
been applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits at 1 January 2019,
and the comparative information for 2018 was not
restated and continued to be reported under IAS 17 and
related interpretations.

New definition of a lease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and
the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The
Group elected to use the transition practical expedient
allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17
and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. Contracts
that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC
4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a
lease under IFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts
entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as
operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land
use rights, office premises and machinery. As a lessee,
the Group previously classified leases as either finance
leases or operating leases based on the assessment
of whether the lease transferred substantially all the
rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group.
Under IFRS 16, the Group applies a single approach
to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for all leases, except for two elective
exemptions for leases of low-value assets (elected on a
lease-by-lease basis) and leases with a lease term of 12
months or less (“short-term leases”) (elected by class of
underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term commencing from 1 January 2019, the
Group recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any)
of the right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the
outstanding lease liabilities (as finance costs).

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based
on the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
at 1 January 2019 and included in interest-bearing bank
and other loans. The right-of-use assets for most leases
were measured at the amount of the lease liability,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued
lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the
statement of financial position immediately before 1
January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based
on IAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present
the right-of-use assets separately in the statement
of financial position. This includes the lease assets
recognised previously under hire purchase arrangements
of RMB535,000 that were reclassified from property,
plant and equipment.
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as
operating leases (Continued)

Impact on transition (Continued)

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

° Applying the short-term lease exemptions to
leases with a lease term that ends within 12
months from the date of initial application

o Using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend/
terminate the lease

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as finance
leases

The Group did not change the initial carrying amounts
of recognised assets and liabilities at the date of initial
application for leases previously classified as finance
leases. Accordingly, the carrying amounts of the right-
of-use assets and the lease liabilities at 1 January 2019
were the carrying amounts of the recognised assets and
liabilities (i.e., finance lease payables) measured under
IAS 17.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 B BEEXEREENEE (&)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(Continued)
Financial impact at 1 January 2019

Assets

Increase in right-of-use assets

Decrease in property, plant and equipment

Decrease in prepaid land lease payments

Decrease in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Increase in total assets

Liabilities

Increase in lease liabilities

Decrease in interest-bearing bank and
other loans

Decrease in other payables and accruals

Increase in total liabilities

Increase in retained profits
Increase in non-controlling interests

(a) (%)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 B HEEREENEE (&)

DISCLOSURES (continued)
(a) (Continued)

Financial impact at 1 January 2019 (Continued)
The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to
the operating lease commitments as at 31 December

2018 are as follows:

Operating lease commitments
as at 31 December 2018

Weighted average IBR as at 1 January 2019

Discounted operating lease commitments
as at 1 January 2019

Add: Hire purchase liabilities recognised
as at 31 December 2018

Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019

(a) (%)

HERIR -
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M2019F 1 A1EME IR LT &R IE
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RA2019F181BENHEER
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12
(often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (i) the assumptions
an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments
by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. Upon
adoption of the interpretation, the Group considered
whether it has any uncertain tax positions arising from
the transfer pricing on its intergroup sales. Based on the
Group's tax compliance and transfer pricing study, the
Group determined that it is probable that its transfer
pricing policy will be accepted by the tax authorities.
Accordingly, the interpretation did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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Year ended 31 December 2019

BE2019F 12831 AL FE
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs 2.3 EBEMGEERERNER
B i & %A
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, REEWRRATBREP RN TINE
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial A8 45 8 18 R AR Y T BT I AR (S BT B R B
statements. BHmEER -
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business’ BRI 35 EHEREE
AERIFE35E
CHEN
Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’ BB B 75 iR s FYFEEEHET
IAS 39 and IFRS 7 ZERIFEI5
B B = 5T 2E Al
3958 M BT
B 5 & 22 A
FETRIEET A
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BB B 75 iR s KEEZHRBEENA]
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its AR 105 & A EPEA
Associate or Joint Venture? =l HE M &5t &
F28FRIEET AR
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current RE st A R EMRAE E
or Non-current? FE1REET A B 57 452
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’ B B BE 75 iR Rz & 47
HRIENT75R
Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material’ e s A BAMEE
and IAS 8 5% K& BB
el
ERIREET A
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ! 202051 A1B 3 2 & F 1A Y F 2 HA
2020 fel £ 2
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 202251 A1B 3 2 & FRHE F E H
2022 fel £ 2
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 202351 A1B 3 2 & FRIHEF E H
2023 il £ 3
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 4 i R 75 E 5 il 42 20 B BRME AT (AR A
adoption

T8 H 5 R 00 AN 5 ] A B8R B 5 e o 2 R
M — AR N T e

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs.
The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.
Since the amendments apply prospectively to transactions or
other events that occur on or after the date of first application,
the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the
date of transition.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address the effects
of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting. The
amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty
before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark.
In addition, the amendments require companies to provide
additional information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020. Early application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

124

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS
10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and
a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. A
misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2020. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations not under common control are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4

126

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the (a) consideration transferred, (b) the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests; and (c) any fair value
of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a part of a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part
of the operation within the unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not represent a
business, it is accounted for as an acquisition of a group of
assets and liabilities. The cost of the acquisition is allocated to
the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair
values, and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognised.

Merger accounting for business combination under
common control

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the combining entities or businesses in which
the common control combination occurs as if they had been
consolidated from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling
parties.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
BHE2019F12A31HIEFE

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-current
assets classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use (“VIU") and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Year ended 31 December 2019
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the

other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and in accordance with IFRS 5, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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Year ended 31 December 2019
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2.4

132

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment, other
than mining infrastructure, is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Buildings 5-20 years
Plant and machinery 2-20 years
Office equipment 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 2-6 years

Depreciation of mining infrastructure is calculated using the
units-of-production (“UOP”) method to depreciate the cost of
the assets in proportion to the extraction of the proved and
probable mineral reserves. The remaining estimated useful life
of the mining infrastructure at the end of the reporting period
ranging with 16 years are determined in accordance with the
production plans of the entities concerned and the proved and
probable reserves of mines using the UOP method.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant
and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowing funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4

B 1% 5= B aE
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE

FESHHEBRE (&
ME BMERRERITE (&)

ERETRELIEERNYE BELERE
BB BRI EREBARRM T E
& -KABEEIHEN T REERR
RIERERESMERMEERAR - HE
TRENERAIRRESHTOBEENE W
BRRENEEER -

FFHENFRBEEREE
A8 5
ERBAERTEEMEEBE BN
EXHMIHEERRERASE A
BABENE -CUFERT BERME
MBI BB R I R A A
) — R S 1B PR R AT B A IR R
BEMEN TN ARS - FARMA
SERUEMAUNAERAEGEN S
BARKIFLE MR EEREERE
BRENAT AR ERER -

DEARFHENERBEERTLER
A (EREERIN REEMSBERRNFE
HMEERAMENEEESE - D ERR
EHENDE BEMRBARETLEE
TR E -

2019 4R | HERAKEABREFRAF 133

N



Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHHEME #)

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Brand name

Brand name is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 10 years.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Mining rights include the cost
of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation
costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of
commercial production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the
mining reserves of existing mining properties. The mining rights
are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in
accordance with the production plans of the entities concerned
and the proved and probable reserves of the mines using the
UOP method. Mining rights are written off to profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, and exploration assets
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. Exploration rights
and assets include the cost of acquiring exploration rights,
topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling,
sampling and trenching and activities in relation to commercial
and technical feasibility studies, and deferred amortisation and
depreciation charges in respect of assets consumed during the
exploration activities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

Exploration rights are amortised over the term of rights.
Equipment used in exploration is depreciated over its useful life,
or, if dedicated to a particular exploration project, over the life
of the project on the straight-line basis, whichever is shorter.
Amortisation and depreciation are included, in the first instance,
in exploration rights and assets and are transferred to mining
rights when it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production.

Exploration and evaluation costs include expenditure incurred
to secure further mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred prior to acquiring
legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

Exploration rights and assets shall be assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may exceed its recoverable amount. An impairment test is
performed if any of the following indicators are present:

(a) the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

(b) substantial expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

(0) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the entity has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

(d) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHHEME #)

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
exploration rights and assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the exploration rights and assets’ fair value less costs of disposal
and their VIU. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
exploration rights and assets subject to testing are grouped
with existing cash-generating units of production fields that are
located in the same geographical region.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are transferred to either mining
infrastructure or mining rights and depreciated/amortised using
the UOP method based on the proved and probable mineral
reserves. Exploration rights and assets are written off to profit or
loss if the exploration property is abandoned.

Stripping (waste removal) costs

As part of its mining operations, the Group incurs stripping
(waste removal) costs both during the development phase and
production phase of its operations. Stripping costs incurred in
the development phase of a mine, before the production phase
commences (development stripping), are capitalised as part of
the cost of constructing the mine and subsequently amortised
over its useful life using the UOP method. The capitalisation of
development stripping costs ceases when the mine/component
is commissioned and ready for use as intended by management.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Stripping (waste removal) costs (Continued)
Stripping costs incurred during the production phase are
generally considered to create two benefits, being either the
production of inventory or improved access to the ore to be
mined in the future. Where the benefits are realised in the form
of inventory produced in the period, the production stripping
costs are accounted for as part of the cost of producing those
inventories. Where the benefits are realised in the form of
improved access to ore to be mined in the future, the costs are
recognised as a non-current asset, referred to as a stripping
activity asset, if the following criteria are met:

a) Future economic benefits (being improved access to the
ore body) are probable;

b) The component of the ore body for which access will be
improved can be accurately identified; and

Q) The costs associated with the improved access can be
reliably measured.

If all of the criteria are not met, the production stripping costs
are charged to profit or loss as operating costs as they are
incurred.

In identifying components of the ore body, the Group works
closely with the mining operation personnel for each mining
operation to analyse each of the mine plans. Generally, a
component will be a subset of the total ore body, and a mine
may have several components. The mine plans, and therefore
the identification of components, can vary between mines for
a number of reasons. These include, but are not limited to: the
type of commodity, the geological characteristics of the ore
body, the geographical location, and/or financial considerations.
Given the nature of the Group’s operations, components are
generally either major pushbacks or phases.

The stripping activity asset is accounted for as an addition to, or
an enhancement of, an existing asset, being the mine asset, and
is presented as part of “Intangible assets” in the statement of
financial position. This forms part of the total investment in the
relevant cash-generating unit, which is reviewed for impairment
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Stripping (waste removal) costs (Continued)

The stripping activity asset is initially measured at cost, which
is the accumulation of costs directly incurred to perform
the stripping activity that improves access to the identified
component of ore, plus an allocation of directly attributable
overhead costs. If incidental operations are occurring at the
same time as the production stripping activity, but are not
necessary for the production stripping activity to continue as
planned, these costs are not included in the cost of the stripping
activity asset.

The stripping activity asset is subsequently amortised using
the UOP method over the life of the identified component of
the ore body that has become more accessible as a result of
the stripping activity. Economically recoverable reserves, which
comprise proven and probable reserves, are used to determine
the expected useful life of the identified component of the ore
body. The stripping activity asset is then carried at cost less
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
(Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Office premises 1 to 5 years
Plant and machinery 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
(Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its IBR at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change
to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
(Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

142

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)
(Continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

144

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primary
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

146

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payable,
other payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-
bearing bank and other loans.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings and
payables is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
After initial recognition, loans and borrowings and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the

liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective

would be immaterial,

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.4

148

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable
overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation incurred
in converting materials into finished goods, based on the
normal production capacity. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in statement of profit or loss.

Provisions for the Group's obligations for rehabilitation are
based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the
ground environment is disturbed at the production location.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final rehabilitation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform the
required work. Spending estimates are escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. When the liability is initially recognised, the
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing
the carrying amount of the related mining infrastructure.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is depreciated using the UOP
method over its expected life and the liability is accreted to the
projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or changes
in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated
costs, or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation
activities) will be recognised as additions or charges to the
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liabilities when they
occur at the appropriate discount rate.

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

FESHHEBRE (&)

B

ERBESEHEERABES OEELHE
E)RARAEFERERBENEERR
B AEESERBE BLEAERNSE
et EREBEE -

EMHENFEEAR ARESERNE
BERERBHRTRIEEEEBNHRKL
HR & HRA R ME - BB mEE
M BERIREIREE - DIE I A AN ST AR AR
*o

AEBERBETEREEELNBEELDER
i3z R rh B RO AR B SR D) AR E RO B 55
R miEL Gt - BEE—RNEERS
ZENEEMHB R EEMHNGINERE
RETEBEL AREGHERRER
HRESHEANETHIRER/ETRET
EMRRRE SRS RELEZNFA
AE -RAXMFEBERERMESELN
REARRIREER R EENEREE
ERERNBENRRNRE DS
NEREHERREHARETEED
FXIE - BB BRI AR &5t
RAMREEEMAREEEZNETS
BEABTER-

HREAEEREHAAREENEEUR
Ky B ML 0 - F IR IR N B
MBRA—BPRER - BEMNAEESM
TERERAFEHAE THAAAEER
AR EH - BT R AT ELENR
(nERuERT BHER] - RTINS - ST
EREB RN E) B - 5 I
TEAFARSREERRETERRY
HEEENERBEAIZ IR -

2019 F3; | PRNKHEBBEERAA 149

N



Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

150

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4

152

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of specialised mining services and
consultancy management service is recognised by the Group
when the service has been provided.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).
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2.4

154

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in note 11 to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland China are
required to participate in a defined central pension scheme
managed by the local municipal government of the areas in
Mainland China in which they operate. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part
of the payroll of these employees to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

In addition to the above, the Group also participates in a
defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the MPF Scheme for
its employee in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre in Mainland China are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e.,
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

translation difference on the item whose fair value

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

(a) Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the
financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT")

The Group's operating subsidiaries in Mainland China are
subject to PRC CIT. As a result of the fact that certain
matters relating to PRC CIT have not been confirmed
by the relevant local tax authorities, objective estimates
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and
other related policies are required in determining the
provision for PRC CIT to be made. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax expense and tax provision in the period
in which the differences realise. The carrying amount
of PRC CIT payable as at 31 December 2019 was
RMB9,435,000 (2018: RMB9,154,000).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its items of property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and actions of its competitors. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it will record an impairment
provision for technically obsolete assets that have been
abandoned. The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment as at 31 December 2019 was RM 190,849,000
(2018: RMB159,203,000). Further details are given in
note 13 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are
inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the significant judgements involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that
have to be met before estimated mine reserves can be
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and
probable mine reserve estimates are updated at regular
intervals taking into account recent production and
technical information about each mine. In addition,
as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proved and probable mine reserves also
changes. This change is considered a change in estimates
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in both depreciation and amortisation rates
calculated on the UOP method and the time period for
discounting the rehabilitation provision. Changes in the
estimate of mine reserves are also taken into account in
impairment assessments of non-current assets.

Exploration rights and assets

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for
exploration right and assets requires estimation in
determining whether it is likely that future economic
benefits will result either from future exploitation or
sale or whether activities have not reached a stage
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence
of reserves. The determination of mine reserves is
itself an estimation process with varying degrees of
uncertainty depending on sub-classification. Estimates
and assumptions made may change if new information
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised,
information becomes available suggesting that the
recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount
capitalised is written off in profit or loss in the period
when the new information becomes available. The
carrying amount of exploration rights and assets as
at 31 December 2019 was RMB65,991,000 (2018:
RMB65,991,000). Further details are given in note 14 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 3. EBEXEaMEs

(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) st THBE R (&)

(f) Net realisable value of inventories (f) FER A5 FE
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling GFEMAERFEDNATER
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated BREPAETEE  HBREF T
cost to be incurred to completion and disposal. These BRAREERA  ZF AT THER
estimates are based on the current market condition REMARHEERETEERD
and the historical experience of selling products of a BLERA/BEEEIT WA B
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result RAASEERM THITEZESM
of changes in downstream industries that consume BENE - BERERSHREDR
the Group's products. Management reassesses these BB B 52019512
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The AR FEMNRHZERAR
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2019 #:29,418,0007T (20184 : AR
was RMB29,418,000 (2018: RMB23,627,000). Further 23,627,0007T) c #E — FEEIBEHR
details are given in note 19 to the financial statements. B EmEM 19 -

(g)  Provision for rehabilitation (9) HEEREE
Provision for rehabilitation is based on estimates BREEIEREIRE AL
of future expenditures incurred by management to ETERREEIEFEEARR
undertake rehabilitation and restoration work which P fAE Ei%2019612A31H
were discounted at a rate of 6.27% as at 31 December Kt %£6.27% (20184 :6.35% )
2019 (2018: 6.35%) reflecting the term and nature AR R IR E - LR E £/ F 5
of the obligations to their present values. Significant M MHE o AR BB T AR
estimates and assumptions are made in determining FERBEMmMEL AAZERZ
the provision for rehabilitation as there are numerous HeTEGKRENER ZEHEAER
factors that will affect the ultimate liability payable. BIEEREE O E LKA - £l
These factors include estimates of the extent and costs BE) EEEE KA LA RER
of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, TEEWEET c ZETHBAREZET
regulatory changes, cost increases and changes in the B8 18 B A% SR B IR A S B R AR A
discount rate. Those uncertainties may result in future BEEAMTR - RE R
actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently HIEERE YRR EERKAR
provided. The provision at the end of the reporting RERRKEME o e AR RK AR E
period represents management’s best estimate of the HERABRERIINEERE
present value of the future rehabilitation costs required. BEMR ARG MR RP R
Changes to estimated future costs are recognised in the R2019F12HA31H  BEREEN
consolidated statement of financial position by adjusting FEE A ARKKE12,847,0007T
the rehabilitation asset and liability. The carrying amount (20184 : AR #1,833,0007T) °
of provision for rehabilitation as at 31 December il = = A g
2019 was RMB12,847,000 (2018: RMB1,833,000). 28 °

Further details are contained in note 28 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(h) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the tax losses can be utilised. Estimates
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash
flows from operations and the application of existing
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future
cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the deferred
tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period
could be impacted. The gross amount of deferred
tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2019 was
RMB12,783,000 (2018: RMB17,601,000). The amounts
of unrecognised tax losses and unrecognised deductible
temporary differences as at 31 December 2019 were
RMB1,081,481,000 (2018: RMB32,971,000) and
RMB120,883,000 (2018: RMB127,269,000), respectively.
Further details are contained in note 18 to the financial

statements.

Additionally, future changes in tax laws and regulations
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could
limit the ability of the Group to obtain tax deductions on

taxable income in future periods.

(i) Valuation of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

The Group's exchangeable notes are designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss
and re-measured to fair value through profit or loss
in subsequent reporting periods. The fair value of the
exchangeable notes was estimated by management and
the estimation included some assumptions not supported
by observable market prices or rates and hence they
are subject to uncertainty. Favourable or unfavourable
changes to these assumptions would result in significant
changes in the fair value of the exchangeable notes and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain
or loss reported in profit or loss. The fair value of the
exchangeable notes at 31 December 2019 was nil (2018:

Nil).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

1

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Definite life non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Based on the
existing market conditions, impairment indicators were
identified for the Group’s main mining cash-generating
units, other pre-development stage mining rights, and
exploration rights and assets. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its VIU. The calculation
of the fair value less costs to sell is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
VIU calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The accumulated impairment amounts
for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and other intangible asset at 31 December 2019 were
RMB8&,527,000 (2018: RMB8&,527,000), RMB113,722,000
(2018: RMB113,722,000) and RMB6,545,000 (2018: Nil),
respectively. Further details are contained in notes 13, 14
and 15 to the financial statements, respectively.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 3. EAXZsthst @)
(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued) ERENLESEXE )
(k)  Leases — Estimating the IBR (k) HE-1FiEEEERE

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products and has four (2018:
four) reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the high-Fe mining operation segment comprises the
operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 65% TFe to 72%
TFe and the provision of consultancy and management
services;

(b) the trading segment comprises the operation of sale of
traded products;

(c) the specialised mining services segment comprises the
provision of specialised mining services, which include
raise boring, shaft excavation, engineering services, and
other mining services; and

(d) the corporate and others segment covers the
non-operating activities supporting the Group which
includes the central functions such as the functional
costs that have not been allocated to the other
segments.

The Directors monitor the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
Continuing Operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before
tax except that other income, other expenses, non-lease-
related finance costs and fair value losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are excluded from such
measurement.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and cash and cash

equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and tax payable as these liabilities are managed on a

group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.

Year ended 31 December 2019

Segment revenue

Sales to external
customers

Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment sales

Revenue from Continuing
Operations

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Other income
Other expenses
Finance costs

Loss before tax from
Continuing Operations

Segment assets
Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment
receivables
Deferred tax assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

Total assets

2 EB U A

RSN PR A
HE

DEEHE

AR
HiED BEHE

FEEEEBRA

Ep

H g A
Hoh 32
B IS AR

751 B /5 48

IHWEE

Ep

35 B ] 8 Uk
A

BEERBEE
RekReEEY

BE#E

High-Fe
mining
operation
= 8 m
3 E S
RMB’000
ARBT T

82,493
4,733

87,226

15,671

343,741

Trading

HE
RMB’000
AR®T T

435,144

435,144

13,841

190,672

mAEER AR E U RR SRR % E
WIEREREEEE 4D BEETBIER
BEE

RREF SRITREMEEARENBTK
DREEEETE RONEBETREZ
FafE-

DEHEEERERD2RIRERBITD

BERE=STELHEEMANEERS -

HZE2019F128318 Lt EE

Specialised
mining Corporate
services and others Total
g5
BHERYE LERHEM &st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%BTR AR%®TxR
97,033 - 614,670
2,007 - 6,740
99,040 - 621,410
(6,740)
614,670
(26,423) (11,970) (8,881)
5,922
(843)
(4,039)
(7,841)
125,434 4,598,439 5,258,286
(4,027,826)
12,783
26,689
1,269,932
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REDEILER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2019 (Continued) HZE2019F128318 1L FE (&)
High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading services  and others Total
= 8 W =%
IR EH FEREE C¥ERHEM &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTn ARBTR AR¥®TRt AR%Tx
Segment liabilities PEHERE 248,951 191,654 107,035 3,676,140 4,223,780
Reconciliation: AR
Elimination of 58 5> E6 6 FE AT
intersegment payables IE (4,004,144)
Interest-bearing bank and 7 B R7T K E b
other loans B 99,247
Tax payable FERT B SR 9,435
Total liabilities BEeE 328,318
Other segment Hith o5& R
information
Provision for/(reversal of)  FEUER FREE 1B
impairment losses on BB (#E)
trade receivables, net F 28 (M13E20)
(note 20) 6 (8,850) - - (8.844)
Provision for/(reversal of) &+ AFEAJ 3k 78 -
impairment losses on H A fE UK IE K
financial assets included HEMmEENS R
in prepayments, other EEREEIE
receivables and other BfE, (#m)
assets, net (note 17) SFEE (FIFE17) (2) - 1,479 606 2,083
Impairment losses on Ht@®EEERE
other intangible asset E518 (Fi5E15)
(note 15) - - 6,545 - 6,545
Impairment losses on DEAFELED
assets classified as BEREER
held for sale - - 5,941 - 5,941
Depreciation and e REE (M
amortisation 131415
(notes 13, 14, 15 16(b) )
and 16(b)) 7,489 - 5,296 579 13,364
Capital expenditures* N
(note 13) (HIE13) 32,526 - 3,926 5,688 42,140
* Capital expenditures consists of additions to property, plant and * BRRZBIERBEYE BB REHE

equipment and intangible assets.

NEWEE-
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018

Segment revenue

Sales to external
customers

Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment sales

Revenue from Continuing
Operations

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Other income
Other expense
Finance costs

Profit before tax from
Continuing Operations

Segment assets
Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment
receivables
Deferred tax assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Assets related to
Discontinued
Operations

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment payables
Interest-bearing bank and
other loans
Tax payable
Liabilities related
to Discontinued
Operations

Total liabilities

7 EUWA

EENE-S
EL M E

DEEHEE

HEE D MEEE

YA

LT
B

E A A
Eibm
BB A

S EET

5 B A
PBMEE
Ey 3
}Eﬁiﬁ/‘*ﬁfﬁrﬁlﬁz

FIA

EENIAE E

R kBRe

BHDRIEE
EBNEE

BERE

PHEE
HAR -

1 55 5 5B
JFE S 3B
u‘l'E'fEﬁ&ﬁ{‘@
,\TJ\
VH%R%’K
BRADKIERE
XBHERE

&

BEMAR

4 . néé

VAN

EoEER (@)

HZE2018F12A318ILFE

High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading serwces and others Total
% il sfi - \ ‘
PR = Frﬁ%mﬁ&%fﬁ R REAM A&t
RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTIT AREBETET ARBTT AREBTRT
81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
8,113 - 2,000 646 10,759
89,857 517,915 87,091 646 695,509
(10,759)
684,750
17,927 12,890 (12,273) (6,699) 11,845
602
(2,256)
(8,343)
1,848
341,335 132,419 120,141 7,300,117 7,894,012
(6,797,339)
17,601
33,696
1,297,877
2,445,847
235,640 103,825 91,325 4,194,882 4,625,672
(4,474,959)
100,794
9,154
1,291,490

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2019 ANNUAL REPORT

1,552,151



OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE

4, RBEDIER (@)

HZE2018F12A31BILFE (#£)

High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading services  and others Total
SEE TR 2%
HIEHEB BE AR GtEREM &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFTT AREFTT ARETFT ARETT
Other segment Hih o HE s
information
Reversal of impairment  J& U BR SR E
losses on trade E R BT R
receivables, net (8,737) (1,161) - - (9,898)
Impairment losses T AFERRIE
on financial E b B YRR
assets included in REAMEE®
prepayments, TREERME
other receivables E1a
and other assets 23 - - - 23
Impairment losses on Y - B R EE
property plant and REEE
equipment - - 1,071 - 1,071
Impairment losses on DEAFIELE
assets classified as held  ®& E R E
for sale E18 - - 1,469 - 1,469
Depreciation and e R EH
amortisation 11,882 - 6,420 - 18,302
Capital expenditures* BRI 20,411 22 1,360 239 22,032
* Capital expenditures consists of additions to property, plant and * BARSBIEREME  BEREHEI
equipment and intangible assets. REREE-
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BHE2019F12A31HIEFE

170

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REDPELER (@)
(Continued)

Entity-wide disclosures ERERESE
Geographical information 1 15 )

(a)  Revenue from external customers (a) B 5 EBE AT

The following table sets out information about the
geographical locations of the Group’s revenue from
external customers during the year. The geographical
locations of customers are determined based on the
locations designated by the customers at which the
goods were delivered or services were rendered.

Domestic — Mainland China B A — B A i
Overseas — Australia 8GN — BN
(b) Non-current assets (b)
Mainland China BB Ay
Australia B
Singapore BB
Hong Kong o

The non-current asset information of Continuing
Operations above is based on the locations of the assets
and excludes prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and deferred tax assets.
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TREHFAREERBINEE
PRI E L - TP B PTEH
DEREFPEERXNE MR

R 7% #9 th B & 5F o
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
517,637 599,659
97,033 85,091
614,670 684,750

RBEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
887,844 863,928
41,984 40,326
394 -
608 -
930,830 904,254

LRAFEREXBHIERBEE
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BIEEN R - M EWRRIA R E
EENMREERBEE -



Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REIHER &
(Continued)
Entity-wide disclosures (Continued) EREREE @®)
Information about major customers FTEEFEH
Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to REGBBRAIO%HAEHZTEERR
10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below: B AES AT
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBFIT
Customer A R 435,144 528,863
Customer B ®E7 62,719 -
Customer C EFA 8,072 80,434
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -Ht AR K&
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA AT
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARE TR ARET T

Revenue from contracts Z =4 41U A
with customers

Sale of industrial HETEESR:
products:
High-grade iron ISEEIVE=R L
concentrates 79,112 12.9 81,744 12.0
Coals £87 6,347 1.0 271,416 39.6
Steels ] £ 428,797 69.8 246,499 36.0
Rendering of specialised 12t = % G5 PR 7
mining services 97,033 15.8 85,091 12.4

Rendering of consultancy 12 4t & & & 12 R 7%
and management
services 3,381 0.5 - -

614,670 100.0 684,750 100.0
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172

Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Segments

Type of goods or
services

High-grade iron
concentrates

Trading of coals

Trading of steels

Rendering of
specialised
mining services

Rendering of
consultancy and
management
services

Geographical
markets

Mainland China

Australia

Time of revenue
recognition

Goods transferred at
a point in time

Services transferred
over time

il

& AR % A

[SECIVEEE
==
MHAEE
RHBXRFERRS

&

e R &
B2 R

#4845

o B A 3
RN

LN AT
AR B R
B E

e B ] 2 2% &) AR 75

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

5. WA-EHEMtlR AR W= )
BEEEHBA
(a) EBEHFFUAZH
BZE2019F12831BLFE
High-Fe Specialised

mining mining  Corporate

operation Trading services and others Total
= 8 m 1 5%

BRUE R BEH BERIRY LERHEM &st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR¥TR AR®BTRT AR%¥T:R
79,112 - - - 79,112
— 6,347 — = 6,347
- 428,797 - - 428,797
- - 97,033 - 97,033
3,381 - — = 3,381
82,493 435,144 97,033 - 614,670
82,493 435,144 - - 517,637
- - 97,033 - 97,033
82,493 435,144 97,033 - 614,670
79,112 435,144 — - 514,256
3,381 - 97,033 - 100,414
82,493 435,144 97,033 - 614,670
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2018

(a)

Segments

Type of goods or
services

High-grade iron
concentrates

Trading of coals

Trading of steels

Rendering of
specialised mining
services

Geographical
markets

Mainland China

Australia

Time of revenue
recognition

Goods transferred at
a point in time

Services transferred
over time

ISh
ok
sl

& 3 AR 3% R A
= fn i # 15 TR

[

3
il

KEE
REEERHRRS

il
g

HE T 5

B A
SR

WA R B
ME - fE B %
) H

I B P 48 5 0 AR 7%

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE

5. WA -HARWKzE &)
BEFEHWA (&)

(a) EHFFSUAEH (E)
HE2018F12A31HILFE

High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading services  and others Total
=8 HE
RIEETS 855 FRERRS  EREM A&t
RMB'000 RMB'00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFTT AREFTT AREFT ARBTT AR®TR
81,744 - - - 81,744
- 271,416 - - 271,416
- 246,499 - - 246,499
- - 85,091 - 85,091
81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
81,744 517,915 - - 599,659
- - 85,091 - 85,091
81,744 517,915 85,091 — 684,750
81,744 517,915 - - 599,659
- - 85,091 - 85,091
81,744 517,915 85,091 — 684,750
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HE2019F12A3181EFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in
segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Segments

Revenue from
contracts with
customers

External customers

Intersegment sales

Intersegment
adjustments and
eliminations

Total revenue from
contracts with
customers

5. WA -HEttW ARz &)
EFEEHNBAN (&
(a) EHR7RAEH (&)
TXHEHINEFEHOWAEDFE
HARENSENEER:
BZE2019F12A318LFE
High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading services and others Total
= 8 m HE
2 & REEL BEE HAERB SXRHEM &5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR®BTR AR¥®TRT AR¥TR
BEFEHBA
ShERE P 82,493 435,144 97,033 - 614,670
7 BB 8 & 4,733 - 2,007 - 6,740
87,226 435,144 99,040 - 621,410
73 B 8 B N iR
!
(4,733) = (2,007) - (6,740)
N RO UN
L
82,493 435,144 97,033 - 614,670
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -BEtRARWE (&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHNWA (&)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) EHFSUAEH (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE2018F12A31HILFE
High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading services  and others Total
= 8 L L 3
Segments 7 8h REER BB MR tEREM At

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTET ARBTRT ARBTRT

Revenue from EEEHBA
contracts with
customers
External customers SNERE P 81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
Intersegment sales D EE S E 8,113 - 2,000 646 10,759
89,857 517,915 87,091 646 695,509
Intersegment D ESE AR R K
adjustments and
eliminations (8,113) - (2,000) (646) (10,759)
Total revenue from BEFEAEHWALEE
contracts with
customers 81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
The following table shows the amounts of revenue T%%@T\$¥&iﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬁ§ RET AR S B
recognised in the current reporting period that were MeNBENRASEE:
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:
2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBFTT
Revenue recognised that was included in PR ATRE BV A L
contract liabilities at the beginning of BEMBASE:
the reporting period:
Rendering of specialised mining services —#5E L& ¥ KIR{E B EFIR
from Continuing Operations (note 25) HE?}’% (Fft5E25) 5,811 1,526
Sale of industrial products from I e B HE T
Discontinued Operations (note 25) Euu (M$5x25) - 429
5,811 1,955
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the concentrates and payment is generally due within
120 days from delivery.

Specialised mining services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and a proportional payment in
advance is normally required. Payment is generally
due upon completion of processing and customer
acceptance.

Consultancy and management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Consultancy and management
service contracts are for periods of one year or more, and
are billed based on the time incurred.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the amount of
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) which
are expected to be recognised as revenue within one
year relate to rendering of specialised mining service and
consultancy and management services.

WA -HMW AR &)
- YA ONE )

(b)
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F 128318 LFE
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -HEttWARKE &)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHNWA (@)
(Continued)
(b)  Performance obligations (Continued) (b) EHEME ()
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: HiWARKZEHHITET :
2019 2018
2019 201845
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 ARBT T ARBEFT
Other income Hiug A
Bank interest income ]RATH B WA 68 49
Government grants XS 466 B a 4 86
Remission of general —BAEZHRE
interest charge b 2,908 -
Miscellaneous HAb 855 240
3,835 375
Gains W
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - FE &
plant and equipment Bl 2,087 227
Total other income and gains E b Uz A F2 U 25 42 58 5,922 602
Notes: B &
(a) There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies (a) BERWZEHB N RER K
relating to these grants. GRS E SR ESEE
(b) The remission of general interest charge was from the (b) RERIE B R R IE 12 RN
Australia Tax Office upon settlement of payables during B Bka T8 — RS ST R
the year. %o
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6. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from Continuing Operations is as

follows:

Interest on bank and other loans

Other miscellaneous interest charges

Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(d))

Interest on hire purchase arrangements

Unwinding of discount on provision
(note 28)

HRIT M H AL E KA F S

H bR E A B 52
HEBENHNE (ME16(d))
HEZ 0 HE
BEnRERD (HE28)

B 85 B AR

SEEEEBHBR AT :

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
3,497 7,906

793 -

107 -

= 320

(358) 117

4,039 8,343
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax from Continuing Operations
was arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Cost of services rendered

Employee benefit expenses
(including Directors’ and
chief executive’s remuneration
(note 8)):
Wages and salaries
Welfare and other benefits
Pension scheme contributions
— Defined contribution fund
Housing fund
— Defined contribution fund

Total employee benefit expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of other intangible asset

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Impairment losses recognised on:

Other intangible asset
Assets classified as held for sale

Property, plant and equipment
Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and other assets
Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables, net

Total provision for/(reversal of)
impairment losses, net

Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

Auditor’s remuneration

BEELFERA
B R HERF A

EERMNAX (2%
EERESTTBAER
o (HaEs) ) -

TERHE

8 B B A M &

B EIHER
- AEHRKES

EERAEE
—REHRKES

BERAFRX B
ME- BERRETE

EREEERE
B EEHE
HipE & E#H

FrEREHAS

FhUA T IR B HERR AR (E
B8
Hp B\ EE
DRBFIEHER

BE
M- BB MR E
ETATEN IR HAit

FE U R TR M E A

BENSREE

R M5 B R 1B S 1R 3 [
HEE

BREEBREES
(M)

WESAHERENE
CORIER=E

12 246 BN

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes

B E

13
16(b)

14

15

15

13

17

20

16(d)

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

HFEKEXBBAFE
(E8)
AEEOFREEEBHAFE (B
18) TR (FEA) FHIRERER -

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBEF T
477,106 560,747
84,089 73,463
30,577 22,207
670 841
4,195 3,781
281 161
35,723 26,990
10,421 16,443
1,240 -
860 944
843 915
13,364 18,302
6,545 -
5,941 1,469

= 1,071

2,083 23
(8,844) (9,898)
5,725 (7,335)
984 1,371
1,400 1,050
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“HKSE"),
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:

Fees we

Hi <
Fe RMMEMN®

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions
— Defined contribution fund

RSB
- AERRES

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors
during the year were as follows:

Mr. Yu Haizong RBRFEE
Mr. Liu Yi i
Mr. Wu Wen RXFEHE

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive Directors during the year
(2018: Nil).

8.

EERBESITHRAEHHE
REsHHNERES

RBFBBRZA (BRM)EFLTR
8- FE R FHEGIZE383(1)(@) (b)* () & (f)
FEARAR (REEENEER) ROE
2BBEBAFEEFTRERTRABNF
BT

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
2,244 900

694 365

45 48

739 413

2,983 1,313

(a) BYFHTES
FRERBLFATEEN RS

NN
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETF T
150 150
150 150
150 150
450 450

FRTEEMBLIFRITESH
EHih B S (20184 1 4 ) -
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. ESRESITHABEFMIU
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EEESFHNNAEREES @)
EMPLOYEES (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive (b) HITEZE -FHTEER
directors and the chief executive BREITHAE
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contributions Total
e EER BikE
ue B &= HE K3 &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE TR ARBTR AR®TF AR®BTR

2019 20194
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Jiang Zhong B

Ping® 150 92 15 257
Mr. Hao Xiemin( TS & B 5 A 150 301 15 466
Mr. Wang Hu(™ T FR A A 150 301 15 466

450 694 45 1,189

Non-executive FHITES
Director
Mr. Teh Wing B o) S A
Kwan® 1,344 - - 1,344

1,794 694 45 2,533
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B 75 R MY R

Year ended 31 December 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. ESRESITHAEHFMHU

REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID FEEEFHNNERES @)

EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive (b) HITEZ FHTEER
director and the chief executive BETHRAER (&)
(Continued)

Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e 2R BRE
we EWH = FHEIftR BEr
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBF T ARBFT ARBF T
2018 20184

Executive directors  #117# =
Mr. Jiang Zhong B Ao

Ping® 150 117 16 283
Mr. Hao Xiemin‘™ 7 & & 25 A @ 150 124 16 290
Mr. Wang Hu‘® FREE 150 124 16 290
450 365 48 863
Non-executive FHNTES
Director
Mr. Teh Wing WL ED
Kwan® - . _ _
450 365 48 863
Notes: BsE
0) Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping was re-designated from the (i) Brh A R20178F10812
chairman of the Board and the acting chief executive HFREBEFEEIRAREERENR

officer to the chief executive officer on 12 October
2017.

(i) Mr. Teh Wing Kwan was appointed as a non-executive
director and the chairman of the Board on 26 July 2017
and 12 October 2017, respectively.

(iii) Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu were appointed
as executive Directors on 1 January 2018, and their
share options were then reclassified from the category
“employees” to the category “Executive directors”.
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EENRBSITHAEHMHU
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EEaFMrERES @)
EMPLOYEES (continued)
(c) Five highest paid employees () BEFMNERES
The five highest paid employees during the year FABRSRTHHOREEETE
didn’t include any Directors (2018: Nil), details of FBES(2018F ) - KFNF
whose remuneration are set out above. Details of the MEFBEEHINR EX - RFRERE
remuneration for the year of the five (2018: five) highest (2018F : A& ) MEIEE FIRIEAR
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief RAERSITRAEN RS HME
executive of the Company are as follows: BHFHMFEOT
2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBFT
Salaries, allowances and e RMREDH &
benefits in kind 5,591 5,353
Pension scheme contributions RS EIMERK 445 453
6,036 5,806
The number of non-director and non-chief executive BN AT 80 B A = 5 BE
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within B (EEFRIHERITBRAE)N
the following bands is as follows: HEWMT:

Number of employees

EEZE
2019 2018
20194 20184
Nil to HKD1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T Nil £ Nil
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000 7T 4 4
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 Jt £2,000,000/% T 1 1
5 5
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

9. INCOME TAX
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group was not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI during the two years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong
Kong during the two years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The provision for PRC CIT is based on the respective PRC CIT
rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in Mainland China as
determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and
regulations of Mainland China for the year.

All subsidiaries domiciled in the PRC (the “PRC subsidiaries”)
were subject to the PRC CIT rate of 25% during the year
ended 31 December 2019. Pursuant to the income tax rules
and regulations in Australia, the Group's subsidiaries located in
Australia are liable to Australia corporate income tax at a rate of
30% on the assessable profits generated for the year. Pursuant
to the income tax rules and regulations in Singapore, the
Group's subsidiary located in Singapore are liable to Singapore
corporate income tax at a rate of 17% on the assessable profits
generated for the year.

The major components of income tax credit are as follows:

Current — Singapore BIVER — b4
Charge for the year FRXH

Current — Mainland China BVER —rp B A 3
Charge for the year FRXZH

Deferred (note 18) R (KMi5E18)

Exchange realignment IE W AR

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year BEEEEBFARBEID
from Continuing Operations (K%)s@s

Total tax charge for the year from ERIEREEBFANRIAL D
Discontinued Operations (note 10) 4258 (MI7E10)

Frigst
BEREHEREBREZHESHHRAIK
O B E20199F X2018F 128318 1
MEFERN AEBEEBRANHSHEE R
EBRZHSEE -

AAAREBREZ2019F X2018F12A
BTELEMEFELEREREELREE
BRSO ERRFE  MARBREBFER
TEH B

AP B EAE B L R BRE T IREAR
FETEAREAREAAERARERE
HEREAR B R A T8 E R+
EEAEHRREEE -

FrEdRBEFEMTFAR ([FEFAE])R
HZE2019F12A831B I FERAL25%
B AR B TS BB R AT o AR BRI A
FTE AR A RIRH - REBAARMAOT
NRARFENEENERTFBIZ30%
BBt SR A BN 1 ZEFT 1S B o AR IR T N3
B AT 1S B 48 B R AR 01+ A 52 Bz A 8 AN 3
WTRRIBERFRNEENERRABIZ
17% BB RGN N D ERER -

SRR R M BAKBHMT

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARET T
3 —

1,270 -
4,818 (2,666)

= (142)

6,091 (2,808)
1,551 16,116
7,642 13,308
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the applicable tax rate for the companies
within the Group to the tax charge/(credit) at the effective tax
rate is as follows:

SECEEBHANE,

Profit/(loss) before tax from

Continuing Operations (B#E)
Profit/(loss) before tax from B A% 1 48 & ST A A B
Discontinued Operations / (E5#E)

WHREAENRFEN

Tax at the respective statutory

tax rates: TR
— Mainland China subsidiaries, —HEAHF AT
at 25% 25%
— Australia subsidiaries, at 30% —BMFRATF) 30%
- the Company and its Hong Kong ~ — A2 & EHEEH
subsidiary, at 16.5% F A" 16.5%
- Singapore subsidiaries, at 17% —FEF R 17%
Expenses not deductible for tax AT HI B B 2
Tax effect of tax losses not RERTIE BBV B
recognised -2
Tax effect of deductible temporary A #ER A {18 & b5 =581
differences not recognised M E
Income not subject to tax BARTMA
Tax losses utilised from the PABTFEMNHIBESR

prior year

BAKBEERREFEN
BIAS H

Tax charge at the Group's effective
tax rate

REBRBEXAENTE
REEBRE

Tax charge from Continuing
Operations at the effective
tax rate

Tax charge from Discontinued REBEBEFEND &I
Operations at the effective REEBHIBY H
tax rate

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

9. FBH @)
Ela) SN S NS Bl
BBATAE, (R MBEX
) RIRERBEFEOBEL S (I

&) BRI :
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
P 5E AR¥ET T ARET T
(7,481) 1,848
75,870 (437,791)
68,029 (435,943)
25,156 (108,986)
(3,852) -
(2,856) -
11 -
(a) 2,691 4,385
8,503 40,829
18,007 79,853
(38,249) 3)
(1,769) (2,770)
7,642 13,308
6,091 (2,808)
1,551 16,116

2019 F3; | PRNKHEBBEERAA 185

N



Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 R MY R

Year ended 31 December 2019

HE2019F12A3181EFE

9. INCOME TAX (Continued)

Note:

(a) Expenses not deductible for tax for the year ended 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018 mainly consist of administrative
expenses incurred by offshore companies. These expenses are
not expected to be deductible for tax.

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Disposal Group is mainly engaged in mining and
ore processing and sale of self-produced low-grade iron
concentrates and titanium concentrates products mainly in
the southern region of Sichuan. As mentioned in note 1(d),
the Disposal Group was disposed of on 30 July 2019. With
the completion of the Disposal, the gain on disposal of the
Discontinued Operations and the related income tax are
presented in the results of the Disposal Group.

10.

FrE% &)

(a HZ=2019F 128318 K2018412 A
BTHLEFENAAIMBALEZBRE
BEE N REEMTHAY - ISR TE
RN

B IEREEFK

i =B BRI RSP [ 1 F R AR
REAEENREE A ERRBMERBER
SR TR S R MO BE TS o AN B EE 1 () AT
HEEEM2019F7A30BEH - BEE H
EEEEN HEDRIEEEEBH IR
MIEAMSHEI AL EEEMELE-
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

The results of the Disposal Group for the period ended 30 July

2019 and year ended 31 December 2018 are presented below:

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment

Impairment losses on intangible
assets

Impairment losses on right-of-use
assets

Impairment losses on
prepaid land lease payments

Reversal of/(provision for)
impairment losses on trade
receivables, net

Impairment losses on
financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Finance costs

Loss from the
Discontinued Operations

Gain on disposal of the
Discontinued Operations

Profit/(loss) before tax from
Discontinued Operations
Income tax expense

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE
PERIOD FROM THE
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Note
B 5

A
$HE RN

E7

HAth WA Ko W
HE KD HFAX
T X

H 5 <
WoRFE=R 2R %A

M BE MREBRE
18
BREERERR

EREEERERRE
BN LA E SR ERBE

FEY R FORE B IR E,
(B ) F8

FEATEN IR - E R IR
RAMEMEENE R
BEREEEIER
FIFEHEMEE
BB ER

B FE AR

ERIEREEBNER

HEDRIEEEEBD
W

BRI REEBBA
R (B8)
PSR X

ERIEELEXEBHAR
M (E8)

CRIEREER (@)

HEEBENEHZE201947 308 LB &
HE2018F12A31H I EENEELY

N

Period ended Year ended
30 July 31 December

2019 2018
HZE20195 HZE20184F
7A30H ILHE  12A31ALLEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBEF T
308,941 457,221
(243,892) (381,862)
65,049 75,359

27,547 121,396
(38,696) (73,103)
(24,915) (83,453)
(2,514) (26,021)

- (2,680)

(62,095) (112,238)
(5,151) (266,630)

(3,588) -

- (8,841)

(3,208) 3,452

- (12,198)

(29,556) (52,834)
(77,127) (437,791)
152,997 -
75,870 (437,791)

(1,551) (16,116)

74,319 (453,907)
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Year ended 31 December 2019

HE2019F12A3181EFE
10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 10. ERIEKEXER (&)
Note: Bt 5
(a) The Group measured the assets of a disposal group classified as (a) AEBZEEDEEANTERBESENX

held for sale at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. In accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies, each asset or CGU is evaluated annually at 31
December or biannually at 30 June to determine whether there
are any indications of impairment. If any such indications of
impairment exist, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount
is performed. As mentioned in the Group’s annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has entered
into the SPA with Chengyu Vanadium Titano on 29 January
2019 in respect of the Disposal with the consideration of
RMB550,000,000. Upon the Completion, the Disposal Group (i)
ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company and (ii) has since
become subsidiaries of Chengyu Vanadium Titano. A formal
estimate of the recoverable amount as at 30 July 2019 had been
made.

In assessing whether an impairment is required, the carrying
value of the asset or CGU is compared with its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU's fair
value less costs of disposal and VIU. Management has performed
impairment assessment on all of the carrying amounts of the
Group's property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
prepaid land lease payments. For the purpose of impairment
assessment, Baicao CGU (comprising the mining right to Baicao
Mine, stripping activity assets of Baicao Mine and Baicao
Processing Plant) and Xiushuihe CGU (comprising the mining
right to Xiushuihe Mine, land use right of Xiushuihe Mining,
Xiushuihe Processing Plant and Hailong Processing Plant) are
treated as separate CGUs. The recoverable amounts of Baicao
CGU, Xiushuihe CGU, the exploration right of Haibaodang
Mine, the mining right of Cizhuging Mine and Yangqueging
Mine were estimated based on their respective VIU determined
by discounting the future cash flows to be generated from the
continuing use of these assets. The recoverable amounts are
determined based on the calculation using cash flow projections
according to financial budgets covering periods ranging from
10 to 12 years approved by management with pre-tax discount
rates ranging between 12.00% and 16.11% (31 December
2018: 12.01% and 15.26%) depending on the nature of the
CGU/asset. The cash flows beyond the periods ranging from 3 to
5 years are extrapolated using a zero growth rate until the end
of the useful lives of respective asset.
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Note: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)
Other key assumptions used in the estimation of VIU are as
follows:

Resources/reserves — These represent one of the key factors
management has considered during the impairment testing,
which comprise resources (measured, indicated and inferred)
estimated, and/or reserves (proved and probable) where
appropriate, on the basis of appropriate geological evidence
and sampling, with reference to the resources and reserves
statements prepared by appropriate competent persons.

Commodity prices — Forecast commodity prices are based on
management’s estimates and are derived from forward price
curves and long-term views of domestic supply and demand,
building on past experience of the industry and consistent
with external sources. These prices were adjusted to arrive
at appropriate consistent price assumptions for the different
qualities and type of commodities, or, where appropriate,
contracted prices were applied. These prices are reviewed at
least annually.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margin achieved in the recent years for Baicao CGU and
Xiushuihe CGU, adjusted for management’s expectations for
possible changes in the production costs and estimated market
prices.

Production volumes — Estimated production volumes are
based on the detailed life of mine plans taking into account
development plans of the mine agreed by management as part
of the long-term planning process.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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10. ERIEREEK &)
fsE: (&)

(a)

(%)
B EREEREANEMERRR
W

BERE 2 TyERERRERR
BOEEMBRAZ— BES22E
HENARERALTRENERE R
REHRR ENEEBEFRIMRE
s et ERE (R 126 RiE
B R/SiEe (FEREE) (NE
) e

BamESE-—EAERERNEERE
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af e
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EMBEENEELRERSELEN
RFXAR©EEEAFERNF
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Year ended 31 December 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFE

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 10. BRIELKREXK (@)
Note: (Continued) Max: (&)
(a) (Continued) (a) (%)

Based on the above-mentioned impairment assessment, the
recoverable amounts, carrying amounts as at 30 July 2019 and
impairment provisions for the period ended 30 July 2019 are as

R s ERE - 420197 A30H
WAk el &5 RSB RE E2019
F7A308 L HARMRERENT

follows:
Recoverable Carrying Impairment
amount amount provision
A E £ 58 RESE AR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTT ARBFT ARBFTT
Baicao CGU BEReEEEM 128,870 175,310 46,440
Xiushuihe CGU FARONR G EEEN 290,442 314,836 24,394
70,834

The above impairment provisions as at 30 July 2019 have been
allocated to the following asset classes.

Impairment loss recognised on property, plant and
equipment

An impairment loss of RMB62,095,000 (2018: RMB112,238,000)
was recognised during the period ended 30 July 2019 to
write down the carrying amounts of Baicao Processing Plant,
Xiushuihe processing plant and Hailong Processing Plant to
their respective recoverable amounts of RMB107,314,000,
RMB216,025,000 and RMB62,841,000 as at 30 July 2019.

Impairment loss recognised on prepaid land lease
payments/right-of-use assets

An impairment loss of RMB3,588,000 (2018: RMB8,841,000)
was recognised during the period ended 30 July 2019 to write
down the carrying amounts of prepaid land lease payments/
right-of-use assets of Baicao Mine and Xiushuihe Mine to
their respective recoverable amounts of RMB7,259,000 and
RMB11,576,000 as at 30 July 2019.

Impairment loss recognised on intangible assets

An impairment loss of RMB5,151,000 (2018: RMB266,630,000)
was recognised during the period ended 30 July 2019 to write
down the carrying amount of the mining right and stripping
activity assets of Baicao Mine to the recoverable amount of
RMB14,296,000 as at 30 July 2019.

The impairment losses recognised for Baicao CGU and Xiushuihe
CGU were primarily a result of higher compliance cost due to
stringent environmental regulations in recent years.
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Tt

B EEREN G EES

H =2019%7A30H 1 B9 7 52 898
BEEAARYS5,151,0005T (2018
£ AR#266,630,0007T) ' §EHHA
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group

as at 30 July 2019 are as follows:

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Prepaid land lease payments

Right-of-use assets

Payments in advance

Deferred tax assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Due from related parties

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale

Assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale

LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payables

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and other loans
Due to related parties

Tax payable

Dividend payable

Lease liability

Provision for rehabilitation

Liabilities directly associated with the
assets classified as held for sale

Net assets/(liabilities) directly associated
with the Disposal Group

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

10. BRUEKREER &)
HEEBMN2019F7A30BMNEBEENR

BEERDT:
30 July 31 December
2019 2018
201945 20184
7A308 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AREFIT
BE

W WEREE 409,395 403,423
BEEE 335,761 340,666
AT HER - 23,064
EREEE 21,462 -
TEHRIA 156 156
R IEE E 37,668 39,218
e~y 55,641 45,594
FE W R K - 47,614

TEAS FRIE - H R U GRIE &

Hih&EE 140,048 138,040
JiE U7 A B 5 3R0E 28 27
ReRkBFeEEY 55 75
DEARIELENEE 260,000 260,000
DEARBELENLHEHENMNEE

1,260,214 1,297,877
8&
FEATBR B KR R HR 138,243 119,561
H b FE A /I8 K BT RIE 349,130 364,055
AFERITREMER 796,098 802,098
JE < BB B 5 SRR 449 449
JE A B R (6,931) (6,821)
JE A R B, 1,801 1,801
HEBRE 1,507 -
BIREAE 35,484 10,347

HAOBARELENEERR

HEnaE 1,315,781 1,291,490
HEEEEEEAENTEEE

(A7) (55,567) 6,387
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

10.

/ 192

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 10.

The net cash flows incurred by the Disposal Group for the period
ended 30 July 2019 and year ended 31 December 2018 are as

follows:

Operating activities KEES
Investing activities KREZH
Financing activities BMEEH
Net cash outflow WEMHFRE
Earnings/(loss) per share: TRk H AT (EE)
Basic and diluted, from the EXRREE BRIEKEER

Discontinued Operations

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
from the Discontinued Operations are based on:

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary (SRER AR E@EBRERE AN

equity holders of the parent BRI EEBFE (FE)
from the Discontinued Operations
Weighted average number of ARFAEEREARR
ordinary shares used in the BERF (BB
basic and diluted earnings/(loss) LR NRE T 8 (P EE29)

per share calculation (note 29)

BRIEKREET (&)
HEEBENEHZE201947 A308 LHB &
HE2018F1N2A3IB L FEEANES

ME RN

Period ended

Year ended

30 July 31 December

2019 2018
HZE20195 HZ=2018%F
7H30H LA 12A31BLFE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARET T
31,087 52,660
(53,230) (105,150)
22,123 52,490

(20) -

RMBA R #0.0347 RMBAR®(0.201)7T

ATEERIEREEBERBMHERREE
BN, (BE)RTIATIIEE RER:

Period ended
30 July

2019

B Z2019F
7H30H Lt
i

RMBA R #
75,821,000T

2,249,015,410

Year ended
31 December
2018
HZE2018F
12A318 1k
FE

RMBA R #
(449,658,000)7T

2,249,015,410
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11.

12.

DIVIDEND

At a meeting of the Directors held on 26 March 2020, the
Directors did not recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 2,249,015,410 (2018: 2,249,015,410) in issue during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices
of the Company’s outstanding share options were higher than
the average market prices for the Company’s shares during the
current and prior years.

Notes to the Financial Statements

11.

12.

B 1% 5= B aE
Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

i B

2020438268 EITHEESSH L
ERETEFHRMNEHE2019F128318 1
FEMRPIZE (2018F - £) o

BEREAQNTIEZEERKRE
BEANERRGOERN
(E51|)
BRBROERBIDHIERBEBERARQA
TERBEEFEANFANBERES
2019F12A3MB L FEARB #EITEER
DN 15 802,249,015,4100% (20184 -
2,249,015,4100% ) 51 & o

RAE#EE20199F %2018F12A31H 1t
FE RAARMAITERNRG BENTE
ERRARRROHFHTE  WIER
RFEERBEFEZINNTRAAMDER
B,/ (BR)eEEHEAEERZE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements

81 75 SRR BT A

Year ended 31 December 2019

BHE2019F12A31HIEFE
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. X -BERRE
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles  infrastructure (“CIP) Total
BT EIE T BAERE BHER FREE ERIR &t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
31 December 2019 2019%12A31A
Cost: BA:
At 31 December 2018 72018%12A318 40,288 67,686 1,166 2,523 105,014 31,151 247,828
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 RERYHEEES
FI6RNTE = (824) - - - - (824)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) R2019F1 718 (BE75)) 40,288 66,862 1,166 2,523 105,014 31,151 247,004
Additions RE 64 3,500 153 137 30,440 7,846 42,140
Transferred from CIP HEEEIR - 463 - - - (463) -
Disposals HE - (1,048) - - - - (1,048)
Exchange realignment ERHE - 466 8 3 - 44 521
At 31 December 2019 2019124318 40,352 70,243 1327 2,663 135,454 38,578 288,617
Accumulated depreciation ZARERAE:
and impairment:
At 31 December 2018 20185124318 20,929 17,696 570 2,054 44,846 2,530 88,625
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 FER RS ES
F6RNFE - (289) - - - - (289)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) #0194 1817 (5Z3)) 20,929 17,407 570 2,054 44,846 - 88,336
Provided for the year (note 7) FREHRER (H37) (91) 5313 161 139 4,899 - 10,421
Impairment recognised during the year &R R E - - - - - - -
Disposals HE - (1,037) - - - = (1,037)
Exchange realignment EiRE - 31 4 - - 13 48
At 31 December 2019 20195124318 20,838 21,714 735 2,193 49,745 2,543 97,768
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2018 720185124318 19,359 49,990 596 469 60,168 28,621 159,203
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 RER B RS ES
F16RNTE = (535) - - - - (535)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) 120191418 (ZE5)) 19,359 49,455 596 469 60,168 28,621 158,668
At 31 December 2019 20195124318 19,514 48,529 592 470 85,709 36,035 190,849
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

31 December 2018

Cost:

At 1 January 2018

Additions from Continuing Operations

Additions from Discontinued Operations

Transferred from CIP

Disposals

Transferred to assets held for sale

Cost included in Discontinued Operations
(note 10)

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:
At 1 January 2018
Provided for the year from
Continuing Operations
Provided for the year from
Discontinued Operations
Impairment recognised during the year
from Continuing Operations (note 7)
Impairment recognised during the year
from Discontinued Operations
(note 10(a))
Disposals
Transferred to assets held for sale
Depreciation and impairment included in
Discontinued Operations (note 10)
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2018

At 31 December 2018

20185124318

RA:

#2018F1818

BEEEEBAE

BRIEEEEBAE

EOARIR

HE

BERELENEE

SABBRIEEE EBHKA
(FrzE10)

ERAE

20185124318

RAERAE:

R201851 718
FRHEHFRLERKRE

FREHROCE LEEETHERE

ERERNBELEERAE
(H&E7)

FREINER LELEBRE
(Fi3E10(a))

e

EERELENEE

SABRIEEERHNER
e (H3E10)

ERAE

20184124318

REFE:
201851418

M2018%128318

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 1S #RR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

—— R = =+
13. % BRERSRE @)

Construction

Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles  infrastructure ("CIP") Total
BT BER#E BRAERE BHEH REER ERIE Ch
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTTL ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTR ARBTTL
1,048,415 611,718 5,579 9,859 242,430 63,531 1,981,532
166 1,598 95 500 16,351 3322 22,032
11,581 23,464 318 1,018 - 43,691 80,072
3,194 13,340 - 275 - (16,809) -
- (1,646) - (559) - - (2,205
- (9,419 - - - - (9,419
(1,023,068) (568,803) (4,791) (8,557) (153,767) (62,318) (1,821,304)
- (2,566) (35) (13) - (266) (2,880)
40,288 67,686 1,166 2,523 105,014 31,151 247,828
704,943 431,815 4,780 8,847 148,093 2,156 1,350,634
2,023 7,453 132 56 6,779 - 16,443
13,953 17,451 14 162 5,468 - 37,148
- - - - - 1,071 1,071
84,959 16,653 53 432 - 10,141 112,238
- (1,369) - (516) - - (1,885)
- (8,906) - - - - (8,906)
(784,949) (495,202) (4,500) (6,927) (115,494) (10,809) (1,417,881)
- (199) (9) - - (29) (237)
20,929 17,696 570 2,054 44,846 2,530 88,625
343,472 129,903 799 1,012 94,337 61,375 630,898
19,359 49,990 596 469 60,168 28,621 159,203
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.
(Continued)
Notes: B -

(a) The net carrying amounts of the Group’s fixed assets held under (a)
hire purchase agreement included in the total amounts of plant
and machinery aggregating to RMB535,000 as of 31 December
2018.

(b) In accordance with the Group's accounting policies, each asset (b)
or CGU is evaluated annually at 31 December or biannually
at 30 June to determine whether there are any indications of
impairment. If any such indications of impairment exist, a formal

ME - BERRE &)

H2018F 128318 A ERIEHE
MEFENETEES ARE LR
LENR@mFEA X AARKS35,000
ﬁo

REBEZRBESTBREFMN12A31
A EXER6A AT EEEERR
SELEN  UEBETRE A TAREDR
Ko MR ERBRRENRR  AIfEL

estimate of the recoverable amount is made. ER AU E & 5 EET o
14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BEEE
Exploration
Mining rights and
rights assets Total
RiERE REEREE &5t
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR® T AR TR
31 December 2019 2019%12H831H
Cost: o
At 1 January and M2019F1A1A &
31 December 2019 12A31H 800,295 65,991 866,286
Accumulated amortisation HFtBHEREE:
and impairment:
At 1 January 2019 20191 H1H 128,760 - 128,760
Amortisation provided FNFHRA S BB
during the year (note 7) (Mi5E7) 860 - 860
At 31 December 2019 2019412 H31H 129,620 - 129,620
Net carrying amount: BREFHE
At 1 January 2019 PR2019F181H 671,535 65,991 737,526
At 31 December 2019 72019 12A31H 670,675 65,991 736,666

/ 196 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2019 ANNUAL REPORT



14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

31 December 2018 2018F12A31H

Cost: AR

At 1 January 2018 R2018%F1 A1H

Additions from BRIEEEEBRE
Discontinued Operations

Cost included in FARKIEEEEBH
Discontinued Operations A A (i 5£10)

(note 10)

At 31 December 2018 2018812 A31H

Accumulated Rt BEREE:
amortisation and
impairment:

At 1 January 2018 R2018%F1 A1H

Amortisation provided FRFROBELE
during the year from B R
Continuing Operations

Amortisation provided FRFARMNERIELE
during the year from EREHEE

Discontinued Operations
Impairment recognised FABRNEL LS

for the year from EBRE
Discontinued Operations

Amortisation and FAB R E R
impairment included in 5 &R {E
Discontinued Operations ~ (Hi#£10)

(note 10)

At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31H

Net carrying amount:  BREFH:
At 1 January 2018 R2018%F1 4108

At 31 December 2018 2018812 A31H

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R 2% BT 5E
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE
14. B EE (&)

Stripping Exploration

Mining activity rights and
rights assets assets Total
RiEE REDEE HKRBEEREE A&t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETT
1,283,629 150,519 437,568 1,871,716
269 - 200 469
(483,603) (150,519) (371,777) (1,005,899)
800,295 - 65,991 866,286
266,925 137,666 117,154 521,745
944 - - 944
3,988 686 - 4,674
45,309 5,172 216,149 266,630
(188,406) (143,524) (333,303) (665,233)
128,760 - - 128,760
1,016,704 12,853 320,414 1,349,971
671,535 - 65,991 737,526

As at 31 December 2019, the mining rights of Maoling
Mine with a net carrying amount of RMB20,966,000 (2018:
RMB21,826,000) were pledged to secure the Group's bank loans

(note 27(a)).

MR2019%F12A31H - EEFHEAEA
R #20,966,0007T (2018F : AR
21,826,00070) W) EsE TR KR ED E
B EAREBBEITERNER (WiF
27(a)) °
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET

31 December 2019

Cost:
At 1 January and 31 December 2019

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
At 1 January 2019

Amortisation provided during the year (note 7)
Impairment recognised for the year (note 7)

At 31 December 2019

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2019

At 31 December 2019

31 December 2018

Cost:
At 1 January and 31 December 2018

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2018
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 December 2018

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2018

At 31 December 2018

15. HtEFEEE

2019%12A31H

R
M2019F1A1H R12A31H

BB T RE:
HR2019F181H
FAFHEREEEE (ME7)
FANERHBAE (M5E7)
201912 A31H

BREHEE:
2019F1/81H

#2019 12A31H

20185 12H31H

R
7H2018F1A1H K&12A31H

Rit#Ee:
R2018F1A1H
FAFHEREERE

H2018F12A31H

BREEE:
R2018F1A1H

R2018F12A31H
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m A B
RMB'000

ARBF T

8,440

915
843
6,545

8,303

7,525
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15.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued)

Brand name arose from the acquisition of the business of
Mancala Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“Mancala
Group”), whose principal business operations are carried out in
Australia, on 1 December 2017. For the purpose of impairment
assessment, Specialised Mining Services CGU (comprising
the property, plant and equipment, the right-of-use assets of
Mancala Group and the brand name) is treated as a separate
CGU. The recoverable amount of the Specialised Mining Services
CGU was estimated based on its VIU determined by discounting
the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use
of these assets. The recoverable amount is determined based
on the calculation using cash flow projections according to
financial budgets covering a twenty-year period approved by
management with pre-tax discount rate of 13%. The cash flows
beyond the three-year period were extrapolated using a growth
rate of 2.57%, which was referred to the growth rate of the
gross domestic product in Australia for the past ten years.

Other key assumptions used in the estimation of VIU are as
follows:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the last ten year before the budget year.

Revenue growth — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the revenue growth rate is the growth of the gross
domestic product during the last ten years before the budget
year for Australia from where the revenue is mainly generated.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

Notes to the Financial Statements

15.

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

HEREE (&)

MR EBRAENR2017F12818 K E
Mancala Holdings Limited % & ¥ A 7]
(2 REKEEZEB - S RUEERN
FEEBEEBNRMET  RATERE
HERRRGHReELESBL (BEE R
EENME BALRE FRAEEER
mIE B WRABEINREELSEME
B-BEERRRBESELEMNAIKD
CHRENAGCHEE(ERURFER
AUEEEMEANRKB S MET) M
o El e EAAEREREHIERN20
FHIREE TR IR S RTEA - AR
IR E13% 5t H - 3FHE MR MR
257%MIERERE ZEREEL2ER
MNBETFENBRARNEELBEERER

st EAEERERNEMEERZN
T

BHEFF - ARNEEG TEEENED
EEOEEAEEFEN+EEHNT
R -

WAER-AREES TRAZRXRNE
BENEEREM (FERARR)NEEL
FEMTFEANLELEERER-

BB — PR AR BA IR E ORI IE - X
RERE@EMLNEERR -

BTEXEERR
B o

VBB B2 51 BB B R 2RIR —
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

15.

16.

200

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued)

Based on the impairment assessment, the recoverable amount,
carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 and impairment
provision for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Specialised Mining Services CGU BXMRERFH S ELEN

An impairment loss of RMB6,545,000 was recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2019 to write down the carrying
amount of the other intangible asset to the recoverable amount
of RMB137,000 as at 31 December 2019.

The impairment loss arising from Mancala Group was mainly due
to the challenging outlook on macro-environment and weaker
market sentiment given the increase in risk and uncertainty.
The business plan was adjusted correspondingly to reflect the
recoverable amount which consequently led to impairment.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased office premises with lease periods of three years, and
no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these
leases. Leases of office premises have lease terms between 1
and 3 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

15.

HB\EEEE @)

E W R ERE L  R2019F12H431H
FAT U El e BREe 2 R EE2019F12
AR FEMRERENT

Recoverable Carrying  Impairment
amount amount provision
AW E & R BRIE & % HAERE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT AR®TRT
42,121 48,666 6,545

16.

HZE2019F12A31B L FE AN RE
Ei8 A AR #6,545,0007T ' § E#8 E 4th
EREAENRESBEMRZEHER2019F
12A31B M A Y B € E AR 137,000
TTo

EFNEEELNREBREZRNE
B RTEEES ZEIRERMKE - M5
RAKIS - EBRECEREERE UK
BRAT U O] & 78 - EHURE °

HE

AEBEEREEA
AEEREHARS EMDEYETIE
FHEAN AEECRREBHA=F
MR EMERE N —EBAT TR
BB 1R 1 3% S T B 0 I A 151 3
AEWEREQBAN T1EIF - — &M
FARETTREREAESERSET
REBUS AL <
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16.

LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Prepaid land lease payments (before 1 January

(a)

(b)

2019)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2018
Recognised in profit or loss during the year:
Impairment recognised for the year from

Discontinued Operations

Amortised during the year from

Discontinued Operations

Assets included in Discontinued Operations

Carrying amount at 31 December 2018

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

and the movements during the year are as follows:

As at 1 January 2019

Additions

Depreciation charged (note 7)

Impairment recognised
during the year (note 10)

Decrease as a result of
disposal of subsidiaries
(assets included in
Discontinued Operations)

As at 31 December 2019

20191818

RE

BHBRKITE (H:E7)
FREZAHE (F10)

REEFRRMmEAL (FFA
BERIEEEZBNEE)

201912 A31H

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R MY R
Year ended 31 December 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFE
16. HE (@)
rEBEREBAA (&)
(a) FENL#HHEEF (K2019F15
1H57)
RMB'000
ARMEF T
R2018F 1 A1EERAE S5 33,015
REANEBRERNIES :
FRERNE L L EEBERE
(8,841)
BRI E IS F N
(1,110)
FFAERIEKEXEBNEE (23,064)
R2018F12A31HMEE 5 —
(b) EHELSE
AEBFHRAELEENRESER
FREFHOT
Prepaid
Office land lease Plant and
premises payment machinery Total
B Lt
WAEYE HEY HER#S a3t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT ARETRT AR%T:

4,578 23,064 535 28,177
1,291 - - 1,291
(1,158) - (82) (1,240)

- (3,588) - (3,588)
(1,986) (19,476) - (21,462)
2,725 - 453 3,178
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

16. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January

New leases

Accretion of interest recognised during the year

Payments

Decrease as a result of disposal of subsidiaries
(liabilities included in Discontinued Operations
(note 10))

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is within financing activities.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (d)

leases are as follows:

Interest on lease liabilities

— Continuing Operations (note 6)

— Discontinued Operations

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

Expense relating to short-term leases and the
leases with remaining lease terms ended on
or before 31 December 2019 (included in
administrative expenses) (note 7)

Variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities
(included in selling and distribution expense)
(note 7)

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

16. HE (@)

AEBEREBA (#)
) HEEE
HEEBENEESERFARY
T
2019
20194
RMB’000
AR¥ TR
MTATEMERE S 4,670
HEE 1,051
FABRHNETFE 132
3R (1,.717)
EH&EFRAamRdD (FFA
ERIFEEEBNAE
(M3E10) )
(1,507)
R1I2A31EMEE SR 2,629
DA
VoEk: e 1,254
EMENEB S 1,375

HEBBENFE

— BB ER ([iEe)
—ERIEEEER

FRAEESENTELH
BRI E M T ERN20194F
12A31H 2R RMAE
BENRAY (FFATTERMAX)
(FF&E7)

T AHEEETEN
AEAER (FFABEER
DEERAEZ) (MEE7)

RIBS R B
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PEFABE IR -

HREENERERNSHEOAT:

2019
20194
RMB’000
AR¥ET T

107
25
1,240

953

31

2,356



17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS

Current portion:
Prepayments consisting of:
Purchase of raw materials
Prepayment for the
use right of a road
Other prepayments

Other receivables consisting of:

Deductible value added
tax input
Other receivables

Impairment allowance

Non-current portion:

Prepayment for the
use right of a road

Long-term deposit

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7 R 5K B 5
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE
17. ARE HMEKRRER
HthEE
31 December 1January 31 December
2019 2019 2018
20195 20195 20184
128318 181H 12A31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
=3 AR¥T T AR¥ T AREFT
(restated)
(&%)
TEE 7 -
BARERE:
BEREME 222 8,725 8,725
BREREENRE
47 47 47
H 78 38 2,920 1,572 1,572
Hi WA TEREE:
AR E
2,784 = -
E e W EE (a) 3,248 9,689 10,911
9,221 20,033 21,255
E (b) (606) (33) (33)
8,615 20,000 21,222
FEHEE S -
BREREENRE
585 636 636
RHHS 540 536 536
1,125 1,172 1,172
9,740 21,172 22,394
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

17.

204

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

As a result of the initial application of IFRS 16, prepaid
lease payments of RMB1,222,000 previously included in
"Prepayments, other receivables and other assets” were adjusted
to the right-of-use assets recognised at 1 January 2019 (refer to
note 2.2 to the financial statements for further details)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are as follows:

At beginning of year REA
Impairment losses, net from RECEEBREREFHE
Continuing Operations (note 7) (B3E7)

Impairment losses, net from
Discontinued Operations

Amount written off as uncollectible i $5 7~ 7] 4 @] & %8

Impairment included in SPABR R IEEEEBHRE
Discontinued Operations

At end of year NGRS

Where applicable, impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering expected credit losses, which are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to
reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied for as at 31
December 2019 ranged 0.0% to 100.0% (2018: 0.0% to
100.0%).

B LSS RIS

17.

EAFE - HuERFER
HMEE &)

B e :

RY

(a)

R IG ER BRI B REERSE 16
55 LAAE R A TTE A 5RIE - H b JE U 3R
BEREMEEINBANEERARE
1,222,000 A EEZR2019F1 H1H
BRNEREEE CE—PFER2H
g IR R EE2.2)

FEATER FOE - B E R E b E
B B A O LS 1R 2 B i
T~

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B T AR¥ET T
33 51

2,083 23

= 12,198

(1,510) -

= (12,239)

606 33
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MR2019F 128318 FRTEAMEIEX
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18. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as

follows:

At 1 January 2018
Deferred tax credited/
(charged) to profit or
loss during the year from
Continuing Operations
Deferred tax credited/ (charged) to
profit or loss during the year
from Discontinued Operations
Deferred tax included in
Discontinued Operations

Deferred tax assets
at 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2019

Deferred tax credited/ (charged) to
profit or loss during the year
(note 9)

Deferred tax assets
at 31 December 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

18. EXLEHIE
FREFRIBEENFEANEESHNAT
Losses
available Excess tax
for  depreciation
offsetting over book
against value of Provision Provision
taxable fixed for for
profits assets  rehabilitation impairment Others Total
EEEEMN
A AR 85 RERE
ERE A BEREE
i) E ] NER BERER HERE Hity At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT
R2018F1A18 53,842 3,866 2,722 - 9,839 70,269
FREBZEAR/
(MR e
BeXBETRA
(30) 2,037 52 2,289 (1,682) 2,666
FREBHEAR/
(B MELIE
BEEBELEHEA (18,115) (9,605) (1,950) - 13,554 (16,116)
STABRIEEEEKN
EERE (27,509) 9,680 (416) - (20,973) (39,218)
72018F12A318
MEEHEEE 8,188 5,978 408 2,289 738 17,601
©2019F 1718 8,188 5978 408 2,289 738 17,601
FREBZEAR/
(k) BREHE
(B3E9) (4,389) (338) (77) (14) - (4,818)
FR2019F12A318H
BEHERE 3,799 5,640 331 2,275 738 12,783

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has tax losses arising
from Mainland China of RMB1,081,481,000 (2018:
RMB32,971,000) that would expire in one to five years and
other deductible temporary differences of RMB120,883,000
(2018: RMB127,269,000) that were available for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses and deductible temporary
differences as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which they can be utilised.

R2019%12 8318 AEBEBFRAF
R R —ERAFAE BN IAEE
AR #1,081,481,0007T (20184 : A B
#532,971,0007T ) fo E fib A] 08 & IS = 58
AR #120,883,0007T (20184F : AR ¥
127,269,0007T) » 7] FB LA §5 7K 2R FE R Y
FE - AR REBER BT KO REHR FERTL
FUE AT A DA SH | sl /B 48 K AT 30 0R B B
FRE R AR AR R T HURE R
BERAELEREEE -
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18.

19.

206

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets related to the PRC subsidiaries have been
provided at the enacted corporate income tax rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has been effective from
1 January 2008 and applied to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The withholding tax rate for the Group is
10%.

As at 31 December 2019, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group's subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials JR AT ¥

Spare parts and consumables BB B KB m
Finished goods X i

Others HAh

Provision for inventories FEEE

18.

19.

ELERIE (@)
HAETATAEENEEHBEEED IR
25% ) B B M b B TS BB R 5 -

RHEPEEBEREER RGN 95
& F 72 A B A M B S B SN E 1D 2 AR R Ah
B & & MBI 10% 9 TBH0RL - 3% R
EE H2008F1A1THRBRAES LEAR
200712 A31HBEM AT - HF B R
WEINRIEEEME R ERE ZBFE
MEhE At gEARENTENHRE-
HAEEMS  ENHRERE10% °

R2019F12A31H BHASERFEA
K S B F R B RSN TE F B ) R BE R
BRME MEEREZSFENENRAE
BMRERIEEE - EFRE ZSTA
BINKATBER A BB R D IRZERF

7E

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
8,213 3,011
1,553 2,314

125 278
19,554 18,083
29,445 23,686
(27) (59)
29,418 23,627
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TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. FEWERR
2019 2018
2019 201845
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBEFT
Trade receivables JRE W R 215,357 126,886
Impairment A (12,813) (21,657)
202,544 105,229
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on REFREPHNESRREERBREL
credit. During the year, the Group granted credit terms ranging X BRTRIDARESS  MAEEFANG
from six months to nine months to its customers for sale of self- TEEEQHEENEP AZNEANE
produced products because the market conditions remained RE - W TESEP REXERERBEE
weak and a credit term of six months to its trading customers PREARERE - BURERRA T B R
and customers for specialised mining services. Trade receivables KR o
are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of each REREHRR ERRABRB A E
reporting period, based on the date of revenue recognised and AR (B RS EEE) (iR DT
net of loss allowance, is as follows: T
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBEFTT
Within 3 months 3fEA R 178,257 103,751
3 to 6 months 3%Z6(E A 29,734 14
6 to 9 months 6Z91E A 162 -
9 to 12 months 9ZE 1218 A - -
Over 1 year HBiE1F 7.204 1,464
215,357 105,229
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20.

208

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year REH]
Reversal of impairment, net from

Continuing Operations (note 7) (FI7E7)
Reversal of impairment, net from

Discontinued Operations

20.

FERKERGRERRFE

ERIEEEEBRER L FE

Amount written off as uncollectible i gH A AT U el 5 2R

Impairment included in FFTABRKRIEE A E B ERE
Discontinued Operations

At end of year REL

The decrease in the loss allowance was a result of the settlement
of trade receivables past due.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type and rating).
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at

The calculation reflects the

the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

forecasts of future economic conditions.

JE LI& /\E Zl—)\ (/lﬁ
FEWSRFOREBREENZESHMT

2019 2018
20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARBTF T

21,657 343,844

(8,844) (9,898)

= (3,452)

= (2,999)

= (305,838)

12,813 21,657
BB R 2 B R i B R IR SR B 4

RE®REEH AEENARBEETE
?E,H FRIBK - AETTRED 1T - BB X

ERZEARBUEREANTF S H
%H%J(Eﬂhzgﬁ*ﬁ%w A B 5 )E’Jﬁ%ﬁ
REEE  FHEITDERRBL R A
TEEBENRE B RATES ﬁﬁ%i@
EEM BRI R R RE A TR
ANGEMARBEFER - —&KM=E
JRE M B 7 n 280 B B R R B AT TR D A
PR - RIS MEH o
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20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2019

Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount
(RMB’000)

Settlement subsequently
(RMB'000)

Carrying amount subject
to credit risk exposure
(RMB'000)

Expected credit losses
(RMB'000)

B AEEE

AR AR %R
(AR®TTT)

EZEERRD
FEmE R
(AR®ETTT)

BHEREX
(AR®TTT)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

20. FEUWBRFR (@)
T STk 51 R B 18 4 I 15 1 A o B K
EZEEMEERROER

A2019F12A31H

Current Past due Total
B #A B ot
3.1% 100%
208,153 7,204 215,357
(27,223) - (27,223)
180,930 7.204 188,134
5,609 7,204 12,813
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20.

210

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 December 2018

Expected credit loss rate TEHERELAE
Gross carrying amount fRm4asE
(RMB'000) (AR®TT)

From Continuing Operations #4848 & £ 75
From Discontinued Operations T #% |F4&E &

Settlement subsequently Hig#t s
(RMB'000) (AR®TT)
From Continuing Operations FEEET
From Discontinued Operations 4% [F4& & 2 7%

Carrying amount subject AZEERRY
to credit risk exposure REeHE
(RMB'000) (AR¥FT)

From Continuing Operations #4848 & ¥ 75
From Discontinued Operations 4% |F 48 & 27§

Expected credit losses TEEEREX
(RMB’000) (AR%TT)
From Continuing Operations &KL £
From Discontinued Operations 4% [F4& & ¥ 7%

20. FEWRBRF (#)
R2018F12A31H
Current Past due Total
B 58 i1 5 Bz
1.5% 100%
105,376 21,510 126,886
47,699 305,753 353,452
(95,570) - (95,570)
(42,003) - (42,003)
9,806 21,510 31,316
5,696 305,753 311,449
147 21,510 21,657
85 305,753 305,838
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20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Transferred financial assets that are
derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2019, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables to these suppliers
with a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB218,863,000
(2018: RMB249,880,000); furthermore, as at 31 December
2019, the Group did not discount bills receivable accepted by
banks in the PRC (2018: RMB500,000) (collectively referred
to as the "Derecognised Bills”). The Derecognised Bills have
a maturity term from three to six months at the end of the
reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills
and the associated advances on discounting and trade payables.
The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their
face amounts. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
are not significant.

During the year, the Group has a recognised interest expense of
nil (2018: Nil) on discounted bills receivable. No gains or losses
were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during
the year and cumulatively. The endorsement and discount of
bills receivable have been made evenly throughout the year.

Notes to the Financial Statements

20.

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

FEWBR R (4)
BRERIBIANCEZSREE

MR2019F12A31H AEEM@AT
HEBMHFTECPENRERTEANS
FTrKEZEERE WEEEBAEAAR
#218,863,0007T (2018F : AR
249,880,000 ) M FE % S HEE R
e BEN2019F12A8318  AEH
I 4R BE IR S R B R SR 1T B Y B U = R
(20184 : A R#500,0007T) (&8 [4&
IEHRRER]) - RMERR KILEER
EBRAH=-EANEA -ZRPREEEE
WA BEMRTELY AR IEBRBEER
EABERAEEREHEBN ([FEES
H]) FERA AEEDBRIEERE
BEB RIS B MBI RER - 2 EUH
R EREE LB R B E
NEFHEHEE S AEERYK L
BREZENFEEE2ENAERZER
IEERBEMNRBBERSRAMEAZEL
MEaRBESRAERE -EFR A K
SEHEKRIIERZERNFEES2HNIR
FETRK-

FR-AKEERABBCHRRREME
EMFERE AT (2018F : ) - WEH
FEMN2EERFARRRELERE-
EREENOHERBERENBEAFEDE
Ho P o
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21.

212

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

Due from related parties:
Trade in nature

— Huili Caitong
Dividend receivable

— Huili Caitong

Due to related parties:
Non-trade in nature
— Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining
Co., Ltd. ("Yanyuan Xiwei")

— Longwei Hotel Management
Co., Ltd. ("Longwei Hotel")

— Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co.,
Ltd. (“Chuan Wei")

— Mancala Resources Pty Ltd.
(“Mancala Resources”)

— Martin Kyne Consultants Pty Ltd
— Skanworth Pty Ltd
— Trisonic International

— Akerman and Elliott Family Trust

Dividend payable
— Huili Caitong

JEY B 7y 5B
B5MHE
— IR
FE U A% B
—SIEEm

JE 1T BF 7 71 0E -
FEHUE

—HRGET R
BREAERA
(MERPERE )

— )1 B BB G B R
ERAF
(MBERUBE])

—mE N EEE
BraE ([IE])

— Mancala Resources
Pty Ltd. ([Mancala
Resources | )

— Martin Kyne
Consultants Pty Ltd

— Skanworth Pty Ltd

— & Bl B

— Akerman and Elliott
Family Trust

JE -1 AR 2,
— &R

21.

Notes

B aE

(i)

(viii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)
(vii)
(vii)
(ii)
(vii)

(viii)

EARA R H AR

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
4,940 -
17,156 -
22,096 -
1,332 1,332

10 10

439 486

7,617 7,825
1,319 -
1,319 -
2,447 152
1,319 -
24,836 -
40,638 9,805
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21.

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Huili Caitong and Trisonic International are ultimately controlled
by the same beneficial owners. The balance due from Huili
Caitong as at 31 December 2019 represented a trade receivable
on the rendering of consultancy and management services by
the Group.

The balance due to Trisonic International as at 31 December
2019 mainly represented an interest-free loan granted by Trisonic
International, which was repayable on demand.

Yanyuan Xiwei is a company controlled by Chuan Wei. The
balance due to Yanyuan Xiwei represented certain expenses paid
by Yanyuan Xiwei on behalf of Aba Mining.

Longwei Hotel and Trisonic International are ultimately
controlled by the same beneficial owners. The balance due to
Longwei Hotel represented a rental payable to Longwei Hotel for
the operating lease of office premises by the Group.

Chuan Wei and Trisonic International are ultimately controlled
by the same beneficial owners. The balance due to Chuan Wei
mainly comprised staff remuneration paid by Chuan Wei on
behalf of Sichuan Lingyu and Aba Mining.

Mancala Resources is a company controlled by the directors and
one employee of MHPL. The balance as at 31 December 2019
represented an interest-free loan granted by Mancala Resources,
which was repayable on demand.

These are individually entrusted by each of two directors and
one employee of MHPL, respectively. The balances as at 31
December 2019 represented interest free loans granted to
MHPL, which were repayable on demand.

These dividends were proposed and declared before the
completion of the Disposal which were receivable from or
payable to Huili Caitong.

21.

Notes to the Financial Statements

W

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

2019 F3k | PENKHEREEER QA

E2 7

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

BEH &k o)

CEMBARGABEEHERNE =%
BARBKRIEG - R2019F12A31A W
EW G BB ARIE AN R EIR MR
REBRBEHERER -

HR2019F 12 A31H M ER & &I BB 45
BEBRAABERIEERN 24285
FoAREREE-

BERFAE A BRI A R - BT EE
IR 78 2R B 45 B 1S BRI 7 R (X SR B 5 TR
EXNAMETH -

ERBAENAEBEERERNE SN
BARELES] - AT RERUEE M S R iE
AEERBLEMEELEHERNE
BUEEMES -

NERARIBERAERNERES A
AR - I B & tr = 20 3E)I
BRAREM)EHEMBEESNHE
T %o

Mancala Resources&— B € FH T
BOEER—REEEHHAF R
2019512 A31H B # 84 45 i Mancala
Resourceste it ) —£ £ BB - A&

EREE-

ZEEADBERUERMEES
k—%EBXBZ7-1M2019F12H
BEMAERERS RREREROE
BER AEEREE-

Ut & R BN SR BH R B TR
HEEFBRTKAEZZNLREIR
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22.

214

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents RehkBeEEY

The Group's cash and bank balances are denominated in RMB at
the end of each reporting period, except for the following:

Cash and bank balances U EBFTENRSES R
denominated in: RITHE A

HKD BT

usD EV

SGD st

VND A=l

AUD BT

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

22. BERBEEEEY

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
26,689 33,696

AEENREEMRITEHRNEREHR
BANRMESHE 1T 5 ARR I -

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT R ARBTT
286 20,953

49 56

233 302

48 764

1,852 2,828

ARSI EmABSEMER Al
WRIE P B HME B 2 R0 R ASE - BIE R
EEERTE AEEEIEERERELE
THOINERXBHRITHBARE LB BEM

ROTRESBERTARTERAXAED
FEMEE S - RITEREEHERER
PR B A0 40 8% B E BT e IRTT -

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2019 ANNUAL REPORT



23.

24,

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Non-recurring fair value measurements:

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE

23. PERBEHENEE
FEHEAT @S

Unutilised fixed assets for EXERERENRBAETCEE

specialised mining services

The balance as at 31 December 2018 and 2019 represented
the fair value less cost to sell of assets held for sale, which
comprised part of plant and equipment of MHPL which would
not be utilised in the current operation.

The non-recurring fair value measurement for assets held
for sale was considered to be Level 2 for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018, as it is derived from quoted prices in
markets that are not active.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
or issuance date, where appropriate, is as follows:

Within 180 days 180K A
181 to 365 days 181E 365K
1 to 2 years 1224

2 to 3 years 2E35F
Over 3 years HBiB3F

Trade payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within 180 days.

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T ARBEF T
35,832 41,169

R20184F K%2019412 A31 B W45 sr 545
EHEEENATFERLEREA EFE
BEFRNERBETSHERBEREEND
DE R

HZE2019F K%2018F12A31H ILEEH#H
EHEEEMNELCEE AT EFEHS
BEE  REZEBEIETRM SR
BRE -

24. ENERRRRE
R SRR AR BEIRRR R RN
BEAHRE M B (ERA) NERD

iR UNNE
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARBEF T
60,495 49,667
3,283 -
696 81
24 3,448
3,965 1,039
68,463 54,235

AEBNENER B TR BERI80
RANKEE -
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25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31 December 31 December 1 January
2019 2018 2018
2019%12H31H 20184 12H31H 201851 H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBFT AR T T
Short-term advances received EWREFEHE XK
from customers
Rendering of specialised mining 32 it % % B I AR %5
services 5,820 5,811 1,955
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received in ERNEEEEMRREETERERBEER
relation to the rendering of specialised mining services. The WA EE K- 2019 AN ABERINE
increase in contract liabilities in 2019 was mainly due to the ERNFABREHEXERRRBLER
increase in short-term advances received from customers in W B P R 5 HAE SO hn o
relation to the delivery of rendering of specialised mining service
at the end of the year.
Changes in contract liabilities during the reporting periods are as ERBERREHANEENT
follows:
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBT ARBEF T
At 1 January M1ATH 5,811 1,955
Revenue recognised that was included in st AFVHFBLLEEKE LD
the contract liabilities at the beginning A&/ ERWA
of year from Continuing Operations (5,811) (1,526)
Revenue recognised that was included in st AFVE R ILELEBAL
the contract liabilities at the beginning ~ BEK D ER WA
of year from Discontinued Operations - (429)
Increase due to cash received, excluding E 2 WIR& M. T\ 2EEE
amounts recognised as revenue during TR AW A KK
the year 5,820 5,811
At 31 December W12A31H 5,820 5,811

216
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Notes
fit &

Current portion: RS-
Payables related to: BN THIIER R 308 -

Construction in progress EEIRE

Taxes other than income tax BTSN IE

Exploration and evaluation R EEE

assets
Payroll and welfare payable FE %7 & R A& T
Acquisition of subsidiaries YiEF R E]
— Sichuan Xinglian — 91| #EE (a)

Consultancy and BAREEE

professional fees
Deposits received BlHE
Accrued government FEET BN R I &

surcharges
Accrued interest expenses FEETF B R X
Other payables H b fE I 5RIR (b)
Non-current portion: FnEHS -
Other payables Hh & A FRIE
Notes:
(a) The balance as at 31 December 2018 represented the remaining

consideration payable to an independent third party in relation
to the acquisition of a 45% equity interest in Sichuan Xinglian
by Sichuan Lingyu.

(b) As a result of the initial application of IFRS 16, accrued lease
payments of RMB1,469,000 previously included in “Other
payables and accruals” were adjusted to the lease liabilities
recognised at 1 January 2019 (refer to note 2.2 to the financial
statements for further details).

Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

Hitb B RIE KB RKER

31 December 1January 31 December
2019 2019 2018

20194 2019 20184
12A31H 1818 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBT R ARETT

19,655 8,135 8,135
23,616 25,702 25,702
7,456 10,329 10,329
8,770 8,607 8,607
- 133 133
4,455 3,156 3,156
4 7 7
4,529 4,529 4,529
111 100 100
19,794 15,711 17,180
88,390 76,409 77,878
849 1,151 1,151
849 1,151 1,151
89,239 77,560 79,029
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27.

/ 218

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
LOANS

Bank loans — Secured RITER—BER
Bank loans — Unsecured RITER—EIEA
Hire purchase arrangements MELHE-—FER
- secured
Other loans — unsecured HipE R —mEm
Current liabilities VEI=RE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Analysed into: oA
Bank loans repayable: JER TS B 18 = 9
RITEH -
Within one year or on demand —FRHEEK
Hire purchase JER TS B 18 2 19
arrangements repayable: L
Within one year —FR
Other loans repayable: JER T Z B 18 42 A
BB
Within one year or —FRHEEK
on demand
In the second year FF
In the third to fifth years, E=-ZFERF
inclusive (BREEEME)

27. FFESRITREMER

31 December 1January 31 December
2019 2019 2018
2019% 20195 20184
12A31H 1A1A 12A318
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
P AR® TR AR¥T R AREFTTT
(restated)
(BE5)
(a) 83,770 83,979 83,979
(b) 179 - -
(0) - - 96
(d) 15,298 16,719 16,719
99,247 100,698 100,794
(99,247) (84,549) (84,645)
- 16,149 16,149
83,949 83,979 83,979
- - 96
15,298 570 570
- 15,565 15,565
- 584 584
15,298 16,719 16,719
99,247 100,698 100,794
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27.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
LOANS (continued)

Banks loans IRITER
Other loans HiER
Hire purchase arrangements THE LB

Notes:

(a)

The Group's bank loans are secured by:

Mining rights of Maoling Mine =5 48 &3 & H) SR 42

The balance mainly represented the unsecured bank loan for the
compensation insurance of workers in Australia with a one-year
term ended on 1 July 2020 at the annual rate of 2.4%.

As a result of the initial application of IFRS 16, finance leases
payment of RMB96,000 previously included in “Interest-bearing
bank and other loans” was adjusted to the lease liability
recognised at 1 January 2019 (refer to note 2.2 to the financial
statements for further details). The Group previously acquired
certain of its machinery and other fixed assets through hire
purchase arrangements, which were classified as finance leases
and have remaining lease terms ranging from one to two years.
As at 31 December 2019, payable relating to the hire purchase
arrangements has been repaid.
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27. FTESRITREMER (&)

2019 2018
2019%F 20184
(Effective interest rate)
(EBF*)

2.40%-4.35% 3.92%-8.82%
0.00% 0.00%-8.40%
- 4.80%

=
:
At

(a) REBERITERATHIIE B (EHEA -

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%FT R ARBFTT
(Amount of bank loans)
(RITE#EE)
83,770 83,979

(b) HERKBTITEEARMIANRHE
REeREOEIEBRITER —F 8
[R5 M2020F7A1BEm FR XA
2.4% o

(0) R VIIAERABERM RS ENE 16
S A A TEFRRIT R EME K
B E T ERARK6,000T HERE
R2019F1A1EANEESE (&
—THBEBE2HMBEREMTE2.2) -
REBATEAABLEEAETH
BEREMETEE-ZERHEDER
MERE FHREHNF—ZEMF R
2019512 A318  HIE L Y10 B8 FE
HRIBEEER-
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27.

LOANS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) The balance mainly represented an interest-free loan granted
by Sapphire Corporation Limited, a non-controlling shareholder
of Mancala Holdings, to Mancala Holdings Pty Ltd. The loan is
unsecured and due for repayment on or before 31 December
2020.

As at 31 December 2019, the other loan and unsecured bank
loan were denominated in AUD, whereas the secured bank loan
was denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2018, except for
the hire purchase arrangements and other loans which were
denominated in AUD, all bank loans and other loans were
denominated in RMB.

28. PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION 28.
At beginning of year REA
Unwinding of discount ﬁﬁi@ﬁ
— From Continuing Operations B %75 (M5T6)
(note 6)
— From Discontinued Operations —ERIEEEER
Additions NE
Impairment included in FTAB RIS E EBRRE

Discontinued Operations

At end of year REFR

-\-I_ /L-r\ {m g ﬂﬁ
BisE: (&)

(d) EZ ESREZRERHRERR AR (F
SR A IFERR R ) B T Mancala
Holdlngs Pty LtdBV 2 B ER - ZEE K
AR B R2020F 1283182

AT S| HA(E % -

#2019&12)%315 H B3 &% E K
BITERLURITAHE MARFRITER
EJJLM\EMEHE EéZO18¢12H31EI - BR
FABLZHEREMERURTFHEIN 250
BITREMEFGUAREE-

BEREE
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
1,833 11,400
(358) 117
= 663
11,372 -
= (10,347)
12,847 1,833
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29.

SHARE CAPITAL

Shares vy
Authorised: EE
10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000/%
(2018: 10,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each

ERITRAR:
2,249,015,4100%

Issued and fully paid:
2,249,015,410 (2018: 2,249,015,410)
ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as
follows:

R2019F1/81H
BT RS

At 1 January 2019
Issue of new shares

At 31 December 2019 H2019%12A831H

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(2018%F : 10,000,000,000/% )
EREEO BT E B

(2018%F :2,249,015,4100% )
FIEE0NE T TR

29. R

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBFIT
880,890 880,890
197,889 197,889

ARARABHHENT -
Number of Issued
Shares in issue capital
ERITRAHE ERITRA
RMB'000
AR®EF T
2,249,015,410 197,889
2,249,015,410 197,889
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30.

222

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 4 September 2009, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Old Share Option Scheme include
the Directors, including non-executive Directors, and other
employees of the Group.

On 15 April 2010, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”), and simultaneously
terminated the operation of the Old Share Option Scheme (such
that, no further options shall thereafter be offered under the
Old Share Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions
of the Old Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and
effect). Eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme
include Directors, chief executives, substantial shareholders or
employees (whether full time or part time) of any member of the
Group and any persons whom the board of Directors considers,
in its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
development and growth of the Group. The New Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended.

The maximum number of the Company's shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not, in
aggregate, exceed 207,500,000 shares, being 10% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue on the adoption
date of the New Share Option Scheme. The maximum number
of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme to each eligible participant in the New Share
Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders” approval in a general meeting.

30.

% 17 HA RE 5t &l

120099 F4H - ANA BN —IEMR D HA
A ([ERM AT E]) - FEASE
NMEBEAEBNKNEEEL RN
RER2EAL ERDPETENAEE
BLEATBRREE (BEFNTES)
MEMAEEES -

R2010F4 78158 » AR B HM— A
DHAREST 8 ([R5 BREaT &) RIS
LIEEITERD RS (BFEHEETH
IRIEERR () AT S L B - B ERR D
HRTENREEMAE MM EEER
BTREAORIER) - # Ik 5 BB T 210
AERZBEATBREASETAKER
ANES Za{TBHAE TERERXZE
BokiEBEE URESS2HNBERA
BERHEHAEENERMIERED
RN EM AL - BRIESITRHESRIEET -
BRI IR AT N R Z B #EE10
FRGAB -

IR A A B R AT 8] I AR R BME R E AT
ST R BRI A R B D = B
A EF T~ 18#818207,500,0000% - BI A
B HIEET B M B AR BB BT
DHABIHI10% © ARIFFTAX G BT 8
E1218 A R D HBEE T &
BERSLBEALRELREEE IR
TEREEHTRUEETEITARND &
SHEUEREHBEARADETR
MET%BMRE— PR L BRZ ERE
BHOHEESTREABRERS L#tE-
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30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share options granted to Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or any of their respective associates are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
the independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees
of the options). In addition, any grant of share options to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive Directors
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue on the date of offer with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares quoted on the HKSE at the date of grant) in excess of
HKD5 million made within any 12-month period from the date
of grant (inclusive) would be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors that no option may be exercised more than 10 years
from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of shares of the Company; (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share options;
and (iii) the HKSE closing price of the Company's shares on the
date of grant of the share options.

Notes to the Financial Statements

30.

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

B EpREETEl ()

MEE SETRAE TEREREE
& BT AHESE AR RS BHERT - BEE
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30.

224

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the Old
Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme during

the year:
As at 1 January 2019 20191818
— Old Share Option Scheme — B TS
— New Share Option Scheme — ¥R B A B
Forfeited during the year FAREIK
— Old Share Option Scheme —ER G kTS
— New Share Option Scheme — Ikt EAREET &I
As at 31 December 2019 M2019F12A31H
Notes:
(a) The share options outstanding as at 1 January 2019 represented

share options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme and
the New Share Option Scheme by the Company on 29 December
2009, 1 April 2010, 23 May 2011 and 15 April 2014 at the
exercise prices of HKD5.05, HKD4.99, HKD3.60 and HKD1.00
per share, respectively.

(b) The following share option under the Old Share Option Scheme
as at 31 December 2019 were forfeited upon the expiry of the

exercise:

Exercise

Number of price per
options Share
BRR G

MEHE TEE
‘000 HKD

F1n B IT

3,000 5.05
3,400 5.05

6,400

30. BR{OEARESTE (@)
FAE PO A8 8 B R ) B4 5T 81 % 37 R 15 55
BB RITEROREDNT -

Weighted

average Number

exercise price of options

Note HKD per Share ‘000
In#EFIGITEE HEHE

e BRRMOET T4
(a) 5.04 7,800
(a) 2.01 27,100
(b) 5.05 (6,400)
2.15 28,500

(a) M2019F1 18 M ARITE R IR 5 I
5 AN B 7A20094F 12 A29A ~ 20104
4H18 20114 5A23H K%20145F4 A
158 R % & R 5 HA#E AT &) I 3 AR 10 HR
AT D BIIR T (B 8RR H5.054
JC  4.997 7T ~ 3.607%8 7T K&.1.007 T %
i A% 17 B A o

(b) R2019F 128318 B Bkt &
TR TT 6 B B 08 Uk B AR A B A
m

Exercise period

TR

29 June 2012 to 28 December 2019
201296298 £2019F12H28H

29 December 2014 to 28 December 2019
2014512 H298 £20194F12 A28H
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The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018

are as follows:

2019

Number of

options

HEHE

‘000

T4

700

700

10,500

8,250

4,175

4,175

28,500

Exercise
price per
Share
BRR 5
TEE
HKD
BT

4.99

4.99

3.60

1.00

1.00

1.00

Notes to the Financial Statements
B % R 2% B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

7201912 A31H X2018F 12 A31H &
RITHEORDBENTEE R{TFEWD
T

20194

Exercise period

1 October 2012 to 31 March 2020
2012910818 £202063H31H

1 April 2015 to 31 March 2020
20154810 £2020%3H31H

23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021
2013558230 £2021§5822H

15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
20145108 15H £2024%¥4 5 14H

15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
201548158 £2024548 148

15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
20155108 15H £2024F4514H
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

2018

Number of
options

HiES B
'000
T

3,000
3,400
700
700
10,500
8,250

4,175

4,175

34,900

The Group had 28,500,000 share options exercisable as at 31
December 2019 (2018: 34,900,000) and the weighted average

Exercise price per
Share
TR
1THE(E
HKD
BT
5.05
5.05
4.99
4.99
3.60
1.00

1.00

1.00

exercise price was HKD2.15 per share (2018: HKD2.68).

The Group did not recognise any share option expense during

the year (2018: Nil).

30. RRHEARESHS (@)

20184

Exercise period

1718

29 June 2012 to 28 December 2019
201246 A29H =2019412A28H
29 December 2014 to 28 December 2019
2014912 A29H £20194F 12 A28H
1 October 2012 to 31 March 2020
201210 A1H 220203 A31H

1 April 2015 to 31 March 2020
2015F4H1H£2020F3H31H

23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021

2013 5H23H £2021F5H22H
15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
2014108158 2202454 A14H
15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
20154158 £2024F4 5 14H
15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015104158 £2024%F4 A 141

MN2019%F12A318 A& E A
28,500,0001p (2018%F : 34,900,0001%
B BRRER] T 47{F - MmN F 917 EE
BERE 72158 T (20184 : 2.68/%
JT) °

FA - ANEE W EERT (AR BER
(20184 - 4&) -
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30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The fair values of equity-settled share options granted were
estimated and valued by independent professional valuers as
at the dates of grant, using the binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the major inputs to the model
used:

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

30. BRI HARERHEl (&)
BHORBEERPBRONATESDR
BB BT EEEEML D EER
fhEt R E B DE R B BN IER
RAGt - TRIIHZERFFAHESHA
-

Equity-settled share options granted on

15 April

2014

20144

4H15H

Dividend yield (%) 1% B (%) 2.17
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA R 18 (%) 49 47
Risk-free interest rate (%) #& & & 5|2 (%) 2.270

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At 31 December 2019, the Company had 1,400,000 share
options outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme
and 27,100,000 share options outstanding under the New
Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 28,500,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
HKD2,850,000 and share premium of HKD58,536,000 (before
issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 28,500,000 share options outstanding, which
represented approximately 1.27% of the Company's shares in
issue as at that date.

RTIBRRENRESERGHE

23 May 1 April 29 December
2011 2010 2009
20115 20105 2009
5H23H 4718 12H29H
2.07 1.36 1.41
62.40 66.40 68.56
2.430 2.788 2.652

T8 HY R 8 SRR R SR 1R T0 R R B B iR 1R
WRE T —ERERER-

AEATERMESLERHEENE
R E -

B2019F 128318 A ARRIEE K
D ERRE S 8l 251,400,000 i K 171
B B MR T AR HAERT EI X
27,100,00017 i& AR 17158 B 1 A - IR PR AR
NEPR R E AR - BEITE M ARITER
1 B RE 5 2B B 28 /) 857728,500,000% A A
A& @A LA M EE A BB HNIR AR 2,850,000/%
T Ko B A7 %518 '58,536,00058 7T ( AR F1Bk 3
TR -

MNESVBRRELAEZ A KARARHE

28,500,00017 4 AR 1715 I 10 HiE - M E R
ZBEMARRREBEITRMA127% -
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31. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in the financial
statements.

(@) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
Under the constitutional documents and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
distributable as dividend on the condition that the
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in
the ordinary course of business at the time the proposed
dividend is to be paid.

(b) Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
each of the PRC subsidiaries other than Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profits after tax,
as determined in accordance with the PRC Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (the “PRC GAAP"),
to the statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR") until such
reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

As Sichuan Lingyu is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise,
according to the Rules for the Implementation of
Foreign-funded Enterprise Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of Sichuan Lingyu, Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF") until such reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and the SRF are non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used
to offset accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up
capital.

31.

1
AEERAEERBEEENEESE
RESBRUBHENGARELDE

EE

(a) B@HEER
Bh=RERNVERXHERS R
AVAESE c IRBAEBEE X R
ERERNTE EIRMTHEIRREE
B AR AR ER B EEKB
ERMERIBEE S HZEEE
RBERT BRI REAIERERED
K ©

(b) ZEMFES
BERABARERTRTFARS
BRARERMA STFETAA
(mIDEEERIN) B REHEIZRES
B AREERAE TR & TS
HI0%EXETEBBAED  BEEZ
ANESEZTHFMELRMN0% A
_u:o

HRAMINEH A —HIINEBEER
¥ REBEPEIINEDEEE LA
R EHE AR ERME Y
NEBBIZEBPERARGTRA
AERE10%HEFBEETEFE
¢ HEZHBECEZEEMER
#950% & L

BBRIN EERBATEE FOEE
RESH T RESIKR EXEE
THRERBIERMES - XE &%
NIEE FOAEHE S A A FEH
RABRIBREAMBBRER -
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31. RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the Company's shares
issued in exchange of or consideration paid for
subsidiaries acquired and the aggregate amount of
the nominal value for the paid-up capital of these
subsidiaries attributable to the owners of the Company
for business combinations under common control.

Safety fund surplus reserve

Pursuant to a Notice regarding Safety Production
Expenditure jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance
and the State Administration of Work Safety of the PRC
in February 2012, the Group is required to establish
a safety fund surplus reserve based on the volume of
mineral ore extracted. The safety fund can only be
transferred to retained earnings to offset safety related
expenses as and when they are incurred, including
expenses related to safety protection facilities and
equipment improvement and maintenance as well as
safety production inspection, appraisal, consultation and
training.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised,
or be transferred to retained earnings should the related
options expire or be forfeited. As at 31 December
2019, the forfeited share options upon the expiry of the
exercise period amounted to RMB15,575,000, which was
transferred to retained earnings.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represented the Group’s capital
injection to subsidiaries by way of transfer from retained
earnings in 2012.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

31. #E &)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

BERBR

BB eRIEAR R R A LA AT I
BFRARERIENREMELT
B 7R 1 B A 40 T M B A AR R 42 o
THEKAHMEBBRARR
BEANZETFRAANBRER
HEASEZHNER

Z2EESEHERE
BRIEFEGERBEARLELEE
EREEARN201262 Al A E
HmEH— RN EEENE
AEBMEERAREER LR
PESEHEFEE -ZE2ESRUE
N2 AR ELARERE
BEAFKEEERAY  2iFR
REHHELBERA RBEEAR
TEEERS  FHE  BRRE
BB -

R EERE

RO ERERECELEAEE
TEHOBRGOHENATE & —
HE R B R AR W 52,48 B LA
B ABERON KOS TERE-
2 RCIE G R AR B AR T R 8
B R E R - ok v FE B8 HA A
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2019128318 R171{E
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#15,575,0007T EBEERER
o

RN

AR ATIEAREMN20125 518
WB R BET AT A RAEY
HEHE

2019 4% | HENKHEEBEFR LA 229

N



Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

32.

230

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 32. HMEERFERERMN
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS HFEETRQT
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non- MESEKRFEREZOAEEFRAAH
controlling interests are set out below: SIEESI T
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBT ARBEF T
Percentage of equity interest FEER R PTRF IR A =
held by non-controlling interests: BB DL
Sichuan Haoyuan Group s EEE 49% 49%
Total comprehensive loss for HELE IR E R B F A
the year allocated to T HEEEAEE:
non-controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan Group s EEE 1,376 1,115
Accumulated balances of RS B AR JE 1 iR
non-controlling interests at 2Rt
the reporting date:
Sichuan Haoyuan Group mIEREE 295,954 297,330

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial

information of the above subsidiary.

Other expenses

Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities

Net cash flows used in
operating activities

Net cash flows from
financing activities

Net increase/(decrease)
in cash and cash equivalents

TERAPAETRARINEEABEEHR -

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
HEfFx (2,807) (2,276)
ENEEEEEEEESE
(2,807) (2,276)
mENE E 1,811 4,555
IERBEE 657,703 652,093
mENEE (55,526) (49,853)
KEEEFERANBRESREFE
(5,762) (3,498)
RETHASNESREFE
5,614 3,574
ReERBSESEWBM CRd)FHE
(148) 76
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Payments in advance
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Dividend receivable
Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets

Due from related parties
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets classified as held for sale
Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and other loans
Due to related parties
Tax payable
Dividend payable
Lease liability
Provision for rehabilitation

Less:

Non-controlling interests derecognised on

completion of the disposal

Add:
Other costs attributable to the disposal
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Satisfied by:
Cash
Offset of intra-group balance

Notes to the Financial Statements
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PRt EFEE:
W BE MR
BREE
EREEE
TBRRIR
ELEHBEE
A
FE BB
FENFOR - EfEYGRIE R A EE

& Ui B Bk 77 SRR

R kReFEY
DERFBEHENEE
R R R R

H At & 5 308 K B 5T AR
AHRRITREMER
FE 1 B Bk 77 3RIR

FEAS B3R

FETRXR

HEBE

R

=t
EE
s
di
=
Jr
A

I AR LETE SR RO FR IR AR R 2

P
& S B E A A A
HEF 2 FE W

CURES
Be
15,9446 8 P9 23 7 5 4
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

2019
20194
RMB’000
AR® T

409,395
335,761
21,462
156
37,668
55,641
24,836

140,048
454,028
55
260,000
(138,243)
(349,130)
(796,098)
(449)
6,931
(18,957)
(1,507)
(35,484)

406,113

(13.463)

4,353
152,997

550,000

85,000
465,000

550,000
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HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 33.

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

Cash consideration BERE
Cash and bank balances disposed of Fri B3R & RRITHER

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents FEHEFAANRERES®

in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Non-cash transaction
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB1,291,000
and RMB1,051,000, respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises (2018: Nil).

HEFQT (&)
ERLEFATINE SRR SSEMRA
SEEAFIMT :

2019
2019%
RMB’000
AR®T R

85,000
(55)

EEMRNFE

84,945

REREREBRME

(a) FEEXRH
FRN AEEBEENRAEME
HEZEMEAEEEREE
BEIREAEDIABARK
1,291,0007T & A R #1,051,000
70 (20185 1 &)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
BE2019F12A31 A LFE
34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. MERERERNTE &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEITHMELAERGBHN
financing activities 2B
2019 20194
Amount
Bank and Interest due to a
other loans payable related party Lease
amount amount provision liabilities
FE 14
RITRH A ERFE —BBEBA
BNEHE ] IR HESE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%¥Tn AR®%TrR AR%®Tx
At 1 January 2019 7201951818 100,794 100 9,805 -
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 £ #4[El B2 81 7% 3 < % B
FI6RNTE (96) - - 4,670
At 1 January 2019 (restated) ~ 201951 H18 (&£ E51) 100,698 100 9,805 4,670
Changes from financing BERER=ELY
cash flows (1,451) (4,279) 6,205 (1,717)
New lease Mg - - - 1,051
Interest expense FESFXZ - 4,290 - 132
Increase from reclassification B H& 72 71 EH
as a result of disposal of bR Nb= Yl
subsidiaries - - 24,836 -
Foreign exchange movement  4hE & - - (208) =
Decrease of lease liabilities HEABRLETAR
as a result of disposal of ifi &
subsidiaries - - - (1,507)
At 31 December 2019 M2019%12A31H 99,247 111 40,638 2,629

2019 3 | PR RHATREFRAA] 233

N



Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

34.

/ 234

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

(b)

(c)

2018

At 1 January 2018

Changes from financing
cash flows

Non-cash changes:
Interest expense
Reclassification

Liabilities included in a
discontinued operation

At 31 December 2018

®2018F1A1H
BMERGTEEH

FREBD:
IEEE
EHHH

HABKILERER
R fE

2018%F12A318

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

JiS

®

REEBA
BEHA

77
FH

320
==

34, MEBEERERKT &)

(b) MEETBHFRELEAEBN
2E(#)
20184
Amount
Bank and Interest due to a
other loans payable related party
amount amount provision
&1
RITREAM A5 7B — R
EXeHE ok RIERER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETFT AREFT ARMTT
907,311 86,851 11,220
(19,532) (32,272) (966)
- 60,397 -
15,113 - -
(802,098) (114,876) (449)
100,794 100 9,805
(0 HEMNRERHAHE
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35.

36.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the amount of contingent liabilities
of the Group, which was represented by the maximum amount
the guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Disposal
Group was RMB730,000,000 (the “CVT Guarantees”). The
CVT Guarantees were provided by the Company prior to the
Disposal to guarantee the indebtedness of the Disposal Group
owed to certain banks; and an asset management and financial
services institution in the PRC. The indebtedness has not been
repaid and the CVT Guarantees has been continued after the
completion of the Disposal. The Group’s obligations under the
CVT Guarantees have been counter-indemnified by Chengyu
Vanadium Titano. Details about the CVT Guarantees and the
counter-indemnity are included in note 37(b)(i) and (ii) to the
financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for:
— Acquisition of mining rights

(b) Operating lease commitments as at 31
December 2018
The Group entered into commercial leases on certain
office premises based on the reason that it is not in the
best interest of the Group to purchase these assets.
These leases had average terms of one to five years.

ERTA) - BREBAE
— W BB R

Notes to the Financial Statements
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36.

B 1% 5= B aE
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31HIEFE

REAE

R2019%F12A31H KAEE S BEEEAR
AR #730,000,0005T (BIARRRLAHE
SERXHEAFLEHNERZEREHE)
([ EERIER]) - P EBEKERB A
AEIRNEESHEIRER]  AEREEEE
ERHPEETROTE—HEEEERS
BRSEBOEE RNEESHETKE
ZEEBHAREE TR EERERDRA
B AEBERPREBKERTORESR
FORMLIAVE R BB RS - B A B 3N
RERBERBOFEINT B REN
FE37(0)(0) B (i) °

BAREE
(a) XEERBEHREUT
BEAREE:
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEF T
987 1,736
987 1,736

(b) 2018F12A31A MK
HERE
AEBMREFHRASMETIH
LHE REABIRZSEELR
BAREMBREND - ZSHEN
THEEA—FERF-

2019 4R | HERAKEABREFRAF 235
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (continued)
(b) Operating lease commitments as at 31
December 2018 (Continued)
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

Within one year —F A
In the second to fifth years, inclusive BE_ZERF
(BEEEMT)

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

Revenue generated from m) & 22 B 3 12 1 A
rendering of consultancy and RERRTEPTEE
management services to SO N
Huili Caitong

Note:

(i) Huili Caitong and Trisonic International are ultimately

controlled by the same beneficial owners. The
Group has entered into a three-year consultancy and
management service contract with Huili Caitong from
1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020 at a yearly fixed
fee of RMB8,600,000. In arriving at the above service
fee, the Group has considered a third party quotation
for providing similar services and negotiated on an arm'’s
length basis.

36.

37.

Note
[ihg=2

)

BRAYE (a)

(b) 7H2018F12A31HMKE
HEARE (&)
MN2018F12A318 NEER &
AR ETHEARRE I
MR EHEEREEIHBERDOT

2018
20184
RMB'000
ARET T
846

1,207

2,053

BEA X5
(@) BAMBRREMIBHHIIHX
SO0 AR B A P BB T 5T

TS
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
3,381 -
P o

(i) eRBREAIEEER—F
DA ANREEG  AEER
HEeRIBEI L —H = FHH
ERIEERBEL FHR
201841 A1H %2020 124
31 FEEREERARARK
8,600,0007T ° 7 ¥ B I it fiR
BERN AEEBEERIEHR
BERBERE=FRE WL
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Other transactions with related parties
Prior to the completion of the Disposal, the
Company provided the CVT Guarantees
in favour of the Disposal Group with the
aggregate maximum guaranteed amount of
RMB730,000,000. The principal terms of the CVT
Guarantees are set out as follows:

(i)

Borrower
fBARA

Huili Caitong

Xiushuihe Mining

A R

Huili Caitong

Lender and
beneficiary of
the guarantee

ERARERZHEA

China Cinda Asset
Management Co., Ltd,
Sichuan Branch

PREEEEERKRSG
BRABEI DA F

Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch

PEIERTKROERA

BRI 21T

Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch

PEIERTKROERA

BRI 21T

China Construction Bank
Corporation,
Liangshan Branch
PEIERRITEROERA
R DT

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BEBARS (&)
(b) HMEBBSINKS

(i)

Guarantor

BRA

the Company

EN/NE]

EN/NE]

EN/NE]

MR & FIEF A

AAINEEEBRAX S

A E A B R AR

EeREREEAARY

730,000,0007% » 1 B &

RIER B & E G 40
T

Maximum

guaranteed

amount

BeiERE

RMB'000

ARBF T

200,000

100,000

30,000

400,000

730,000
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Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

(b) Other transactions with related parties

(Continued)

(i) Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Trisonic
International are ultimately controlled by the
same beneficial owners. A counter-indemnity has
been entered into between Chengdu Vanadium
Titano and the Company for the respective
period from 30 July 2019 to the date of the
release of the CVT Guarantees, details of which
are specified in note 37(b)(i). According to the
counter-indemnity, Chengyu Vanadium Titano's
inventories (including, but not limited to,
structural steels and coals) with the aggregate
amount of approximately RMB767,000,000
have been pledged as security for such counter-
indemnity.

(c) Outstanding balances with related
parties
Details of the Group’s balances with its related parties as
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note
21 to the financial statements.

(d) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group
Details of Directors’ and the chief executive's
emoluments, including compensation of key
management personnel, are set out note 8 to the
financial statements.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values are as explained below:

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, amounts due
from related parties, trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables, interest-bearing bank and other
loans and amounts due to related parties approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 37. BAEARXF (&)

(b) HiEEBEHAINRRS

(#&)

(ii) B A 8L A K2 & B B BR B )
—ERnEBARKES -
BB SR SR B AR A B BT S R
FIERE - FHIR20194F
7HA308 = A B # ke
REBER AL (FBH
I FE37(b)() ) ° ¥ HR =
BREF KANKNTEFE
(BIEETNRE L ER N
MR R)BEH AR
767,000,000 CE EIF1ER
ZRBERBINHRE -

() HERWKE R EEEBTS SRR

17 e 5 HA R AR 52 [ B EL R Bt 05 4
BOEBRY BRI E21H

FE o

d F=EBXEREEAEHN
i 1K
ANESREETRAANS (2
BEBERABNHE) WFER
ROBH 5 R R 328 o

SMIAATERATE
28
AEESRTANKEESREQFEA
BiARE BT

EEEFERSMREFEY BEK
PR ARNRIE bR FIE R E A
BEMNTREE BT 0 EBH
EARRER SFARMCEMFENERA
B FFRIRITREMERIAR BN
RENAFEIBEEAZETAEHEH
e E RS REAE -
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38.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the group
finance manager is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the
financial controller and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the financial controller. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss is based on valuation techniques. The model incorporates
unobservable inputs of the recovery rate. The carrying amount
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is the same
as its fair value.

The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss measured at fair
value required significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. An increase in
recovery rate would result in the increase in the fair value of
exchangeable notes. The fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group's assets held for sale measured at fair value was
derived from quoted prices in markets that were not active
(Level 2) as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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EMIEQNTFERAFE
B m)
NEBEEBNFEREEOATNE
EFaEs TS MIAATFENENH
ERIZF - ATMBENEE AN BB
REXEEBCER  AANBERRESR
EAMA S RMTAEERD LRELH
EFfERNEEHA M- EECHSmE
ERRHE ARMBEREERESS
AR N EARESERA R
EiBI2 R 4

TREERBENAFERIANRER
RHEHTMBRTRS (MIFREIFRIE
B) P AR SR A - AR ER
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BAFEAEMEZHFARENDA
BENXAFEENGERMNGTE -HEE
ERCESOENIEFN N KON -
EMEEFA A NBENSREENKE
SRERFERR-

A2019%12 A31H K&2018F12H318
AREZAFEFENRAFEFEMR
A BENEREENQFEFER
BREEATABEHAE (F3E) - K
EEFASEHRAFHMBENAFEL
Fte 72019912 318 %2018 12431
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39.

240

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets and amounts due from related
parties, which arise directly from its operations. Financial
liabilities of the Group mainly include financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, trade and bills payables,
amounts due to related parties, dividend payable and interest-
bearing bank and other loans.

Risk management is carried out by the finance department
which is led by the Group’s executive directors. The Group's
finance department identifies and evaluates financial risks in
close co-operation with the Group's operating units. The main
risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

The Group's financial risk management policy seeks to ensure
that adequate resources are available to manage the above risks
and to create value for its shareholders. The Directors regularly
review these risks and they are summarised below.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its exposure to a shortage of funds by
considering the maturity of both its financial liabilities and
financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had net current assets of
RMB11,947,000.

Regarding 2019 and thereafter, the liquidity of the Group is
primarily dependent on its ability to maintain adequate cash
flows from operations and successfully renew its short-term
bank loans and other loans to meet its debt obligations as they
fall due.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

39.
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B 75 R MY R
Year ended 31 December 2019
BE2019F12ANALEFE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. MKEKREEBEERBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&
Liquidity risk (Continued) REMERE (&)
2019
2019
Less than 3to 1to5
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
RER DR3EA 321218 A 1ZE54F &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARWMTRT AR®BTR AR¥TR AR%®TR

Interest-bearing bank ~ &T 8817 R EMER

and other loans - 986 100,979 - 101,965
Trade and bills payables &1 & 3%} Z & - 60,495 3,283 4,685 68,463
Other payables and ~ EfbERf 5B &

accruals FEET R IE 43,623 15,773 - 849 60,245
Lease liabilities HEBE 100 116 1,038 1,375 2,629
Due to related parties & B %t 5 508 40,638 = = = 40,638

84,361 77,370 105,300 6,909 273,940
2018
2018%F
Less than 3to 1t05
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
mER DH3EA 3% 1218A 1254 At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTRE AR®TRT ARETT AR%ETRE

Interest-bearing bank & 28T R EMER

and other loans 100 1,392 85,632 16,149 103,273
Trade and bills payables &1 BE 30 & E & - 39,132 10,535 4,568 54,235
Other payables and ~ H fth JE - 3018 |2

accruals FE ST 5UIE 18,665 8,889 - 1,151 28,705
Due to related parties & B %t 5 708 9,805 - - - 9,805

28,570 49,413 96,167 21,868 196,018
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39.

242

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group's bank deposits, interest-bearing bank loans and other
loans and exchangeable notes (which are subject to fair value
interest rate risk). The interest rates and terms of repayment of
interest-bearing bank and other loans are disclosed in note 27
to the financial statements.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk exposure
arising from all of its interest-bearing loans through the use of
fixed rates. In addition, the Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge against interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and time deposits are held in major reputable financial
institutions located in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Australia, which management believes are of high credit
quality. The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise trade receivables, notes, other receivables and
amounts due from related parties, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments. The Group has no other financial
assets which carry significant exposure to credit risk.

As disclosed in note 4, the Group sells most of the products
to a small number of customers. As a result, it faces a high
level of concentration of credit risk. The Group manages this
risk by offering a six-month credit term to its customers for
the sale of self-produced products and its trading customers
because market conditions remained weak. The Group
maintains strict control over its outstanding receivables and
senior management regularly reviews the overdue balances. In
addition, the Group's exposure to credit risk is also influenced
by the individual characteristics of each customer and default
risk of the industry in which customers operate. During the year,
the Group generated its revenue mainly from the sale of iron
products and trading of steels and coals to the steels producers
and distributors that purchase the Group's products and resell
them to steels producers. In addition, the Group also generated
revenue from rendering of specialised mining services and
consultancy and management service to other customers. In this
regard, the Group is exposed to the concentration of credit risk
in the steels and titanium industries.

39.

MEEREEERRBXR

(#&)
B

AEEEEONEEREEEANEEIR
TEF FAERRTERREMCERRATE
MER (AAXRAFEMNERR) G-
At BERTT R E A B A B R R SRR
RIS R I FE27 4 55

AEBMBE TN XRER 2 BT BEHKA
EEMNRETRENEERR - 1IN KAEE
3 48 ) PR AT ) 1) 2% 4 B S O R SR R o

EERRE

AEEBRHFINRE RS EFENNRE
HERFRN P B A - BB RORMNEE
RENTI2CHEE - EEEBHEEZFTH
BHEAERINEEER - AREEMLER
BE (BRERES RiE HMRKK
TR K R B R 77 BOR) M E B R AR R
SEFHRFAMEL  MAEYN&ES
BEEENZETANKE S AEE
TEEGEHEERAMBEREERR

M AT R E  ARB R D BEFH
EROER WEERRERSES &
MRS EKE REELER KEE
REEBEERNEPREZRPRMH
FNAELA 815 P HA o 28 SR B 4 45 3 1 R MR 2]
FENGRIRR BARIES] WS REEETE
HIRBD B AR SK o SN AR BZA AR
FERRTXESREPHNENFERE
FPRETEMENRBRAZE -FAR K
SENRATEREMAMBEEERAR
BEASBEERMYEE THHELIERD
53 84 78 85 5 S5 E m DA I B B S N R K o
BEAN - RE BB AT B MEMEF IR
B X FIRIRTS DA M B R B IR IR - Bt
It A EE SR E SRR SR E R
7N

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2019 ANNUAL REPORT



39.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. BIBEREEBERBEX
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&
Credit risk (Continued) EER (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BEREBRFAEE
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRETENFEBEERRNEEER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, kEaeEERR TEENBHER (B
which is mainly based on past due information unless other JEEMER A ERALERSZ KA
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- TEER TER) - ARMI2A31A8E
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts ERERE -2 eERemEERA
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. 4EEE o
As at 31 December 2019 7A2019%12A31H
Life time ECLs
2HERERBX
12-month
ECLs Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
1218 A 7
ERB%
P& ER1 B ER2 P& ER3 fEb A% 5t
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TR AR TR AR TR AR TR
Trade receivables* U BR - - - 215,357 215,357
Financial assets AR IR
included in H A 8 W R I
prepayments, Hin & EH
other receivables CREE
and other assets
— Normal** —EE** 1,705 - - - 1,705
- Doubtful** — PR ** - - 2,083 - 2,083
Cash and cash RekReEED
equivalents
— Not yet past due — KB 26,689 - - - 26,689
28,394 - 2,083 215,357 245,834
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE
39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. BIBEREEBERBXK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&
Credit risk (Continued) EER (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BERBRFLZER (&)
As at 31 December 2018 M2018F12H31H
Life time ECLs
SHEMERERX
12-month
ECLs Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Tota
1218 A 78 5
ERBEX
P& ER 1 P& B2 2 P& ER3 (k77 % et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETTT
Trade receivables* JFE i B 3+ - - - 126,886 126,886
Financial assets FTATENFIE
included in H{th fE W kI8
prepayments, HEER
other receivables CREE
and other assets
— Normal** —EExx 11,447 - - - 11,447
— Doubtful** — P RE** - - - - -
Cash and cash ReRBELEED
equivalents
— Not yet past due — R 33,696 - - - 33,696
45,143 - - 126,886 172,029

244

* %

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

approach for impairment, information based on the provision

matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in

prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered

to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no

information indicating that the financial assets had a significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,

the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.

* %
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBIJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately
16% (2018: 13%) of the Group's sales were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating
units making the sale, whilst approximately 15% (2018: 12%)
of costs were denominated in the units’ functional currencies.

The Group's foreign currency exposures arise primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely HKD,
UsSD, AUD, SGD and VND, against the RMB. HKD, USD, AUD,
SGD and VND are the functional currencies of respective entities
within the Group.

The Group does not enter into any hedging transactions
to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
Management monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0%
change in RMB against HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND,
respectively. The 5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in the foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analyses of the
Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of each
reporting period have been determined based on the adjustment
of translation of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
each reporting period for a 5.0% change in RMB against HKD,
USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax for the year ended
31 December 2019 (due to changes in the fair value of cash and
cash equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss denominated in HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND):

Notes to the Financial Statements

39.

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

BERREEBERBER
(&

SNEE R By

AEBEERZEERR DHREKEHE
UAHRNEEEINEBETHNEE - K
EE416% (2018F 1 13% ) H HEFE A
R BN ETHEMNINREEE INEY
HE M#AI15% (20184 : 12% ) By Ak A
AR s EEERTE

AEEREMINERREZREINE (B
BT EIT R MNETRBEE) X
ARBHEREEB) JBIT - X0 BT #
METhEEERAKREETSERN
MR-

AEELEETEMETZZNERE
EOINERS) - B BERAKENINE
[&\f - S T R B R E RSN
W EB o

TRHEAHARES R LA Ex- B
JC RN T R A B5.0% B 1
BRERE-5.0%TANFRMEZERAERE
REBRBRERANLL R WAEEEY
SNEESTE RSB A ge BB RS - WAEE
REREARNINERBROGRE ST
DEREMEEMBHERFSTET R
EREHRREEEEERAE AL
B#H =2019F 128318 It FE T AT E
BUEHAREDRIEB T Emx-Bx-
Frongor kAL ES.0%E & AR
CRRIRIETT » 27T BT~ 3N 7T K i
HEFENRSERSEEWURIZA
FEFEMHESTABENEREE
MATFEES) S

2019 4% | HENKHEEBEFR LA 245

N



Notes to the Financial Statements
B S R R M 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

39. BBEREERERBX

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4&)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) IR (&)
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Increase/(decrease) in loss before tax FATEEE M~ OHL)
If RMB strengthens against MARBER BT Emx BT
HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND s T R MR B 123 1,245
If RMB weakens against MARE BT ExL BT
HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND $nig T M e 55 (123) (1,245)

The Group does not consider that it has any significant exposure
to the risk of fluctuation in the exchange rates between HKD/
USD/AUD/SGD/VND and RMB as a reasonable possible change
of 5% in RMB against HKD/USD/AUD/SGD/VND would have no
significant financial impact on the Group’s profit or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders or raise new capital from its investors.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing financial risk during the year.

The Group will minimise the capital expenditures and renew or
extend its short-term loans as part of capital management. The
Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total equity plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to
keep the gearing ratio between 20% and 40% over the long
term. Net debt is defined as interest-bearing bank and other
loans and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and it
excludes liabilities incurred for working capital purposes. Equity
includes equity attributable to the owners of the Company and
non-controlling interests. As at 31 December 2019, the gearing
ratio was 7.4% (2018: 7.0%).

MRARBRE BT Ex/ BT/
Bt/ BEENEEBAEZP%ETE
HEEENERBEEMNERMBEZE W
AEERREYE@MEBETET,/ R
T, BEEELARENER
PE R BB

EXEHE

AEBEREENEEANAREAE
ERHEEENE N RERRITHARL
FOUXHHEBREERARREE-

REEERHARSE  LREQERR
BLBERER - BEHABBERE
M o AR B o B M RUR (9 AR B K
MEREEBEAR R MY T
B LR 0 B A R SR et T
&) o

AEBERERLEAAI W EBERT
FREEHERIEREREE —IH A%
BB RETHER  ZLLERABER
FEMRUESAERNESFE - AEE
WEREBBEEL RRBEFN20%E
40% 2 [ - B FREW AT AT EBRITR
HthERULBEEE NBRBEe kRS
LEY BUTREREEESCHRME
ENABE - ERBERBRARREEA
B fE 2 M FE IR IR B %5 - 720194 12 A 31
B EELRAE7.4% (2018F :7.0% ) °
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40.

AN EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Due to the COVID-19 outbreak in the PRC subsequent to
the reporting period ended 31 December 2019, a number of
provinces and municipalities in the PRC have taken various
emergency public health measures and actions to contain the
spread of the Outbreak, including, among other things, travel
restrictions in numerous cities in Hubei Province and Zhejiang
Province, which were severely infected areas. As a significant
portion of the site workers who carry out underground
operations at the Maoling Mine (who are employees of the
Group's contractor) from Hubei Province and Zhejiang Province
were unable to return to work after the Chinese New Year
holidays as scheduled, resumption of production in Maoling
Mine has been delayed.

The Group will continue to perform its risk assessment and
monitor the situation closely until the Epidemic is gradually
contained. While the circumstances of the Epidemic are evolving
rapidly, an estimate of its financial impact to the Group at the
current stage may not be appropriate as it may be subject to
material changes.

Notes to the Financial Statements

40.

BF 1S R I =t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

HREHEEE

B RAEEZE2019F12A318 [E3HR 4 H
BIBZECOVID-TIUAR - FRAZEETE
RIS EES N LB ERBENRITE LT
FlEBER BIE (EFREE) BRI
I % B B SRR E R mE S
HERE R EEE#Ea TETHTE
¥MNBEIA (BAEEEABEENESR)
KEBS R AL RANTME - EAMER
EEBBRROTEEBEIE NEEE
TR 3B A8 A FE ©

AEBBEELETRRTHREDES
B BEERBESRERL RIFER
SEBL BAKENH BT ERG KR
g A EREREFTAEZERLE

il

& °

2019 4% | HENKHEEBEFR LA 247

N



Notes to the Financial Statements

a5t
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A3181EFE

41.

248

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Office equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Dividend receivable
Due from subsidiaries

Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to subsidiaries

Due to the holding company
Lease liability

Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liability

Total non-current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves (Note)

Total equity

FRBEE
WMRERM
EREEE
RNFRBIHERE

FRBEERE

RBEE

& U B B
FEMF A R IR

B BOR - E A B UGRIE
HEE
RBeMEEHEY

RBEEAE

REBEE

e F 2B IR

J& A $2 B A B SRR
HEAE

Ho 8 5 SRR K B AT AR
REBEEAR

FRBEE
HERE

FRBEERE
RBEEFE
EEFE

R
BBITIRA
it (M)

A

41.

DB WA R K

R E BRAR QBB AOR KR E R0
-

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
6 6

602 -
464,645 475,734
465,253 475,740
17,157 17,157
225,520 137,852
75 85

311 424
243,063 155,518
52,714 51,022
2,447 152
314 -
7,923 5,347
63,398 56,521
178 -

178 -
179,665 98,997
644,740 574,737
197,889 197,889
446,851 376,848
644,740 574,737
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41.

42.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (cContinued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R 3R B 5

Year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

41. NPT BERRE (&)

Note: B 5
The movements of the Company’s reserves are as follows: RATREOEESNT
Share Share
premium option Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
R4 5 R
R 47 % (B AR &% REtEE At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
At 1 January 2018 R2018F151H 1,877,488 40,144 (1,094,614) 823,018
Total comprehensive loss FRNEEBELE
for the year - - (446,170) (446,170)
At 31 December 2018 and ~ 7A2018F12A31H &
1 January 2019 2019F1A1H 1,877,488 40,144 (1,540,784) 376,848
Transfer of share option & 17 HA % iz i 15 95
reserve upon the & (7 BR e & 1
expiry of share options - (15,575) 15,575 -
Total comprehensive income 4 [ 2 T Uk %5 48 58
for the year - - 70,003 70,003
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31H 1,877,488 24,569 (1,455,206) 446,851

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when the related
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits
should the related options expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board on 26 March 2020.

B EFEREHEERERBEERITED
Bty EARE ) A B - 3 — R R B 75
KM E2AEBUARD AERON RN E
R - Z R IBR R AR TR
B R0 s (B B - 38 el 4R B A RE i iy
RUC RIEBEEREEANE -

42. #ETH®K

BEEN20205F3 A26 8 #EfE R IR TR
B SRR

2019 %4 | TEMKBMAREERAT 249



Five-Year Financial Summary

EFEMBRE

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, is set out below.

MBERREE
TXHIIAEEBET Y REEOEE A
E ABREZRESHE HEEAC AN
BERHBHRE -

Results E
For the year ended 31 December
HZNAMALEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20195 20184 2017 20165 20154
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBFT ARBEFT ARBFT ARBEFT
(Re-presented)
(gE31)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEAREEY
REVENUE A 614,670 684,750 877,183 1,833,305 516,365
Cost of sales HERK (561,195) (634,210) (861,611) (1,790,858) (539,535)
Gross profit/(loss) 5,/ (£8) 53,475 50,540 15,572 42,447 (23,170)
Other income and gains Hi A R 5,922 602 1,353 1,442 23,971
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAL (9,194) (11,284) (15,123) (76,295) (53,789)
Administrative expenses THAX (47,437) (34,746) (15,931) (72,028) (197,698)
Other expenses HuR % (843) (2,256) (8,123) (619) (74,563)
Impairment losses on goodwill EERERE - - - - (15,318)
Impairment losses on property, 0% BERXEBREESR

plant and equipment - (1,071) - (185,195) (258,270)
Impairment losses on EVEEREBE

intangible assets - - (64,884) (200,040) (35,715)
Impairment losses on other Hit B EERERE

intangible asset (6,545) - - - -
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment KRR E BB

losses on trade receivables, net BB/ (BE)FE 8,844 9,898 (10,521) (64,865) (181,916)
Impairment losses on financial assets FTABAFE - At EK

included in prepayments, HEREMEEN

other receivables and other assets SREEREEE (2,083) (23) - - -
Impairment losses on assets held for sale  #{E & & E R EFE (5,941) (1,469) (4,525) (78,334) (60,555)
Fair value gains/(losses) on BRATEAEMEZE

financial assets at fair value through AABENEREER

profit or loss ATENE/ (58) - - (109,617) (111,555) (68,999)
Finance costs BERA (4,039) (8,343) (5,282) (57,322 (64,465)
Share of losses of an associate SE—RBEARNEE - - (9,458) - -
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM BECEEHBANE/

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (E8) (7,841) 1,848 (226,539) (802,364) (1,010,487)
Income tax credit/(expense) EHES,/ (FX) (6,091) 2,808 4,076 2,853 (102,704)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM B EEEEKFRFE,/

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (F5#8) (13,932) 4,656 (222,463) (799,511) (1,113,191)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRLEEEEY
Loss for the year from ERIEREEBFEAEE

Discontinued Operations (78,678) (453,907) (167,158) - -
Gain on disposal of HEDRIHEE BN NE

Discontinued Operations 152,997 - - - -
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FRAE/ (E8) 60,387 (449,251) (389,621) (799,511) (1,113,191)
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/(LOSS):

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
that may be reclassified to profit or loss

in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT/(LOSS)

FOR THE YEAR

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss)
per Share attributable to
ordinary equity holders
of the Company: (RMB)

- Continuing Operations
- Discontinued Operations

Total

# Less than RMBO0.01

Htt2EWE /(R :

IRARIRNENSEE
BEMEMZERE/
(B#) :
BEBNEBELN

EXER

FR2EANE/ (BB AR

g/ (BR)BER:
AREEEA
FERES

2ENRE/ (BR)BE
BER:
ARAHEEA
FERER

BERARTEERBRRAA
HERBRAERRBERT,/
(B#R): (ARET)

“RBEREEY
—BRIEEERE

st

Five-Year Financial Summary

<z Hh
AFHBHE
For the year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
2019%F 20185 20175 20165 20155
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBETR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

(Re-presented)

(&E7))

743 989 (140) - -
61,130 (448,262) (389,761) (799,511) (1,113,191)
69,199 (443,969) (349,490) (773,742) (1,105,519)
(8,812) (5,282) (40,131) (25,769) (7,672)
60,387 (449,251) (389,621) (799,511) (1,113,191)
69,800 (443,161) (349,603) (773,742) (1,105,519)
(8,670) (5,101) (40,158) (25,769) (7,672)
61,130 (448,262) (389,761) (799,511) (1,113,191)

- - (0.08) (0.37) (0.53)
0.03 (0.20) 0.08) - -
0.03 (0.20) (0.16) (0.37) (0.53)

R ARK0.01T
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Five-Year Financial Summary
LFEMBRE

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests

EE-BERFERER

As at 31 December

R12A318

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

20195 2018F 20175 20165 20155

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARBEFT AREFT ARBEFT AREFT

Non-current assets FrnBEE 944,738 923,027 2,100,096 2,162,708 2,588,298

Current assets RBEE 325,194 1,522,820 935,779 1,118,448 1,449,690

Non-current liabilities BB E (15,071) (19,133) (347,513) (11,924) (11,065)

Current liabilities nBEE (313,247) (1,533,018) (1,343,257) (1,597,277) (1,555,457)

Total equity EnRE 941,614 893,696 1,345,105 1,671,955 2,471,466

Non-controlling interests FERER (296,874) (318,959) (324,198) (353,782) (379,551)
Equity attributable to owners of BENARAEGANER

the Company 644,740 574,737 1,020,907 1,318,173 2,091,915
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“2010 AGM”
[2010F IR RAF K |

2019 EGM”
[2019F IR RIAE

“2020 AGM"
[2020F IR RAF K |

"Aba Mining”

[ 355 72 2 |

"Aba Prefecture”

[ 385 1 J

“Akuang Trading”

[P 5 |

“Anhydrite”

[EKAE]

"Articles”

[4m 8]

"Australian dollars” or "AUD"
(Bl

“Baicao Mine”

[BE# 5

“Baicao Processing Plant”

[BEER

"Board”

B2

Glossary
A g
A 52

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting held on 15 April 2010
R2010F4 A5 HBITHRRBEFRE

the Shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting held on 28 June 2019

MR2019F6 A28 H BT R RIFRI KN

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting to be held on 16 June 2020

BR2020F6 A 16H BT RBEFKE

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 27
February 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FHSIEEAR AR —RR2004F2 A27BEFEK N ERET AR BERRQF
WHEEZ2EFAA

Aba Tibetan and Qiang Autonomous Prefecture
B 4853 71 1 5 e B R M

Huili County Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 13 June 2012 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company
TEENEESAR DR —HR2012F6 A13REFRBEKYHBEREERF A
ARAAWEEEZEFLF

an anhydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOa
—EEKIR B EETRY) (LB R CaS0s

the articles of association of the Company, adopted on 4 September 2009 and in
effect as at the date of this annual report
RARPR2009F9 B4R MM N AF I B HAERNEBZIZAA

the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of Australia

BAMBE A EETER

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Huili County, Sichuan and
operated by Huili Caitong, with a mining area of 1.88 sg.km.
A G FNNREE ASRMBELE REMERI8BFTHALE

the ore processing plant located near the Baicao Mine and operated by Huili
Caitong
XA EHBENINBEASER ARy BgE

the board of Directors

Ex¢2
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Glossary

Gl

"BVI”
[REBELEHS]

“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”

[ AR L8R

“China” or "PRC"

[ B

“China VTM Mining”,

"o 7

“Company”, “we"”, “us” or

" "

our
[hEEK] [ARF]] -
AR AE:AREoN

"Chuanwei”

M=

"Cizhuging Mine”

[R 7T & #iE

“close associates”

[ETmBE A

“Companies Law”

[RARE]

“Completion”

[5ERK

"“connected person(s)”
(@ AL

“Continuing Operations”

[ = %7

The British Virgin Islands
EEBEXRFS

Chengyu Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd.*, formerly known as Weiyuan Steel
Co., Ltd.*, a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC on 3 April
2001 and a connected person to the Group

BORSLARI AR AR (AIBEGEME AR AR - —MR2001F4H38 EF BB
UWHINEERERE  RAEENBEEAL

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
REARKME tAF®RA S FREFE FREMAKITREREE

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited, an exempted
company incorporated with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 April
2008

HES KR E AR AR —MR2008F4 28R LM S B SR LA ER
sl YNC]

Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 March 1998 and a connected person to the Group
mINENEEEER AR —MKR1998F3A298EHREK I EREE AR A
REERRZEAL

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Huili County, Sichuan and
operated by Huili Caitong, with a mining area of 1.279 sq.km.
AR FONAEE ASBMBLE REEERI.27T9F AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B 7R B P T e R

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands
FSBEAPE2FERNFE (19615563 - 4R A RIEFT)

paIll}

completion of the Disposal of the Disposal Group on 30 July 2019
20197 H30R T E L E £ E

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B 7R B P T e R

operations of the Remaining Group

RERBEHER
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"

"Controlling Shareholder(s)

4% B A 2R

"CVT Guarantees"

[ B SR HE 1R ]

"

“Director(s)

[E=%]

“Discontinued Operations”

BRI

"Disposal”

MEERE]

“Disposal Group”
[HEEH]

"Disposal Group Company(ies)"

[HEEERF]

"Exploration Result(s)”

[EhE#ER]

“Fe"

[Fe |

“FY2018"
[20188 L &F /¥ |

“FY2019"
[20198F Bk F [Z |

Glossary

ke

Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang Jin, Shi Yinjun, Yang Xianlu,
Wu Wendong, Zhang Yuangui and Li Hesheng

& BB ~ Kingston Grand T % & - AIRBAE - BAEBLEE RXREE K
REREREMB LS

guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Disposal Group guaranteeing,
inter alia, the indebtedness owing by the Disposal Group Companies to certain
banks and an asset management and financial services institution in the PRC with
maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million

RARFANHERBERIZAEENER BR (EHhEB) a THEEBARER
PEETRITANEEEELCRIRGEEBNEY RS BRERARK730.08

i —

=TT

director(s) of the Company

RRARMEM—RA T RER

operations of the Disposal Group

HESBENER

the sale transaction of the Disposal Group from Sichuan Lingyu to Chengyu
Vanadium Titano which was entered into on 29 January 2019 and completed on
30 July 2019

F2019%1 A298 AT 3230 7201997 A30 8 Fe 5K FH 112 45 [7) 5 780 87 84 &5 & &
Em5

Huili Caitong and its subsidiaries, namely Xiushuihe Mining and Panzhihua
Yixingda
BEVAREFARSFSIONEE BRI RE

any company(ies) in the Disposal Group

HESEETHEMNRQF

exploration results(s) include(s) data and information generated by mineral
exploration programmes that might be of use to investors but which do not form
part of a declaration of mineral resources or ore reserves

)% 45 R HE BV R T RS A A A G0 PR 1B T A RS 4R B SR B
EERBREBHOBBIES

chemical symbol of iron element

HIT RN BT IR

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2018

HZE2018F 12 A31H LHBMFE R, 20184128311

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2019
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Glossary

Gl

"Group”
[AEHE]

"Gypsum”
[BE]

"Haibaodang Mine”

[ ORI 7 |

“Hailong Processing Plant”
[/ HE SR R

"Heigutian Processing Plant”
[BAEEERR]

“High Fe Mines”
[ & 8 m A% |

“Hong Kong”
[ &)

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HKD"
[%7t]

“"Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
[ & BB A2 P

“Huili Caitong”

(&2 8]

“IFRSs”

B B 75 3 o5 22 A

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRFREF AT

a soft hydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOs¢2H20
—REHE KRR EREY - LB X B CaS04se2H:0

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Renhe District, Panzhihua
City, Sichuan, with an exploration area of 26.2 sg.km.

LA PR IET MR A PR HEEER262TF T RE

the ore processing plant located near the Cizhuging Mine and operated by Huili
Caitong
R R ERBMONBALER HERMELE

the ore processing plant located near the Yangqueqing Mine and owned by Huili
Caitong
URGEEHRERMOINBLOLER HEBRMEB%EES

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and Maoling Processing Plant
EE-FHRELEABREERER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B R E B RITT IR &

the lawful currency of Hong Kong
EREEEY

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERSHMABR AT

Huili County Caitong Iron and Titanium Co., Ltd.*, established in the PRC on
7 July 1998 and has been a foreign equity joint venture in the PRC since 29
December 2010, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company till 30 July
2019

SRS BHAEREERAR W1998F7A7THAEPRBIMKI - WH2010612 729
HEKSFENIEEELERE EF2019F7A308 AIEARAANEES
AFARA

International Financial Reporting Standards, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee
that remain in effect

BEEMEREER R DAERAER e ERE e EN ERLRZE X
FAEER et Rl ZE el e ER et LA R EBRELZE @R E
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“Inactive Mines”

[ 7 B 5

“Indicated”

M2 %1 ]

“Inferred”

Eid-

“iron”

[ ]

"

“iron concentrate(s)

[ K5 5%

“iron ore”

[#50 ]

“iron pellet(s)”

[ BRI

“lron Pelletising Plant”

[ 3 581 2 o

Glossary

Gl

Cizhuging Mine, Yangqueging Mine and Haibaodang Mine
R E R - 5 EE NS R TR

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape
and physical characteristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to allow the
application of modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning and
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERTEHEMNE L (HES8) HE ERRERSHEIRERLSNE
S AEERARRFBNETER XHBESNEERE FETRREERT
MERF(E

part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade (or quality) are estimated
on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence
is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and grade (or quality) continuity.
It is based on exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through
appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes

BEERTEMMNERAAU (RES)AIREARENEFERMEEG S5
Do EEERARR (BFZE)ME kel (KES)HEEN - ZHEERE
FEFREE R B BASERELS I UEE R EN R SRR
=2 EH

a silvery-white, lustrous, malleable, ductile, magnetic or magnetisable, metallic
element occurring abundantly in combined forms, notably in hematite, limonite,
magnetite, and taconite, and alloyed for use in a wide range of important
structural materials

—RBRAEN FXE2 B LR FHMUENAREITCHNEETE MMEa
MEAREFE FTEAFEE BEBE WEBELBE EMEZRBEEEEMH
PREEEH—2

concentrate(s) whose main mineral content (by value) is iron

FEREMKD (REE) RENRBE

compounds of iron and oxygen (iron oxides) mixed with impurities (gangue); it is a
mineral which when heated in the presence of a reductant will yield metallic iron
REME (RA)NEEIGEREY (St  R—EHERA—BNARERA
TEENEY

a round hardened clump of iron-rich material suitable for application in blast
furnaces

BRARSENERREDE 2HES

the plant that produces iron pellets and is located in Huili County, Sichuan, which
is approximately 5.5 km. from the Xiushuihe Mine and operated by Huili Caitong
R GRFEEREREN TR AR BLE BRESIOTEBLOS AR
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Glossary

ke

“JORC Code (2004 Edition)”

(BMArRFEZE SR

(2004 i) |

“JORC Code (2012 Edition)”

(A RFEZE SR

(2012 fn ) |

"Kingston Grand”

[Kingston Grand ]

g
[T |

"Ktpa”
[Fug, 4]

“Listing Rules”

[ R A

"Low Fe Mines”

[ 88 am R 7% 55 |

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999 and 2004 that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting

HARFMADELRZE BNMEZERHEIRMNEYEZESMAKNE S TR
HEZEFMNI1989F A - W N 19924 - 19964 + 19994 R 20045 (& 5] R B ##)
BAMNALREMRER BEERERAIRFENRERL HIERAQRE
Wi = B RERE EE RIS

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999, 2004 and 2012, that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting

HARFMADELRZE BNMEZERHEIRMNEYEZESMAKRNE S TR
HEZEEN1989FHE - WN19924 + 19964 + 19994 20044 2012518 7]
REFERANACTBEEYDRER BEERELFTRHFENREHRA St
MARBRME NSIEFLE B2 RIES

Kingston Grand Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
on 20 February 2007, holder of 40% of the issued share capital of Trisonic
International

Kingston Grand Limited —f/A200742 A20B £ R BE LB S MR A A A -
BB EAIERA0%H B BITIRA

kilometre(s), a metric unit measure of distance

NE ERERNTESEL

thousand tonnes

Mg

thousand tonnes per annum
BT

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

BB ATES EH A

Baicao Mine, Baicao Processing Plant, Xiushuihe Mine (including expansion),
Xiushuihe Processing Plant, Hailong Processing Plant, Heigutian Processing Plant
and Iron Pelletising Plant

BEEE AEXER SAOTEE (BEERDER)  FAOEER BiEEE
B B R R R

e
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“Mancala Asia”

[&ES R

“Mancala Holdings”

[FE2 R

“Mancala Mining”

[ RATEE

“Mancala Pty”

(2R

“Mancala Services”

[ & -RAHE RS

“Maoling Extended
Exploration Area”

[EaEEFHEES]

“Maoling Mine”

[E 48 0]

“Maoling Processing Plant”

[EEER]

Glossary

Gl

Mancala Asia Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on 26
March 2013 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Asia Ltd* —[HR201343A26 B EEE T LHNERAF - AARRFH
FRA AARREEEESI %R AR

Mancala Holdings Limited, the legal and beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of MHPL
Mancala Holdings Limited* & R ER 2 HEBITRANEZ LR ESHE AR A

Mancala Mining Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on
9 June 1992 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Mining Pty Ltd* —R 7199246 A9B fERMNEMK LM BER A - AR
NAWFRA BARRAIMEEESI %R AER

Mancala Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on 15 March
1989 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly owns
81% equity interest

Mancala Pty Ltd* —f51989F3 A 15 BB MM I AR AR AR FH
TRAE BARRAIFEEEESI %R A m

Mancala Mine Services Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in
Australia on 21 August 2003 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Mine Services Pty Ltd ' —f/A2003F8A21HER MM LN ER A
B RARBNTFRA AXRRAIHEEESI %R A ER

formerly an independent exploration region with an area of 2.83 sq.km. covered
under the extended exploration permit of the Maoling Mine (covering 1.9
sq.km. of the mining area of the Maoling Mine), has been consolidated with the
Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 to form the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine

RAEEEBECHYSHAIEMBEANRA2EIFIAE (BE19THRENE
EEBERERE) OBUME RS B2012F9 A REFRILEREHKATE -

BE L SR

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, with a mining
area of 1.9 sq.km.
— AR IS S BB REmERIOT A RE

the ore processing plant located near the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and
operated by Aba Mining
UREE-FRILEBHIONEOER hGEELE
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Glossary
Eallca:

“Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine”

[EE—FrelEE]

“MCL Vietnam”

[HF = RA)

“"Measured”

K730

“MHPL”

[=RAER]

“mining right(s)”

[ 3% B 4 |

“Model Code”

"Mt
[ &

“N/A"
[ A

an exploration region with a total area of 11.6 sg.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine (the mining area covered
is owned by the Maoling Mine), formed from the combination of the Maoling
Extended Exploration Area and the Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 and
operated by Aba Mining

HEE - FTELHBYWESHAIEMBEAEEANTIAENBDEREE BE
B ERGEFEILEEB2012FIAREHMK MESHREHEHE
EETEES  WAGEELE

MCL Vietnam Industries Company Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated in Vietnam on 14 May 2013 and a subsidiary of the Company, in
which the Company indirectly owns 39.69% equity interest

MCL Vietnam Industries Company Limited " — #2013 5 A 14 A& 85 s A L
WERRR REARAINFRAA BARRAIMEEZEEF39.69% KA

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape,

and physical characteristics are estimated with confidence sufficient to allow

the application of modifying factors to support detailed mine planning and final

evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

EEF%IEPEF% nE miu(HEE) BE FERRERBFIESEERGS N
AMEEREITER XFESNFEERRE METRAREECERTIEN

ﬁ

Mancala Holdings Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on
8 March 1990 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Holdings Pty Ltd* —f/1990F3 A8 B ERMEMK L WER AR - A
NEIMTF AR AARGHEEESI %R AR

the right(s) to mine mineral resources and obtain mineral products in areas where
mining activities are licensed

REZHRETREEDHEANRRBEE R LRGEEROER

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
EHARAIM ST PHEEN ETHRETAEZETEFRSHNFELETA

million tonnes
ER

not applicable
38 A
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“Net Profit” or “Net Loss”

[AEA ] = [EEFEER

“ore processing”

REZap

“Panxi Region”

[ 7= ]

“Panzhihua Yixingda”

[T 5 BE |

“Registration Completion Date”

[ERE5ER A 5]

"Relevant Substantial
Shareholders”

Rl eSS &

“Remaining Group”

[RE R

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
[ARY ]

“Reporting Period”
[#REH )

“Spectrum Resources”

[ERUER]

Glossary

Gl

Profit or loss attributable to owners

BENES AN EREE

the process which in general refers to the extraction of usable portions of ores by
using physical and chemical extraction methods

MAMERCETREREATEARINERETLF

a region in Sichuan located at southwest of Chengdu reaching from Panzhihua to
Xichang
P E)—EE - AT AR  BERIEERS 2 Eri R 4EK

Panzhihua Yixingda Industrial Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 July 2009 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company till 30 July 2019

BERIESHETEBREMTAR —ER2009F7A9BEFREAK I EREER
A BHE2019F7A30ARIERAAANHEEEZEF AR

date of completion of requisite change of registration at the local Administration
for Industry & Commerce in relation to the transfer of the entire interest in Huili
Caitong upon completion of the Disposal and the date of issue of the updated
business licence of Huili Caitong
REEFETKERBEES BN BEMERAM T IHTHERRRE L EES
PEFENCKEBREL BB EENRNHEH

Mr. Wang Jin, Mr. Shi Yinjun, Mr. Zhang Yuangui and Mr. Li Hesheng, parties
acting in concert and some of the substantial Shareholders

THEE ARBLRE REERERFTHNBEE B BTPHALELI>ETER
=

the Company and its subsidiaries excluding the Disposal Group

ARBEEFRAR (FTBELEEE)

the lawful currency of the PRC
hBDETE B

the year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A318LFE

Spectrum Resources Australia Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in
Australia on 19 February 1987 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 81% equity interest

Spectrum Resources Australia Pty Ltd - —RE# 198762 198 B2 MMz M5
RAG RARBNFAR AARAIMEEESI %R ER
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Glossary

Gl

“SFO”
[& % NS G

"SGX-ST”
[ %722 Pfr |

“Share(s)”
[ A&7 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
&N

“Shigou Gypsum Mine”
[BEREE]

“Sichuan”

Pl

“Sichuan Haoyuan”

7)1 E s ]

“Sichuan Lingyu”

(791172 1 ]

“Sichuan Xinglian”

[P 1] e Fig

“Singapore dollars” or “SGD"

[ o3t )

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EREPESTNERBF LG RN (K TREET - B sUAH A 77 X&)

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

IR ESZZAER AR

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
HKDO.1 each
RAGIRAR ) EER FREEVET

holder(s) of the Share(s)
EHEE A

Shigou gypsum mine located at Hanyuan County, Ya'an City, Sichuan, with a
mining area of 0.1228 sq.km.
ZRmIELTERGFNABEAER  RERER01228FTAE

the Sichuan province of the PRC
PEIE)IE

Sichuan Haoyuan New Materials Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 18 July 2011 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

W EEERAIMBERAR —HAR201ME718AEFBIKIMERET ARG
RARANFAE BARAEEHEES1 %R AE R

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in
the PRC on 9 June 2010 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
MG EHREFRAT —ER2010F6 A0BEHRBERINEREE LT A
RARNEERZEFTRF

Sichuan Xinglian Mining and Technology Construction Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 23 June 2011 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

)& s EERN TRERAT —MR201MF6AZEBEREXR LN ARE
ERF BREARBNEZEL2EFAA

the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore

10 R0 B 5
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“SPA"

[EE ]

“sq.km."”

[FITRE]

“TFe"
[TFe ]

“titanium concentrate(s)”

[ 5% |

“Trisonic International”

[& 8B

“Type 331"

[fE%8331]

“Type 333"

[fE%8333]

"United States” or “US”

=0

"US dollars” or “USD"”
[Z7t]

“Vietnamese dong” or “VND”

[HEE)

“Weixi Guangfa”

[HEvaE 3]

“Wenchuan County”

301 8% |

Glossary

ke

the sale and purchase agreement in relation to the Disposal dated 29 January
2019 entered into among Sichuan Lingyu, Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Huili
Caitong

POl BOR SLEA R E IE BT M AR2019F 1 A29B FREI Y B AL EFIEME E 1

=3
[z

square kilometres

FHRE

the symbol for denoting total iron

RR2EBFER

concentrate(s) whose main content (by value) is titanium dioxide

FTERD (REE) R-R(CHKIBRE

Trisonic International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 19 July
2006 and a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules)
GAIEBAR AR —ER2006F7A 198 EEBEMALHN AR BERER
(EER EMAAD

measured intrinsic economic resources (Type 331) as defined in the Classification
for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(BRBEAR/REANR) MRAEHNERANANBLELRE (FBH331)

inferred intrinsic economic resources (Type 333) as defined in the Classification for
Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(BRBEAR/REANR) MRAEHREOANBLELERE (FBH333)

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to
its jurisdiction
ENBRERE HEL B ERAEREER

the lawful currency of the United States

XBEEEH

the lawful currency of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam
MEtEEEHNMBEDETEHY

Weixi Guangfa Iron Ore Development Company Limited*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 10 June 2005
HTEEEEREARAR —HR2005F6 A10B EHRBERIMNBRET AR

Wenchuan County, Aba Prefecture, Sichuan Province

7911 & Ba 35 0 30 1 5%

2019 3} | TENKHEHAREXERAF 263



Glossary

Gl

“Xinjin Mining”

E- 2

"Xiushuihe Mine”
[ 757K §3 7% |

“Xiushuihe Mining”

[ 55 7K B 3

“Xiushuihe Processing Plant”

[ 55 7K A 388 o |

“Yanglongshan Mine”

[ZEHE L%

“Yangqueging Mine”

(K5 & & #iE )

“Yanyuan Xiwei"

[ B2 R 78 L

*  For identification purpose only

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 29 September 2010 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

ERGESWEARAF  —HR2010F9 8298 EFBEK LM BEREEAF &
ARRMFAR BARABEESS1 %R A EZE

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Huili County, Sichuan and
operated by Xiushuihe Mining, with a mining area of 0.52 sg.km.
A& 2 SRV AT B AR - R B/ IREE LS  IRIBEEER0.52F TR E

Huili County Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 26 June 2007, an indirect subsidiary of the Company that owned
95.0% equity interest through Huili Caitong till 30 July 2019
FREFKTEEARDA - —BR2007F6 26 B EFRBEKINAEREEAR]
HZE2019F7A30B BIERARAEREENBAEFS.0RRAESNEETA
A

the ore processing plant located at the Xiushuihe Mine and operated by Xiushuihe
Mining
LR BT EEANTEASER AR KTEELE

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, formerly an
independent exploration region with an area of 8.79 sq.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Yanglongshan Mine, and has been consolidated as the
Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine with the original Maoling Extended Exploration Area
since September 2012

— AR SR ey B R R RAbFRLEEHEFIEMBEERER
879 FALREMBI MERSE - B2012F 9 B RN EELEMYBERHASHA
EE—FRELERE

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Huili County, Sichuan,
and operated by Huili Caitong, with a mining area of 0.25 sq.km.
ARG N ERE HSREVBELE REMER2DTARE

Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining Company Limited*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 7 December 2007

BREAEBEARESTAR  —ER2007F12A7TBEFEAKLHERETA
-

* EH#5)
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